UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Filed by the Registrant \boxtimes

Filed by a Party other than the Registrant \Box

Check the appropriate box:

- □ Preliminary Proxy Statement
- □ Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))
- ☑ Definitive Proxy Statement
- Definitive Additional Materials
- □ Soliciting Material under §240.14a-12

Catalyst Biosciences, Inc.

(Name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

⊠ No fee required.

- □ Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.
 - (1) Title of each class of securities to which the transaction applies:
 - (2) Aggregate number of securities to which the transaction applies:
 - (3) Per unit price or other underlying value of the transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):
 - (4) Proposed maximum aggregate value of the transaction:

(5) Total fee paid:

 \Box Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.

Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.

(1) Amount Previously Paid:

(2) Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:

(3) Filing Party:

(4) Date Filed:

Catalyst Biosciences, Inc.

260 Littlefield Ave. South San Francisco, California 94080

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON JUNE 15, 2017

To the Stockholders of Catalyst Biosciences, Inc.:

You are cordially invited to attend an annual meeting of stockholders (the "Annual Meeting") of Catalyst Biosciences, Inc. (the "Company") that will be held at the Company's offices located at 260 Littlefield Ave, South San Francisco, California 94080, on June 15, 2017, at 1:00 p.m. Pacific Time for the following purposes:

- 1. To elect two Class II directors of our Board of Directors to serve for the ensuing three years and until their successors are elected;
- 2. To approve an amendment and restatement of the Company's 2015 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2015 Plan") to increase the authorized shares available for issuance under the 2015 Plan by 950,000 shares, increase the 162(m) annual grant limits, and change the non-employee director annual grant limit to apply to both cash fees and equity awards;
- 3. To hold a non-binding, advisory vote to approve the compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers;
- 4. To hold a non-binding, advisory vote to recommend whether a non-binding stockholder vote to approve the compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers should occur every one, two or three years;
- 5. To ratify the appointment of EisnerAmper LLP as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017; and
- 6. To transact other business that may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournments or postponements thereof.

You can find more information about each of these items, including the nominees for directors, in the proxy statement accompanying this notice. The record date for the Annual Meeting is April 24, 2017. Only stockholders of record at the close of business on that date may vote at the meeting or any postponement or adjournment thereof.

The Board of Directors recommends that you vote in favor of each of the nominees for director, in favor of proposals 2, 3 and 5 and for the option of once every year for proposal 4, outlined in the proxy statement accompanying this notice.

You are cordially invited to attend the Annual Meeting in person. Whether or not you expect to attend the Annual Meeting, please vote on the matters to be considered as promptly as possible in order to ensure your representation at the meeting. You may vote via the Internet or by returning the enclosed proxy card. Even if you have voted by proxy, you may still vote in person if you attend the Annual Meeting. Please note, however, that if your shares are held of record by a broker, bank or other nominee and you wish to vote at the meeting, you must obtain a proxy issued in your name from that record holder. Your proxy is revocable in accordance with the procedures set forth in the proxy statement.

By order of the board of directors,

Nassim Usman, Ph.D. President and Chief Executive Officer

South San Francisco, California May 18, 2017

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT!

Whether or not you expect to attend in person, we urge you to vote your shares at your earliest convenience. This will ensure the presence of a quorum at the Annual Meeting. Promptly voting your shares will save the Company the expenses and extra work of additional solicitation. Submitting your proxy now or promptly voting your shares on the Internet by following the instructions on your proxy card will not prevent you from voting your shares at the meeting if you desire to do so, as your proxy is revocable at your option. YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT SO PLEASE ACT TODAY!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABOUT THE COMPANY	1
QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THESE PROXY MATERIALS AND VOTING	1
PROPOSAL ONE — ELECTION OF DIRECTORS	7
Nominees for Class II Directors	7
Continuing Directors	8
Required Vote	10
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE	11
Board and Leadership Structure	11
Director Independence	11
Role of the Board in Risk Oversight	11
Contacting the Board of Directors	12
Corporate Governance Guidelines	12
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics	12
The Board and its Committees	12
Report of the Audit Committee	16
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance	17
Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions	17
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	18
Executive Officers	18
Executive Compensation Table	19
Employment Agreements	21
Inducement Option Grant	22
Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2016	23
Director Compensation	24
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT	26
PROPOSAL TWO — APPROVAL OF AN AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE COMPANY'S 2015 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN	28
PROPOSAL THREE — ADVISORY VOTE TO APPROVE EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	41
PROPOSAL FOUR — ADVISORY VOTE ON THE FREQUENCY OF AN ADVISORY VOTE ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	42
PROPOSAL FIVE — RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM	43
AVAILABLE INFORMATION	46
<u>Form 10-K</u>	46
<u>Internet Availability of Proxy Materials</u>	46
OTHER MATTERS	46
APPENDIX A AMENDED AND RESTATED CATALYST BIOSCIENCES, INC. 2015 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN	A-
	1

(i)

Catalyst Biosciences, Inc.

260 Littlefield Ave. South San Francisco, California 94080

PROXY STATEMENT FOR THE 2017 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON JUNE 15, 2017

The board of directors of Catalyst Biosciences, Inc. (the "Board") is soliciting your proxy to vote at the 2017 annual meeting of stockholders (the "Annual Meeting") to be held at our offices, located at 260 Littlefield Ave., South San Francisco, California 94080, on June 15, 2017, at 1:00 p.m. Pacific Time, including at any adjournments or postponements of the Annual Meeting. You are invited to attend the Annual Meeting to vote on the proposals described in this proxy statement. We made copies of the voting materials, which include this proxy statement, a proxy card and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, available to stockholders beginning on or about May 18, 2017. You do not need to attend the Annual Meeting to vote your shares. Instead, you may simply vote your shares by proxy via the Internet or by completing, signing and returning the enclosed proxy card.

ABOUT THE COMPANY

Unless otherwise indicated in this proxy statement, the words "Company," "Catalyst," "we," "us" and "our" refer to Catalyst Biosciences, Inc., a Delaware corporation. The Company was named Targacept, Inc. until August 20, 2015, when the Company completed its business combination with Catalyst Bio, Inc., which previously had been named Catalyst Biosciences, Inc. and is now a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. We refer in this proxy statement to the business combination as the "merger," to the Company prior to the merger as "Targacept" and to our subsidiary as "Catalyst Bio."

Unless otherwise indicated, all historical share numbers, share prices and exercise prices in this proxy statement give effect to the applicable reverse stock splits and stock dividends, and all references to "common stock," "stock" or "shares" mean shares of the Company's common stock, as so adjusted. The Company's shares of common stock trade on the NASDAQ Capital Market ("NASDAQ"), under the ticker symbol "CBIO."

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

Why have I received these materials? The Board is soliciting proxies to vote at the Annual Meeting to be held on June 15, 2017 at 1:00 p.m. Pacific Time. You are receiving this proxy statement and proxy card from us because you owned shares of our common stock on April 24, 2017, which we refer to as the record date. As a stockholder of record as of the record date, you are invited to attend the Annual Meeting and we request that you vote on the proposals described in this proxy statement. However, you do not need to attend the Annual Meeting to vote your shares. Instead, you may simply vote your shares by proxy via the Internet or by completing, signing and returning the enclosed proxy card.

How do I attend the Annual Meeting? The Annual Meeting will be held on June 15, 2017 at 1:00 p.m. Pacific Time at our offices, located at 260 Littlefield Ave., South San Francisco, California 94080.

Who may vote? You are entitled to vote if our records show that you held one or more shares of the Company's common stock at the close of business on April 24, 2017, the record date. At that time, there were 4,260,411

shares of common stock outstanding and entitled to vote, and approximately 99 holders of record. Each share entitles you to one vote at the Annual Meeting.

What is the difference between holding shares as a stockholder of record and as a beneficial owner? If your shares are registered directly in your name with our transfer agent, American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, you are considered, with respect to those shares, a "stockholder of record." If you are a stockholder of record, these proxy materials will be mailed to you directly starting on or about May 18, 2017.

If your shares are held in a stock brokerage account or by a bank or other stockholder of record, you are a considered a "beneficial owner" of shares held in "street name." If you are a beneficial owner, we have requested that a Notice of Annual Meeting (the "Notice") be forwarded to you by the bank, broker or other stockholder of record starting on or about May 18, 2017. The Notice provides instructions for how to request a paper or email copy of this document. As a beneficial owner, the bank, broker or other holder of record is entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting and, as a beneficial owner of the shares, you have the right to direct the bank, broker or other stockholder of record on how to vote the shares. However, because a beneficial owner is not the stockholder of record, you may not vote the shares in person at the meeting unless you obtain a broker's proxy card from the bank, broker, or other stockholder of record. The broker's proxy card will give you the right to vote the shares at the Annual Meeting.

What am I voting on? There are five matters scheduled for a vote and for which we are soliciting your proxy:

- 1. The election of two Class II directors to serve on our Board for the ensuing three years and until their successors are elected;
- 2. The approval of an amendment and restatement of the Company's 2015 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2015 Plan") to increase the authorized shares available for issuance under the 2015 Plan by 950,000 shares, increase the 162(m) annual grant limit, and change the non-employee director annual grant limit to apply to both cash fees and equity awards;
- 3. A non-binding, advisory vote to approve the compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers;
- 4. A non-binding, advisory vote to recommend whether a non-binding stockholder vote to approve the compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers should occur every, one, two or three years; and
- 5. The ratification of our appointment of EisnerAmper LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for our fiscal year ending December 31, 2017.

You may either vote "FOR" all the nominees to the Board or you may "WITHHOLD" your vote for any nominee(s) you specify. You may vote "FOR" or "AGAINST" each of proposals two, three and five or abstain from voting. You may vote in favor of every "ONE YEAR," "TWO YEARS" or "THREE YEARS" or you may abstain from voting for proposal four. The Board recommends a vote FOR each nominee for director and FOR each of proposals two, three and five and for "ONE YEAR" for proposal four.

How do I vote if I am a stockholder of record? If you were a holder of record of our common stock on April 24, 2017, the record date for the Annual Meeting, you may use the following methods to vote your shares at the Annual Meeting:

- **By Mail.** You may vote by completing, signing, dating and returning your paper proxy in the accompanying postage prepaid envelope. Please allow sufficient time for us to receive your proxy card if you decide to vote by mail.
- Via the Internet. You can vote your shares via the Internet by following the instructions in the enclosed proxy card. The Internet voting procedures are designed to authenticate your identity and to allow you to vote your shares and confirm your voting instructions have been properly recorded. If you vote via the Internet, you do not need to mail a proxy card.

In person at the Annual Meeting. If you attend the meeting, be sure to bring a form of government issued picture identification with you. You may deliver your completed proxy card in person or you may vote by completing a paper proxy card or a ballot, which will be available at the meeting.

How do I vote if I hold my shares in street name? If on the record date of April 24, 2017, your shares were held in a stock brokerage account or by a bank or other stockholder of record, you may use the following methods to vote your shares at the Annual Meeting:

- **By Mail or via the Internet.** You should receive instructions from your bank, broker or other nominee explaining how to vote your shares by mail or via the Internet. If you wish to vote your shares by mail or via the Internet, you should follow those instructions.
- **In person at the Annual Meeting.** If you attend the meeting, you will need to contact the bank, broker or other nominee that is the stockholder of record for your shares to obtain a broker's proxy card and then bring the proxy card, an account statement, or a letter from the stockholder of record indicating that you beneficially owned the shares as of the record date, and a form of government issued picture identification to the meeting. If you have each of (1) the broker's proxy card, (2) an account statement or letter indicating beneficial ownership as of the record date and (3) a government issued picture identification, you may vote by completing a paper proxy card or a ballot, which will be available at the meeting. If you do not have these items, you will not be able to vote at the meeting.

The Notice is **not** a proxy card or ballot and cannot be used to vote your shares. If you do not provide instructions with your proxy, your bank, broker, or other nominee (collectively referred to as a "broker") will determine if it has the discretionary authority to vote on the particular matter. Under applicable rules, brokers have the discretion to vote on routine matters but do not have discretion to vote on non-routine matters. For example, if you do not provide voting instructions to your broker, the broker could vote your shares for the ratification of the appointment of EisnerAmper LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017 (Proposal 5) because that is deemed to be a routine matter, but the broker could not vote your shares for any of the other four proposals on the agenda at the Annual Meeting.

If you do not provide voting instructions to your broker and the broker has delivered a proxy card indicating that it does not have discretionary authority to vote on a particular proposal, your shares will be considered as "broker non-votes" with regards to that proposal. Broker non-votes will be counted for the purpose of determining the existence of a quorum but generally will not be considered as entitled to vote with respect to that proposal. Broker non-votes are not counted for purposes of determining the number of votes cast with respect to a particular proposal. Thus, a broker non-vote will make a quorum more readily obtainable, but the broker non-vote will not otherwise affect the outcome of the vote on a proposal that requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present and entitled to vote.

Is my vote confidential? Yes, your vote is confidential. Only the following persons have access to your vote: the inspector of elections, individuals who help with processing and counting your votes, and persons who need access for legal reasons. Occasionally, stockholders provide written comments on their proxy cards, which may be forwarded to the Company's management and the Board.

How are votes counted? Votes will be counted by the inspector of election appointed by the Board for the meeting, who will separately count "FOR" and "WITHHOLD" votes and any broker non-votes for the election of directors. Broker non-votes will not count for or against any nominees.

With respect to proposals 2, 3 and 5 below, the inspector of election will separately count "FOR" "AGAINST" or "ABSTAIN" votes. Abstentions with respect to proposals 2 and 5 will be counted towards the vote total for the proposal, and will have the same effect as "AGAINST" votes. Abstentions with respect to proposal 3 will have no effect on the vote's outcome. Broker non-votes will have no effect and will not be counted towards the vote total for those three proposals.

With respect to proposal 4 below, the inspector of election will separately count the votes for a frequency vote to approve the Named Executive Officers' compensation to occur every "ONE", "TWO" or "THREE" years. Abstentions with respect to proposal 4 will have no effect on the vote's outcome. Broker non-votes will have no effect and will not be counted towards the vote total for this proposal.

How many votes are needed to approve each of the proposals? Provided that a quorum is present, approval of the proposals described in this proxy statement will require the following affirmative votes:

- **Proposal 1 Election of our two nominees for Class II directors.** The two nominees receiving the most "FOR" votes (among votes properly cast in person or by proxy) will be elected.
- **Proposal 2 Approval of an amendment and restatement of the 2015 Plan.** This proposal must receive a "FOR" vote from the holders of a majority of the voting power present and entitled to vote either in person or by proxy on the proposal. If you "ABSTAIN" from voting, it will have the same effect as an "AGAINST" vote.
- Proposal 3 Advisory vote on the approval of Named Executive Officer compensation. Proposal 3 is an advisory vote; however, the Compensation Committee of the Company and the Board will consider the voting results on this proposal.
- Proposal 4 Advisory vote to recommend whether a non-binding stockholder vote to approve the compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers should occur every, one, two or three years. Proposal 4 is an advisory vote; however, the Compensation Committee of the Company and the Board will consider the frequency vote that receives the greatest number of votes cast by the holders of the Company's common stock represented and voting at the Annual Meeting as the advisory vote of stockholders on the frequency of approval of the compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers.
- Proposal 5 Ratification of the selection of EisnerAmper LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm for the Company for our fiscal year ending December 31, 2017. This proposal must receive a "FOR" vote from the holders of a majority of the voting power present and entitled to vote either in person or by proxy on the proposal. If you "ABSTAIN" from voting, it will have the same effect as an "AGAINST" vote.

What is the effect of Abstentions? Abstentions are counted as shares that are present and entitled to vote for the purposes of determining the presence of a quorum and as votes "AGAINST" for purposes of determining the approval of proposals 2 and 5 submitted to the stockholders for a vote. Abstentions with respect to proposals 3 and 4 will have no effect on the vote's outcome.

How will the Company representatives vote for me? The Company representatives, Nassim Usman and Fletcher Payne, or anyone else that they choose as their substitutes, have been chosen to vote in your place as your proxies at the Annual Meeting. The Company representatives will vote your shares as you instruct them. If you sign, date and return the enclosed proxy card and do not indicate how you want your shares voted, the Company representatives will vote as our Board recommends. If there is an interruption or adjournment of the Annual Meeting before the agenda is completed, the Company representatives may still vote your shares when the meeting resumes. If a broker holds your common stock, they will ask you for instructions and instruct the Company representatives to vote the shares held by them in accordance with your instructions.

Can I change my vote after I have returned my proxy card? Yes. After you have submitted a proxy, you may change your vote at any time before the proxy is exercised by submitting a notice of revocation or a proxy bearing a later date. Accordingly, you may change your vote either by submitting a proxy card prior to or at the Annual Meeting or by voting in-person at the Annual Meeting. The later submitted vote will be recorded and the earlier vote revoked. You also may revoke your proxy by sending a notice of revocation to our Chief Financial Officer, Fletcher Payne, which must be received prior to the Annual Meeting. If your shares are held by your broker, you should follow the instructions provided by your broker.

What constitutes a quorum for purposes of the Annual Meeting? To carry on business at the Annual Meeting, we must have a quorum. A quorum is present when a majority of the shares entitled to vote, as of the record date, are represented in person or by proxy. As of the record date, 2,130,206 shares of our common stock must be represented in person or by proxy to have a quorum. Your shares will be counted towards the quorum only if you submit a valid proxy (or one is submitted on your behalf by your broker) or if you vote in person at the Annual Meeting. Abstentions and broker non-votes will be counted towards the quorum requirement. If there is not a quorum at the Annual Meeting, our stockholders may adjourn the meeting.

Who pays for this solicitation? The expense of preparing, printing and mailing this proxy statement and the accompanying material will be borne by the Company. Solicitation of individual stockholders may be made by mail, personal interviews, telephone, facsimile, electronic delivery or other telecommunications by directors, officers and regular employees of the company who will receive no additional compensation for those activities. We have retained MacKenzie Partners, Inc. at an estimated cost of \$8,500 plus reimbursement of expenses to assist in our solicitation of proxies. Upon request, we will also reimburse brokerage houses and other custodians, nominees, and fiduciaries for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses for forwarding solicitation material to beneficial owners.

What does it mean if I receive multiple proxy cards? If you receive more than one proxy card, it means that your shares are registered in more than one name or are registered in different accounts. Please sign and return all proxy cards to ensure that all of your shares are voted.

What happens when two stockholders share the same address? We may satisfy the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") rules regarding delivery of proxy statements by delivering a single proxy statement to an address shared by two or more of our stockholders. This delivery method is known as "householding" and can result in meaningful cost savings for us. To take advantage of this opportunity, we may deliver only one proxy statement to multiple stockholders who share an address, unless contrary instructions are received prior to the mailing date. Similarly, if you share an address with another stockholder and have received multiple copies of our proxy materials, you may write us at the address above or call us at (650) 871-0761 to request delivery of a single copy of these materials in the future. We undertake to deliver promptly upon written or oral request a separate copy of the proxy statement to a stockholder at a shared address to which a single copy of these documents was delivered. If you hold stock as a record stockholder and prefer to receive separate copies of a proxy statement either now or in the future, please contact us.

What happens if other business not discussed in this proxy statement comes before the meeting? The Company does not know of any business to be presented at the Annual Meeting other than the proposals discussed in this proxy statement. If other business comes before the meeting and is proper under Delaware law, the Company representatives will use their discretion in casting all of the votes that they are entitled to cast.

Do I have Dissenters' Rights of Appraisal? Catalyst stockholders do not have appraisal rights under Delaware law or under the governing documents of Catalyst with respect to the matters to be voted upon at the Annual Meeting.

How can I find out the results of the voting at the Annual Meeting? Preliminary voting results will be announced at the Annual Meeting. Final voting results will be published in a Current Report on Form 8-K, which we will file within four business days of the meeting. You can get a copy on our website at <u>www.catalystbiosciences.com</u> in the Investors section or by contacting Fletcher Payne, our Chief Financial Officer at (650) 871-0761 or the SEC at (800) 732-0330 for the location of the nearest public reference room, or through the IDEA (formerly EDGAR) system at <u>www.sec.gov</u>.

When are stockholder proposals due for next year's annual meeting of the stockholders? Our stockholders are entitled to present proposals for action at a forthcoming meeting if they comply with the requirements of our bylaws and the rules established by the SEC. Under Rule 14a-8 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the

"Exchange Act"), if you want us to include a proposal in the proxy materials for our 2018 annual meeting of stockholders, we must receive the proposal at our executive offices at 260 Littlefield Ave, South San Francisco, California 94080 not later than January 12, 2018. However, if the date of the 2018 annual meeting advances by more than 30 days or is delayed by more than sixty (60) days from the first anniversary of the date of the 2017 annual meeting, the deadline will instead be not later than the close of business on the ninetieth (90th) day prior to such annual meeting or, if the first public disclosure of the date of such annual meeting is less than one hundred (100) days prior to such annual meeting, the close of business on the tenth (10th) day following such first public disclosure. The proposal should be addressed to the attention of our Chief Financial Officer, and we suggest that it be sent by certified mail, return receipt requested. Any proposal that you submit must comply with SEC rules.

Whom can I contact for further information? If you would like additional copies, without charge, of this proxy statement or if you have questions about the Annual Meeting, the proposals, or the procedures for voting your shares, you should contact our Chief Financial Officer, Fletcher Payne, at (650) 871-0761.

PROPOSAL ONE — ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, our Board is divided into three classes with staggered three-year terms. The total number of authorized directors on our Board has been fixed at seven, and two directors will serve as Class II directors whose terms will expire at the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2020.

There are two nominees for Class II director at the Annual Meeting, Jeff Himawan, Ph.D. and John P. Richard. Stockholders cannot submit proxies voting for a greater number of persons than the two nominees named in this Proposal One. Each director to be elected will hold office until the annual meeting of stockholders held in 2020 and until his successor is elected or until the director's death, resignation or removal. Each nominee is currently a director of the Company and has agreed to serve if elected, and we have no reason to believe that any nominee will be unable to serve.

There are no family relationships between any of our directors, nominees or executive officers. There are also no arrangements or understandings between any director, nominee or executive officer and any other person pursuant to which he or she has been or will be selected as a director and/or executive officer.

Nominees for Class II Directors

Name	Age	Position
Jeff Himawan, Ph.D.	52	Class II Director, Audit Committee Member and Compensation
		Committee Member
John P. Richard	59	Class II Director, and Audit Committee Member and Governance and
		Nominating Committee Chair

Jeff Himawan, Ph.D. served as a member of the board of directors of Catalyst Bio from December 2008 until the completion of the merger in August 2015. Since the merger, Dr. Himawan has served as a member of the Board as a Class II director. Dr. Himawan is a Managing Director at Essex Woodlands Health Ventures, a healthcare focused venture capital firm, where he previously served as a Partner from 2001 to 2004 and as an Adjunct Partner from 1999 to 2001. He has over 20 years of experience as a scientist, entrepreneur and venture capitalist. Dr. Himawan was a co-founder and Managing Director of Seed-One Ventures, LLC, a venture capital firm that specializes in the initial formation, financing and early operational development of technology-based companies, from 1996 to 2001. From 1983 to 1996, Dr. Himawan was a scientist in academic and industrial settings. He currently serves as a director of MediciNova and Horizon Pharma, two publicly traded companies, as well as Light Sciences Oncology. He has previously served as a director of Iomai, a publicly traded company, as well as Complete Genomics, OMT Therapeutics, Ception Therapeutics and Symphogen. Dr. Himawan received his B.S. from Massachusetts Institute of Technology and his Ph.D. from Harvard University.

We believe Dr. Himawan's extensive experience in the biotechnology industry, considerable service on both public and private boards of directors, and background in corporate finance and raising capital will enable him to contribute important strategic insight to the Board.

John P. Richard served as a member of the board of directors of Targacept from November 2002 until the completion of the merger in August 2015, and he served as Chairman of the Board of Directors of Targacept from January 2014 until the completion of the merger. Since the merger, Mr. Richard has served as a member of the Board as a Class II director. Mr. Richard is the co-founder and head of corporate development at Mereo BioPharma Group plc., and has served as a non-executive director for the life science investment firm Phase4 Partners since March 2011, and has previously served as an Operating Partner and Venture Partner at Phase4 Partners. From 2005 until 2015 he was also a Managing Director of Georgia Venture Partners, a seed venture capital firm that focuses on the biotechnology industry. In addition, Mr. Richard has served as a senior business

advisor to a number of biotechnology companies as well as a consultant to portfolio companies of Georgia Venture Partners and Phase4 Ventures. Mr. Richard has been a director of the publicly-traded company Aviragen Therapeutics, Inc. (formerly Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc.) since August 2013. Mr. Richard brings to the Board extensive business development experience, having led that function at three separate life science companies and played a primary role in establishing numerous pharmaceutical alliances.

In addition, we believe the breadth of Mr. Richard's current roles will enable him to view issues that the combined company faces from a variety of perspectives, including as an executive, investor, director and business development professional.

Continuing Directors

Name	Age	Class(1)	Position
Nassim Usman, Ph.D.	58	III	President and Chief Executive Officer
Harold E. Selick, Ph.D.			Chairman of the Board, Compensation Committee Chair and
	63	III	Governance and Nominating Committee Member
Stephen A. Hill, M.D.	58	Ι	Science and Technology Member
Augustine Lawlor	61	Ι	Audit Committee Chair
Errol B. De Souza, Ph.D.			Governance and Nominating Committee and Compensation
	63	III	Committee Member
	63	111	Committee Member

(1) The terms of Class III directors will expire at the 2018 annual meeting. The terms of Class I directors will expire at the 2019 annual meeting.

Nassim Usman, Ph.D. served as Chief Executive Officer and a member of the board of directors of Catalyst Bio from February 2006 until the completion of the merger in August 2015. Since the merger, Dr. Usman has served as our President and Chief Executive Officer and as a Class III director. Dr. Usman joined Catalyst Bio from Morgenthaler Ventures, where he is currently a Venture Partner. Prior to joining Morgenthaler in 2005, he was Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer at Sirna Therapeutics Inc., which was subsequently acquired by Merck, from 2004 to 2005, and held various R&D positions at both Sirna and Ribozyme Pharmaceuticals, including Vice President of R&D and Chief Scientific Officer, from 1992 to 2004. During his industrial career, Dr. Usman has overseen the entry of several drugs into clinical development, completion of multiple licensing deals with pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies and raised capital in both private and public financings. Prior to moving into the private sector in 1992, Dr. Usman was an NIH Fogarty and NSERC Postdoctoral Fellow and Scientist in the Departments of Biology and Chemistry at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology from 1987 to 1992. He has authored more than 70 scientific articles and is the named inventor in 130 issued patents and patent applications. Dr. Usman serves on the boards of directors of Mosaic Biosciences and Principia Biopharma, is a past director of Osprey Pharmaceuticals, Archemix Corporation and Atugen AG (now Silence Therapeutics) and served on the science advisory boards of RXi Pharmaceuticals and Noxxon Pharma AG. He received his B.Sc. (Honours) and Ph.D. in Organic Chemistry from McGill University. In his doctoral dissertation, he developed a method for the solid-phase synthesis of RNA that is widely used in science and in a marketed RNA product (MacugenTM).

Dr. Usman's role as our President and Chief Executive Officer, his prior role as Catalyst Bio's Chief Executive Officer, his prior board service, and extensive experience and innovations in the field of biotechnology, particularly with companies engaged in clinical drug development, enable him to bring a unique perspective to the Board. In addition, Dr. Usman's academic expertise and accomplishments provide the Board with in-depth product and field knowledge.

Harold E. "Barry" Selick, Ph.D. served as a member of the board of directors of Catalyst Bio from 2003 until the completion of the merger in August 2015, and as Chairman of the Catalyst Bio board of directors from 2006

until the completion of the merger. Following the merger, Dr. Selick was appointed our Chairman of the Board and a Class III director. Dr. Selick is the Vice Chancellor for Business Development, Innovation and Partnerships at the University of California San Francisco, where he has served since April 2017. Dr. Selick served as Chief Executive Officer and a member of the Board of Directors of Threshold Pharmaceuticals from in June 2002 through March 2017 and continues to serve as Chairman and a member of the Board of Directors of Threshold Pharmaceuticals. From June 2002 to July 2007, he was a Venture Partner of Sofinnova Ventures, Inc., a venture capital firm. From January 1999 to April 2002, Dr. Selick was Chief Executive Officer of Camitro Corporation, a biotechnology company located in Menlo Park, CA, as well as founder and Chairman of Camitro UK, Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Camitro Corporation located in Cambridge, UK. Prior to Camitro, Dr. Selick was at Affymax Research Institute, most recently as Vice President of Research, where he directed activities in combinatorial chemistry-based drug discovery and technology development. Dr. Selick was a successful bench scientist and one of the earliest employees of Protein Design Labs, where he co-invented the technology underlying the creation of fully humanized antibody therapeutics and applied that technology to PDL's first product, Zenapax, which was developed and commercialized by Roche for the prevention of kidney transplant rejection. He has been a director of the Nasdaq-listed PDL Biopharma, Inc. since 2009, most recently as Lead Director. He also currently serves as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Nasdaq-listed company Protagonist Therapeutics, Inc., and is a director of the privately held Amunix Operating Inc., all biotechnology companies. He was a Damon Runyon-Walter Winchell Cancer Fund Fellow and an American Cancer Society Senior Fellow at the University of California, San Francisco. Dr. Selick received his B.A. and Ph.D. degrees

Dr. Selick's qualifications to sit on the Board include his years of leadership in the biotechnology industry, his considerable studies in the field, and his continued service leading the boards of directors of both private and public companies.

Errol B. De Souza, Ph.D. served as a member of the board of directors of Targacept from January 2004 until the completion of the merger in August 2015. Since the completion of the merger, Dr. De Souza has served on our Board as a Class III director. Dr. De Souza is currently President, CEO and a member of the Board of Directors of Neuropore Therapies, Inc. a privately held biotechnology company. From March 2010 until January 2016, Dr. De Souza served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Biodel Inc., a specialty pharmaceutical company. From April 2009 to March 2010, Dr. De Souza was a pharmaceutical and biotechnology consultant. From April 2003 to March 2009, he served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Archemix Corporation, a privately held biopharmaceutical company. Dr. De Souza currently serves as Chairman of the board of directors of the publicly-traded company Bionomics Ltd. Within the past five years, he served on the board of directors of each of the publicly-traded companies Biodel, Inc., IDEXX Laboratories, Inc. and Palatin Technologies, Inc. Dr. De Souza brings to the Board substantial experience as an executive in the pharmaceutical industry, having served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Synaptic Pharmaceutical Corp. until its sale to H. Lundbeck A/S, in addition to Biodel and Archemix. Over Dr. De Souza's career, he has also served in a number of high-ranking research and development roles, including Senior Vice President and Head of Global Lead Generation for Hoechst Marion Roussel and Senior Vice President and U.S. head of drug innovation and approval following that company's merger with Rhône-Poulenc to form Aventis (now Sanofi-Aventis) and Co-Founder, Executive Vice President of Research and Development and Director at Neurocrine Biosciences, Inc.

We believe that these experiences, together with his service as a director for other biopharmaceutical companies, will enable Dr. De Souza to contribute valuable insight to the Board regarding pharmaceutical portfolio development and management from both large company and emerging company perspectives.

Stephen A. Hill, M.D. served as President and Chief Executive Officer and a member of the board of directors of Targacept from December 2012 until the completion of the merger in August 2015. Since the merger, Dr. Hill has continued to serve on our Board as a Class I director, and in August 2015 Dr. Hill joined Faraday Pharmaceuticals as Chief Executive Officer. From May 2012 to November 2012, Dr. Hill served as President and Chief Executive Officer of QUE Oncology, a start-up biotechnology company, and, from March 2011 to December 2011, he served

as President and Chief Executive Officer of 21st Century Biodefense, Inc., a biodefense company. From April 2008 until its acquisition in December 2010, he served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Solvay Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a pharmaceutical company. Prior to Solvay, he served as President, Chief Executive Officer and director of ArQule, Inc., a pharmaceutical company, from April 1999 to March 2008. Dr. Hill is a member of the board of directors of the publicly traded companies Cellectar Biosciences, Inc. (formerly Novelos Therapeutics, Inc.) and Lipocine, Inc. and the private company Faraday Pharmaceuticals. Dr. Hill brings to the Board extensive experience across a range of senior management positions with both pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies. Prior to Solvay and ArQule, Dr. Hill held several leadership positions with F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd., including Global Head of Clinical Development, and served for seven years with the National Health Service in the United Kingdom in General and Orthopedic Surgery.

Dr. Hill's prior service as Targacept's Chief Executive Officer, together with his breadth of experience with pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, make him uniquely suited to serve on the Board.

Augustine Lawlor served as a member of the board of directors of Catalyst Bio from February 2006 until the completion of the merger in August 2015. Since the merger, Mr. Lawlor has served on our Board as a Class I director. Since 2015, Mr. Lawlor has served as Chief Operating Officer of Leap Therapeutics, Inc. a Nasdaq-listed oncology company. He has been a Managing Director of HealthCare Ventures since 2000. From 1997 to 2000, he served as Chief Operating Officer of LeukoSite, Inc., a HealthCare Ventures III, IV and V company. Prior to joining LeukoSite, Mr. Lawlor was Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of Corporate Development for Alpha-Beta Technology. He has held similar positions at both BioSurface Technology and Armstrong Pharmaceuticals. Mr. Lawlor was previously a management consultant with KPMG. He is currently a director of biopharmaceutical companies Cardiovascular Systems, Inc., which is listed on Nasdaq, and Mosaic Biosciences, Inc. Mr. Lawlor has previously served as a director of Human Genome Sciences, which has since been acquired by GlaxoSmithKline and Replidyne, Inc. Mr. Lawlor received his Master's in Public and Private Management from Yale University.

Mr. Lawlor brings an important insight and knowledge to the Board based on his experience as a successful venture capitalist, service on the boards of public and private companies, and roles in commercial and business development in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries.

Required Vote

The two nominees receiving the highest number of "FOR" votes shall be elected as Class II Directors. Shares represented by executed proxies will be voted, if authority to do so is not withheld, for the election of the two nominees named above. If any nominee becomes unavailable for election as a result of an unexpected occurrence, shares that would have been voted for such nominee will instead be voted for the election of a substitute nominee proposed by our Board and its Governance and Nominating Committee. Under applicable rules, brokers are prohibited from giving proxies to vote on elections of directors unless the beneficial owner of such shares has given voting instructions on the matter. This means that if your broker is the record holder of your shares, you must give voting instructions to your broker with respect to the two nominees in this Proposal One if you want your broker to vote your shares on the matter. Otherwise, your shares will be treated as broker non-votes. Broker non-votes will have no effect on the outcome of the vote.

Recommendation

The Board recommends a vote FOR each nominee named in Proposal One.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Board and Leadership Structure

In accordance with our bylaws and certificate of incorporation, the Board currently consists of seven directors divided into three staggered classes, with one class to be elected at each Catalyst annual stockholders meeting to serve for a three-year term. The term of the Class II directors is set to expire upon the election and qualification of successor directors at the Annual Meeting, and the terms of the Class III and Class I directors will expire upon the election and qualification of successor directors at the annual stockholders' meetings in 2018 and 2019, respectively.

Our current directors are:

- Class I directors (term ending 2019): Stephen A. Hill, M.D. and Augustine Lawlor;
- · Class II directors (term ending at the Annual Meeting): John P. Richard and Jeff Himawan, Ph.D.; and
- Class III directors (term ending 2018): Errol B. De Souza, Ph.D., Harold E. Selick, Ph.D. and Nassim Usman, Ph.D.

There are no family relationships among any of our current directors and executive officers, and there are no family relationships among any of the proposed directors.

The Board and each of its committees are chaired by directors whom the Board has determined meet the applicable listing standards of NASDAQ.

The roles of Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board are held by separate individuals. This separation of roles enables our Chief Executive Officer to focus on his core responsibility of leading and managing our operations and day-to-day performance, consistent with strategic direction provided by the Board, and our Chairman of the Board to focus on leading the Board in its fundamental role of providing guidance to, and independent oversight of, our management.

Director Independence

NASDAQ's listing standards and Catalyst's Corporate Governance Guidelines require that the Board consist of a majority of independent directors, as determined under the applicable NASDAQ listing standard. The Board, consistent with the determination of its Governance and Nominating Committee, has determined that each of Dr. Selick, Mr. Lawlor, Mr. Richard, Dr. Himawan and Dr. De Souza qualify as an independent director. In addition, as further required by NASDAQ rules, the Board, consistent with the determination of its Governance and Nominating Committee, has made a subjective determination as to each independent director that no relationships exist which, in the opinion of the Board, would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. In making these determinations, our directors reviewed and discussed information provided by our directors and us with regard to each director's business and personal activities as they may relate to us and our management.

Role of the Board in Risk Oversight

The Board is involved in our risk oversight in multiple ways. For example, in determining whether and under what circumstances we will engage in financing transactions or enter into strategic alliances and collaborations, the Board is involved in our management of risks related to our financial condition or of the risks inherent in drug development and commercialization. In addition, the Board routinely receives at its meetings business updates from various members of management. These updates may identify matters that have emerged within that member of management's scope of responsibility that involve operational, financial, legal or regulatory risks and, in these cases, the Board's risk oversight role is to provide guidance to management.

The Board also exercises a risk oversight role through its Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Governance and Nominating Committee, each of which is structured to include only independent directors and is separately chaired. Each such committee provides regular reports of its actions to the full Board. In particular, as noted above, the Audit Committee is responsible for discussing our exposure to material risks and the adequacy of our risk management activities with management and our independent registered public accounting firm. The Audit Committee's primary emphasis is financial risk, including our internal control over financial reporting, and it reviews information received from our independent registered public accounting firm as to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and from other third parties in support of management's assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. The Audit Committee also oversees our management of exposure to certain financial risks through its periodic review of our investment policy and the allocation of our investment portfolio. Beyond the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee is responsible for considering whether our compensation programs and practices are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on us.

Contacting the Board of Directors

The Board will receive and review written communications submitted by stockholders to the attention of the Board. The Chairman of the Governance and Nominating Committee is primarily responsible for monitoring communications from stockholders and for providing copies or summaries to the other directors as he considers appropriate.

Stockholders who wish to send communications on any topic to the Board should address such communications to the Board of Directors, c/o Fletcher Payne, Chief Financial Officer, Catalyst Biosciences, Inc., 260 Littlefield Ave. South San Francisco, California 94080. Mr. Payne will forward all communications addressed to the Board to the Chairman of the Governance and Nominating Committee. You should indicate on your correspondence that you are a Catalyst stockholder.

Corporate Governance Guidelines

The Board has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines that address a number of matters applicable to directors, including, as examples, independence, qualification standards, compensation, conduct and frequency of meetings, executive sessions and management evaluation and succession. You can find our Corporate Governance Guidelines on the "Investors" page of our website, www.catalystbiosciences.com, under the "Corporate Governance" tab.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted the Catalyst Biosciences, Inc. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all officers, directors and employees. Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is available on the investors section of our website (at <u>www.catalystbiosciences.com</u>) under the heading "Governance Highlights." If we make any substantive amendments to our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics or grant any waiver from a provision of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics to any executive officer or director, we will promptly disclose the nature of the amendment or waiver on the investors section of our website at <u>www.catalystbiosciences.com</u> under the heading "Governance Highlights." We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirements under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics by posting such information on our website at the address and location specified above.

The Board and its Committees

In 2016, the Board met six (6) times. Each of our directors attended at least 75% of the aggregate number of meetings of the Board and the committees on which he or she served. Our Corporate Governance Guidelines provide that our directors are also expected to attend annual meetings of stockholders. All of our directors attended the 2016 annual meeting of stockholders. The Board currently has the following committees: an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee, a Governance and Nominating Committee and a Science and Technology Committee.

Audit Committee

Catalyst's Audit Committee generally assists the Board in its oversight of Catalyst's accounting, financial reporting and internal control functions. In 2016 the Audit Committee met ten (10) times. The Audit Committee has a written charter approved by the Board that is compliant with the standards of NASDAQ. Copies of the charter are available on our website at <u>www.catalystbiosciences.com</u> under "Investors – Governance Highlights." The responsibilities and activities of the Audit Committee are described in greater detail in the "Report of the Audit Committee" and include the following:

- the appointment, compensation, retention and oversight of any independent registered public accounting firm that Catalyst engages to issue an audit report, or to perform other audit, review or attest services, for its financial statements, and evaluating auditor independence;
- receiving and reviewing reports of management and the independent registered public accounting firm regarding the annual audit process, as well
 as the review process for its interim financial statements;
- reviewing with management significant accounting issues, policies relating to its financial statements and its cash management program;
- discussing with management and the independent registered public accounting firm its exposure to material risks and the adequacy of its risk management activities;
- reviewing management's assessment of the effectiveness of, and its independent registered public accounting firm's report on, its internal control
 over financial reporting;
- monitoring the rotation of partners of the independent registered public accounting firm on our engagement team as required by law;
- approving, to the extent required by applicable law or NASDAQ listing standards or by its related person transactions policy, related person transactions;
- establishing procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters;
- responding to any report of evidence of a material violation of the securities laws or breach of fiduciary duty that it receives; and
- preparing the report of the audit committee required by applicable SEC rules to be included in its annual proxy statement.

The Audit Committee currently consists of Mr. Lawlor, who serves as Chairman, Dr. Himawan and Mr. Richard. As required by NASDAQ rules, the members of the Audit Committee each qualify as "independent" under special standards established for members of audit committees. To qualify as "independent" to serve on the Audit Committee, the NASDAQ rules and the applicable rules of the SEC require that a director does not accept any consulting, advisory, or other compensatory fee from Catalyst, other than for service as a director, or be an affiliated person of the Company. The Board has concluded that the current composition of the Audit Committee also includes at least one member who is determined by the Board to meet the qualifications of an "audit committee financial expert." Mr. Lawlor and Mr. Richard are the directors who have been determined by the Board to be the audit committee financial experts. The designation does not impose upon Mr. Lawlor or Mr. Richard any duties, obligations or liability that are greater than are generally imposed on each of them as members of the Audit Committee and the Board, and each of their designations as an audit committee financial expert pursuant to this SEC requirement does not affect the duties, obligations or liability of any other member of the Audit Committee or the Board.

Compensation Committee

In 2016 the Compensation Committee met five (5) times. The Compensation Committee has a written charter approved by the Board that is compliant with the standards of NASDAQ. Copies of the charter are

available on our website at <u>www.catalystbiosciences.com</u> under "Investors — Governance Highlights." Effective March 2017, the responsibilities of the Compensation Committee include the following:

- reviewing periodically Catalyst's compensation philosophy and the adequacy of compensation plans and programs for its executive officers and other employees;
- the appointment, compensation and oversight of any compensation expert, legal counsel or other adviser that the Compensation Committee determines to engage and the consideration of factors relevant to such expert's, counsel's or adviser's independence;
- reviewing the performance of its Chief Executive Officer and establishing the compensation of all of its executive officers;
- approving employment, severance and change in control agreements, and any amendments, for Catalyst's executive officers;
- administering Catalyst's 2015 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time, and any other stock-based plans, as well as other employee benefit and incentive plans;
- assessing annually any risks associated with its compensation policies and practices;
- reviewing and discussing with management its Compensation Discussion and Analysis disclosure and formally recommending to the Board that it be included in its annual report on Form 10-K (either directly or by incorporation by reference to its annual proxy statement);
- making a recommendation to the Board with respect to the Board's recommendation to its stockholders on any proposal that its stockholders approve the compensation of its Named Executive Officers on an advisory basis;
- making a recommendation to the Board, at least once every six years, whether to submit the compensation of its Named Executive Officers to an advisory vote of its stockholders every one, two or three years;
- preparing the report of the Compensation Committee required by applicable SEC rules to be included in its annual report on Form 10-K (either directly or by incorporation by reference to its annual proxy statement); and
- periodically evaluating and making recommendations to the Board concerning the compensation of non-employee directors.

The current members of the Compensation Committee are Dr. Selick, who serves as Chairman, Dr. Himawan and Dr. De Souza. To qualify as independent to serve on the Compensation Committee, the NASDAQ rules require a director not to accept any consulting, advisory, or other compensatory fee from the Company, other than for service on the Board, and that the Board consider whether a director is affiliated with Catalyst and, if so, whether such affiliation would impair the director's judgment as a member of the Compensation Committee. The Board has concluded that the composition of the Compensation Committee meets the requirements for independence under the rules and regulations of NASDAQ and of the SEC. In addition, the Compensation Committee, from time to time, retains independent compensation consultants to assist it with assessing the competitiveness of executive and Board compensation. In April 2017, the Compensation Committee retained Radford, an Aon Hewitt company ("Radford") as an independent compensation consultant. The Compensation Committee determined, based on its review of all relevant factors, including those set forth in Rule 10C-1b(4)(i) through (iv) under the Exchange Act, that the work of Radford has not created any conflict of interest.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

None of the directors who served on our Compensation Committee during 2016, was an officer within the meaning of Rule 3b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or an employee of the Company during or

prior to fiscal year 2016 nor did any of such directors have any relationship during the past year that would have been required to be disclosed pursuant to Item 404 of Regulation S-K. None of our executive officers currently serve, or in the past year have served, as a member of the board of directors or compensation committee, or other committee serving an equivalent function, of any other entity that has one or more executive officer serving on our Board or Compensation Committee.

Governance and Nominating Committee

The current members of the Governance and Nominating Committee are Mr. Richard, who serves as Chairman, Dr. De Souza and Dr. Selick. In 2016, the Governance and Nominating Committee met two (2) times. As required by the NASDAQ rules, the members of the Governance and Nominating Committee each qualify as "independent" under special standards established by NASDAQ for members of the committee. The Governance and Nominating Committee has a written charter approved by the Board that is compliant with the standards of NASDAQ. Copies of the charter are available on our website at <u>www.catalystbiosciences.com</u> under "Investors — Governance Highlights." Effective March 2017, the responsibilities of the Governance and Nominating Committee include the following:

- identifying individuals qualified to serve as directors and committee members, recommending to the Board nominees for election at its annual stockholders' meetings and recommending to the Board individuals to fill vacancies on the board;
- making recommendations to the Board concerning the criteria for membership on the Board and the size, composition, chairmanship and compensation of the Board and its committees;
- considering whether and how it takes into account diversity in identifying nominees;
- monitoring and making recommendations to the Board regarding corporate governance matters;
- advising the Board on corporate governance matters generally; and
- conducting an annual review of the performance of the Board and its committees.

The Governance and Nominating Committee operates based on the belief that the backgrounds and qualifications of the directors as a group provide a significant breadth and diversity of experience, knowledge and abilities. In considering whether to recommend any particular candidate for inclusion in Catalyst's slate of recommended nominees, the Governance and Nominating Committee applies certain criteria found in the Corporate Governance Guidelines. In particular, each nominee should possess:

- a reputation for integrity, honesty and adherence to high ethical standards;
- · sound judgment and a willingness and ability to contribute positively to decision-making processes;
- a commitment to understand Catalyst and its industry and to regularly attend and participate in meetings of the Board and, as applicable, its committees;
- the interest in and ability to understand sometimes conflicting interests of various constituencies, such as stockholders, employees, governmental or regulatory bodies, creditors and the general public, and to act in the interests of all stockholders; and
- no actual or apparent conflict of interest that would impair the ability to represent the interests of all stockholders and to fulfill the responsibilities of a director.

The Governance and Nominating Committee does not assign specific weights to particular criteria, and no particular criterion is a prerequisite for a nominee.

The Governance and Nominating Committee recommends to the Board individuals to be nominated for election as directors. In considering an incumbent director as a nominee, the Governance and Nominating Committee considers his or her prior contributions to the functioning of the Board and, as applicable, its

committees. The Governance and Nominating Committee may also receive recommendations for nominees from members of the Board or management and may from time to time engage a third-party search firm to help identify potential nominees. If a candidate is identified, the Governance and Nominating Committee evaluates his or her qualifications and other biographical information, taking into account the backgrounds and qualifications of the continuing members of the Board and the criteria included in Catalyst's Corporate Governance Guidelines. Members of the Governance and Nominating Committee and the Chief Executive Officer then interview the candidate or, if multiple candidates are identified, select candidates for further consideration. Following discussion of the candidates identified and evaluated, the Governance and Nominating Committee recommends to the Board a list of nominees for election.

Stockholders may recommend individuals for consideration by the Governance and Nominating Committee as potential nominees for director by submitting their names, together with a comprehensive written resume of each potential nominee's business experience and background and a signed consent stating that he or she is willing to be considered as a nominee and, if nominated and elected, will serve as a director, to Governance and Nominating Committee of the Board of Directors, c/o Fletcher Payne, Chief Financial Officer, Catalyst Biosciences, Inc., 260 Littlefield Ave. South San Francisco, California 94080. The submission must also include a statement as to whether the stockholder, or, if the recommendation is being made by a group of stockholders, whether the group of stockholders, has beneficially owned more than 5% of our common stock for at least one year as of the date the recommendation is made. Assuming that the required information has been provided by the deadline that applies for stockholder proposals to be included in the proxy materials for our 2018 annual meeting of stockholders as specified above under "*When are stockholder proposals due for next year's annual meeting of the stockholders?*" the committee will evaluate stockholder-recommended candidates using substantially the same process and applying substantially the same criteria as described above.

At the meeting, stockholders will be asked to consider the election of Dr. Himawan and Mr. Richard, each of whom currently serves on the Board. Dr. Himawan and Mr. Richard were recommended to the Board for nomination by the Governance and Nominating Committee.

Science and Technology Committee

Commencing in January 2016, we formed a Science and Technology Committee. The current members of the Science and Technology Committee are Dr. Hill, Dr. De Souza and Dr. Himawan. Specific responsibilities of the Science and Technology Committee include:

- assessing information provided by management regarding our research and development activities, initiatives and programs and periodically reporting to the Board on such matters; and
- discussing and reporting to the Board on significant emerging technology issues and trends relevant to our areas of scientific or therapeutic focus.

Report of the Audit Committee

The material in this report is not "soliciting material," is not deemed "filed" with the SEC, and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Catalyst Biosciences, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, as amended, whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company's audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 and discussed these financial statements with the Company's management and with EisnerAmper LLP, the Company's independent registered public accounting firm.

The Company's management is responsible for the preparation of the Company's financial statements and for maintaining an adequate system of disclosure controls and procedures and internal control for that purpose. The Company's independent registered public accounting firm is responsible for conducting an independent audit of the Company's annual financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and

issuing a report on the results of their audit. The Audit Committee is responsible for providing independent, objective oversight of these processes.

The Audit Committee has also discussed with EisnerAmper LLP the matters required to be discussed by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Auditing Standard No. 1301 (previously Auditing Standard No. 16), (*Communications with Audit Committees*), as adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board ("PCAOB").

The Audit Committee has received and reviewed the written disclosures and the letter from EisnerAmper LLP required by applicable requirements of the PCAOB regarding the independent accountant's communications with the audit committee concerning independence, and has discussed with EisnerAmper LLP its independence.

Based on the review and discussions referred to above, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board that the audited consolidated financial statements be included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 for filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

By the Audit Committee

Augustine "Gus" Lawlor (Chair) Jeff Himawan, Ph.D. John P. Richard

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act of 1934 requires our directors and executive officers, and persons who own more than ten percent of a registered class of our equity securities, to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of common stock and other equity securities of Catalyst. Officers, directors and greater than ten percent stockholders are required by SEC regulation to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.

To our knowledge, based solely on a review of the copies of such reports furnished to us and written representations that no other reports were required, during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 all Section 16(a) filing requirements applicable to our officers, directors and greater than ten percent beneficial owners were filed in a timely manner.

Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions

Described below are the transactions and series of similar transactions since January 1, 2016 in which:

- transactions in which the amount involved exceeds the lesser of \$120,000 or one percent of the average of the smaller reporting company's total
 assets at year-end for the last two completed fiscal years; and
- any of the directors, executive officers, holders of more than 5% of capital stock (sometimes referred to as "5% stockholders" below) of the Company or any member of their immediate family had or will have a direct or indirect material interest (other than transactions described under the heading "Executive Compensation").

Indemnification Agreements

The Company has entered into indemnification agreements with each of its directors and with each executive officer. Pursuant to the indemnification agreements, the Company has agreed to indemnify and hold harmless these directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law. The agreements generally cover expenses that a director or officer incurs or amounts that a director or officer becomes obligated to pay because of any proceeding to which he or she is made or threatened to be made a party

or participant by reason of his or her service as a current or former director, officer, employee or agent of the Company. The agreements also provide for the advancement of expenses to the directors and officers subject to specified conditions. There are certain exceptions to the Company's obligation to indemnify the directors and officers, including any intentional malfeasance or act where the director or officer did not in good faith believe he or she was acting in the Company's best interests, with respect to "short-swing" profit claims under Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act and, with certain exceptions, with respect to proceedings that he or she initiates.

Policies and Procedures Regarding Related Party Transactions

The Board has adopted a written policy pursuant to which each actual or proposed financial transaction, arrangement or relationship (including any indebtedness or guarantee of indebtedness) or series of similar financial transactions, arrangements or relationships, other than specified employment and compensatory matters, in which (i) the Company was or would be a participant, (ii) the amount involved exceeds \$120,000 and (iii) a "related person" (as defined under Item 404 of Regulation S-K) has a direct or indirect material interest, is submitted to the Audit Committee for its review and approval or, if applicable, ratification. These transactions, arrangements or relationships are known as "related person transactions."

Under the policy, our Chief Financial Officer and outside counsel consult regarding any proposed transaction, arrangement or relationship that is identified as a possible related person transaction. If they determine the Company desires to proceed with the proposed transaction, arrangement or relationship and the outside counsel determines, based on available information, that the proposed transaction may constitute a related person transaction, it is submitted to the Audit Committee for its consideration. The Audit Committee is to consider all available relevant facts and circumstances, including the benefits to the Company, the impact on a director's independence in the event the related person is a director (or a family member or entity affiliated with a director), the availability of other sources for comparable products or services, the proposed terms and the terms available to or from parties that are not related persons. Absent special circumstances, the Audit Committee may approve only those related person transactions that it determines to be in or not contrary to the best interests of the Company and its stockholders. No member of the Audit Committee may participate in any review, consideration or approval of any related person transaction with respect to which the member or any of his or her immediate family members is the related person.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Executive Officers

Our executive officers as of April 24, 2017, their positions and their respective ages on that date are:

Name	Age	Position
Nassim Usman, Ph.D.	57	President and Chief Executive Officer
Fletcher Payne	54	Chief Financial Officer
Howard Levy, M.B.B.Ch., Ph.D., M.M.M	62	Chief Medical Officer

Our executive officers serve at the discretion of the board of directors, subject to rights, if any, under contracts of employment. There are no family relationships among any of our current directors and executive officers. Biographical information for Dr. Usman is provided above under the heading "Board of Directors."

Fletcher Payne served as Catalyst Bio's Chief Financial Officer from January 2015 until the completion of the merger in August 2015. Since the merger, Mr. Payne has served as our Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Payne joined Catalyst Bio in a consulting capacity through Danforth Advisors LLC, where he worked as a consultant, until April 2015, when he became a Catalyst Bio employee. He has been a consulting Chief Financial Officer of CFP

Advisory since November 2011, and from September 2008 to November 2011, Mr. Payne served as Chief Financial Officer of Pathwork Diagnostics. Mr. Payne has also served in senior financial positions at CytomX Therapeutics, Plexxikon Inc., Rinat Neuroscience Corporation, Dynavax Technologies Corporation, Cell Genesys, Abgenix, Sun Micro Systems, and IBM. Mr. Payne has over 20 years of experience helping life science companies achieve their business goals. His life science experience includes successful start-ups, initial public offerings, mergers, spin-outs, financings, business collaborations and working with R&D teams whose efforts have led to four products receiving FDA clearance. Mr. Payne graduated with a B.S. in Finance from the Haas School of Business, University of California, Berkeley.

Howard Levy, M.B. B.Ch., Ph.D., M.M.M., joined us as our Chief Medical Officer in April 2016. Prior to joining us, from 2010 through April 2016, Dr. Levy had served as either a Chief Medical Officer or a consultant with various public and private biotechnology companies on clinical and drug development strategy and execution. In addition, Dr. Levy was the Senior Global Medical Program Director at CSL Bering in 2013, and he was the Senior Vice President and Chief Medical Officer at Inspiration Biopharmaceuticals, a company solely focused on innovation in hemophilia, in 2012. From 2008 to 2011, he served as Chief Medical Officer at Sangart, Inc., which was developing pegylated hemoglobin as an oxygen therapeutic agent and a treatment for sickle cell crisis. Prior to Sangart, from 2006 to 2008, Dr. Levy was Associate Vice President, Clinical Research, Medical and Regulatory Affairs, at Novo Nordisk and was responsible for a number of clinical research programs, including recombinant Factor VIIa. Earlier in his career, Dr. Levy was Clinical Research Physician and Medical Director, Acute Care in the U.S. Medical Division of Eli Lilly and Company supporting post-marketing clinical trials and medical affairs for recombinant Activated Protein C (Xigris) in severe sepsis and antiplatelet agents ReoPro and prasugrel. He was also Chief of Critical Care Medicine at the University of New Mexico in Albuquerque for 11 years. Dr. Levy holds M.B. B.Ch and Ph.D. degrees from University of the Witwatersrand in Johannesburg, South Africa and an M.M.M. from Carnegie Mellon University's H. John Heinz III College.

Executive Compensation Table

In this Executive Compensation section, we refer to Dr. Usman, Dr. Levy, Mr. Payne and Dr. Edwin Madison, collectively, as our Named Executive Officers (the "Named Executive Officers"). Dr. Usman was our Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Payne and Dr. Levy were our next two highest compensated executive officers serving as of December 31, 2016. Dr. Madison's employment with us terminated on September 9, 2016, but compensation information is included for him in accordance with the regulations of the SEC.

Summary Compensation Table

The following table shows for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 compensation awarded to or paid to our Named Executive Officers.

Name and principal position	Year	Salary (\$)	Bonus (\$)(1)	Stock Awards _(\$)(2)	Option Awards (\$)(3)	Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation (\$)	All Other Compensation (\$)(4)	Total (\$)
Nassim Usman, Ph.D.(5)	2016	453,200	113,300				3,134	569,634
President and Chief Executive Officer	2015	413,334	169,400		1,780,139	—	4,387	2,367,260
Fletcher Payne(7)	2016	325,480	56,959		—	—	1,220	383,659
Chief Financial Officer	2015	230,333	85,162	—	600,566	—	—	916,061
Howard Levy, M.B.B.Ch., Ph.D., M.M.M.(5)(8)	2016	265,625	46,484	—	100,060	—	1,935	414,104
Chief Medical Officer	2015	—		—	—	—	—	—
Edwin L. Madison, Ph.D.(5)(6)	2016	279,415		—	10,966	—	405,452	695,833
Former Chief Scientific Officer	2015	333,333	94,325	—	1,002,309	—	—	1,429,967

(1) The amounts in the column titled "Bonus" generally reflect discretionary cash payments made with respect to officer performance during the indicated year but paid during the first or second quarter of the following year.

(2) The amounts in this column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of restricted stock awarded during the year calculated in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation, or ASC 718, disregarding the potential for forfeitures, regardless of the period in which the corresponding compensation expense was recorded in accordance with ASC 718.

- (3) The amounts in this column reflect for each fiscal year shown the aggregate grant date fair value of stock options granted during the year calculated in accordance with ASC 718, disregarding the potential for forfeitures, regardless of the period in which the corresponding compensation expense was recorded in accordance with ASC 718. The amount in this column for Dr. Madison in 2016 represents a stock option award granted to Dr. Madison in compensation for his service as a consultant after his employment with the Company was terminated. The amount in this column for Dr. Levy represents the grant date fair value of an employment inducement option, which was made outside of the Company's 2015 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, and is intended to qualify as an employment inducement grant under Nasdag Listing Rule 5635(c)(4).
- (4) The amounts in this column for Dr. Usman for 2015 represent payment of life insurance premiums, long-term disability and other insurance-related reimbursements. The amounts in this column for 2016 for Drs. Usman, Levy and Madison and Mr. Payne represent payment of long-term disability reimbursements except that the amounts for Dr. Madison also includes (i) \$357,000 in severance, (ii) \$34,418 in payment for COBRA medical, dental and vision premiums and (ii) \$13,290 in compensation for service as a consultant after his employment with the Company was terminated.
- (5) Each of Dr. Usman, Dr. Madison and Mr. Payne commenced service with the Company on August 20, 2015 upon completion of the merger. Amounts disclosed in 2015 for such officers include amounts paid for service with Catalyst Bio.
- (6) Dr. Madison's employment with the Company terminated as of September 9, 2016.
- (7) Mr. Payne commenced his service as Chief Financial Officer with Catalyst Bio in January 2015 as a consultant through Danforth Advisors, LLC and became a full-time employee of Catalyst Bio in April 1, 2015.
- (8) Dr. Levy commenced service with the Company on April 18, 2016.

Employment Agreements

Each of our currently serving Named Executive Officers is party to an offer letter (as described below), as well as a standard confidential information and/or inventions assignment agreement, under which each of Dr. Usman, Mr. Payne and Dr. Levy agreed not to disclose our confidential information. We previously entered into an employment agreement with Dr. Madison, whose employment with us terminated as of September 9, 2016.

Nassim Usman

Under our offer letter with Dr. Nassim Usman, our President and Chief Executive Officer, Dr. Usman is entitled to an annual base salary, which is currently \$466.796, and will also have the opportunity to earn an annual performance-based bonus of up to 75% of his base salary. Dr. Usman is eligible for our benefits program, including life and disability insurance, medical, dental and vision, and a 401K and Flex Spending account. In addition, in accordance with the terms of the letter agreement, Dr. Usman was awarded stock option grants to purchase an aggregate of 2,934 shares of our common stock at an exercise price per share equal to the fair market value on the date of grant, all of which have fully vested.

The letter agreement provides that either party may terminate the agreement for any reason or no reason. In addition, the agreement provided that if we terminate Dr. Usman's employment without "cause" (as defined in the agreement) or "constructively terminate" (as defined in the agreement) his employment (whether or not in connection with a change of control), Dr. Usman would be eligible to receive the following:

- severance payments, equal to the rate of base salary he was receiving at the time of such termination for a period of twelve (12) months; and
- accelerated vesting of the number of shares of common stock subject to options he holds that would otherwise have vested as of the date twelve (12) months after the effective date of his termination.

If a "change of control" (defined in Dr. Usman's agreement as either (1) an acquisition of the Company by another entity, unless at least 50% of the voting power of the surviving or acquiring entity is owned immediately after the transaction by our stockholders, or (2) a sale of all or substantially all of our assets) occurred and at any time during the 12-month period following such change of control Dr. Usman is terminated without "cause" or as a result of a "constructive termination," then in addition to the benefits set forth in the preceding paragraph, all of the common stock options that he holds will be fully vested.

Fletcher Payne

Under our offer letter with Fletcher Payne, our Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Payne is entitled to an annual base salary, which is currently \$335,244, and will also have the opportunity to earn an annual performance-based bonus of up to 52.5% of his base salary. Mr. Payne is eligible for our benefits program, including life and disability insurance, medical, dental and vision, and 401K plans. In addition, in accordance with the terms of the letter agreement, Mr. Payne was awarded stock options grant to purchase 955 shares of our common stock at an exercise price per share equal to fair market value on the date of grant, the option being subject to four-year monthly vesting, beginning on April 1, 2015.

The letter agreement provides that either party may terminate the agreement for any reason or no reason. In addition, the agreement provides that if we terminate Mr. Payne's employment without "cause" (as defined in the agreement) or "constructively terminate" (as defined in the agreement) his employment (whether or not in connection with a change of control), Mr. Payne will be eligible to receive the following:

- severance payments, equal to the rate of base salary he is receiving at the time of such termination for a period of six (6) months; and
- accelerated vesting of the number of shares of common stock subject to options he holds that would otherwise have vested as of the date six (6) months after the effective date of his termination.

Howard Levy

Under our offer letter with Dr. Levy, our Chief Medical Officer, Dr. Levy is entitled to an annual base salary, which is currently \$386,250. Dr. Levy will also have the opportunity to earn an annual performance-based bonus of up to 52.5% of his base salary. Further, as an inducement to his service with the Company, Dr. Levy was awarded options to purchase 6,666 shares of our common stock at an exercise price per share equal to the fair market value on the date of grant, one-quarter of which will vest on the one-year anniversary of his April 18, 2016 start date, and the remainder of which will vest monthly thereafter at the rate of 1/48th the total number of shares per month, subject to acceleration as set forth below. In the event that the Company terminates Dr. Levy's employment for any reason, he will have three months following his termination to exercise the vested portion of these options, except in the case of death or disability, for which he will have one year to exercise such options.

The letter agreement provides that if Dr. Levy's employment is terminated without "cause" (as defined in the agreement) or as a result of "constructive termination," (as defined in the agreement) in each case after the one-year anniversary of his start date and before a "change of control" (as defined in the agreement), he shall be entitled to receive the following:

- continued payment of his base salary for six months; and
- (ii) accelerated vesting as of the time of such termination with respect to all unvested options that would have vested during that six-month period.

If Dr. Levy's employment is terminated without "cause" or as a result of "constructive termination," in each case after a "change of control," he shall be entitled to receive the following:

- · continued payment of his base salary for nine months; and
- accelerated vesting as of the time of such termination with respect to all unvested options.

The letter agreement also provides certain other benefits and perquisites generally made available to similarly situated employees, including the option to participate in certain employee benefit plans and to receive paid time off benefits.

Edwin L. Madison

In connection with Dr. Madison's employment termination as of September 9, 2016, we entered into a separation agreement with Dr. Madison (the "Separation Agreement"). Pursuant to the Separation Agreement, in accordance with his prior employment agreement with us, Dr. Madison received a lump sum payment in the amount of \$357,000, which is equivalent to 12 months' base salary, and a portion of Dr. Madison's outstanding and unvested options to purchase shares of the Company's common stock that would have vested in the 12-month period following Dr. Madison's separation became fully vested. In addition, in partial consideration for Dr. Madison granting the Company a general release of claims, (i) Dr. Madison became entitled to receive a lump sum payment in the amount of \$34,418, equal to his estimated COBRA medical, dental and vision premiums for 12-months, (ii) Dr. Madison's unexercised options to purchase shares of the Company's common stock will remain exercisable until the earlier of the expiration date of such options or the date that is three years after Dr. Madison's separation, and (iii) we and Dr. Madison entered into a consulting agreement, pursuant to which Dr. Madison serves on the Company's Scientific Advisory Board, continues to advise on past research efforts, review data and reports from ongoing programs and support patent prosecution efforts, in consideration for an option to purchase 800 of our shares of common stock, monthly fees and potential cash bonuses.

Inducement Option Grant

In 2016, we granted one inducement option (the "inducement option") to purchase 6,666 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of \$22.80 per share to Dr. Howard Levy as a material inducement to the decision of Dr. Levy to accept employment as Chief Medical Officer of the Company. The inducement option was made outside of our 2015 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time, and is intended to qualify as an employment inducement grant under Nasdaq Listing Rule 5635(c)(4).

Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2016

The following table provides information regarding unexercised stock options held by each of the Named Executive Officers as of the end of fiscal year 2016.

		Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Option	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Option	Option Exercise	Option Expiration
Name	Grant Date	Exercisable(#)	Unexercisable(#)	Price(\$)	Date
Nassim Usman, Ph.D.	1/3/2013(1)	1,500	—	\$172.80	1/3/2023
	4/10/2008(1)	585	—	\$141.45	4/10/2018
	3/17/2009(1)	4,074	—	\$190.95	3/17/2019
	10/22/2015	1,488	3,273(2)	\$ 66.00	10/22/2025
	10/22/2015	3,199	7,038(2)	\$ 66.00	10/22/2025
Fletcher Payne	1/22/2015(1)	488		\$114.00	1/22/2025
	1/22/2015(1)	162	_	\$114.00	1/22/2025
	5/8/2015(1)	318	636(3)	\$ 90.45	5/8/2025
	10/22/2015	1,488	3,273(2)	\$ 66.00	10/22/2025
	10/22/2015	595	1,309(2)	\$ 66.00	10/22/2025
Howard Levy M.B.B.Ch.,					
Ph.D., M.M.M.	4/18/2016		6,666(5)	\$ 22.80	4/18/2026
Edwin L. Madison, Ph.D.	4/10/2008(1)	254	_	\$141.45	4/10/2018
	2/5/2010(1)	433	_	\$157.20	2/5/2020
	3/17/2009(1)	1,787		\$109.95	3/17/2019
	1/3/2013(1)	750	_	\$172.80	1/3/2023
	10/22/2015	2,380	2,381(2)	\$ 66.00	10/22/2025
	10/22/2015	1,952	1,952(2)	\$ 66.00	10/22/2025
	9/21/2016	166	633(4)	\$ 20.40	9/21/2026

(1) These stock options were granted by the board of directors of Catalyst Bio on the grant dates listed, but were assumed by the Company upon the closing of the merger on August 20, 2015 and converted into options to purchase common stock of the Company as described in the table.

(2) The remaining portion of these options to purchase common stock vest at the rate of 1/48th of the number of total shares subject to the option on the 1st day of each month, with the final tranche vesting on August 1, 2019.

(3) The remaining portion of these options to purchase common stock vest at the rate of 1/48th of the number of total shares subject to the option on the 1st of each month, with the final tranche vesting on March 1, 2019.

(4) The remaining portion of these options to purchase common stock vest at the rate of 1/24th of the number of total shares subject to the option on the 14th of each month, with the final tranche vesting on August 14, 2018.

(5) A quarter of the shares of common stock underlying this inducement option shall vest on April 18, 2017 and the remaining portion of the shares of common stock underlying this option shall vest at the rate of 1/48th of the number of total shares subject to the option monthly thereafter, with the final tranche vesting on March 18, 2020.

Compensation Risk Management

We have considered the risk associated with our compensation policies and practices for all employees, and we believe we have designed our compensation policies and practices in a manner that does not create incentives that could lead to excessive risk taking that would have a material adverse effect on our Company.

Director Compensation

Following the completion of the merger, on October 22, 2015, the Board adopted the following compensation policy that is applicable to all nonemployee directors (directors who are employees of the Company will not receive any compensation for their service on the board of directors), as updated in January 2016 to account for the formation of the Science and Technology Committee:

- Initial Equity Grants. Each non-employee director who joins the Board will receive an option to purchase 1,000 shares of common stock, which will vest monthly over three years, subject to continued service.
- Annual Retainers. Each non-employee director will receive an annual retainer for service on the Board consisting of an option to purchase 500 shares of the common stock, to be awarded at the Company's annual stockholders' meeting and which will vest over one year, in addition to annual cash retainers for service on the Board and committees of the Board, or for service as chair of the Board or such committees (inclusive of retainers for service as a member), as follows:

Additional annual retainer fees for service as member or chair of	Member	Chair
Board of Directors	\$35,000	\$25,000
Audit Committee	\$ 7,500	\$15,000
Compensation Committee	\$ 5,000	\$10,000
Governance and Nominating Committee	\$ 3,750	\$ 7,500
Science and Technology Committee	\$ 3,750	\$ 7,500

Director Compensation for Fiscal Year 2016

The following table shows for the year ended December 31, 2016 certain information with respect to the compensation of our non-employee directors serving during 2016. For information regarding compensation paid to Dr. Usman, see the "Summary Compensation Table" on page 20.

Name	Fees Earned or Paid in Cash (\$)	Option Awards (\$)(1) (2)(3)	Total (\$)
Errol B. De Souza	49,375	8,922	58,297
Stephen A. Hill	37,813	8,922	46,735
Jeff Himawan, Ph.D.(4)	—	—	
Augustine Lawlor	50,000	8,922	58,922
John P. Richard	50,000	8,922	58,922
Harold E. Selick, Ph.D.	73,750	8,922	82,672

(1) The amounts in this column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of stock options granted during fiscal 2016 calculated in accordance with ASC 718, disregarding the potential for forfeitures.

(2) The following table sets forth the aggregate number of option awards held by each non-employee director serving in 2016 as of December 31, 2016:

NAME	Aggregate Number of Option Awards
Errol B. De Souza	4,745
Stephen A. Hill	20,640
Jeff Himawan, Ph.D.	—
Augustine Lawlor	1,500
John P. Richard	4,578
Harold E. Selick, Ph.D.	1,697

(3) There were no shares of restricted stock granted during fiscal year 2016. The following table sets forth the aggregate number of shares of restricted stock held by each non-employee director serving in 2016 as of December 31, 2016:

NAME	Aggregate Number of Shares of Restricted <u>Stock</u>
Errol B. De Souza	47
Stephen A. Hill	
Jeff Himawan, Ph.D.	—
Augustine Lawlor	
John P. Richard	47
Harold E. Selick, Ph.D.	

(4) Dr. Himawan has declined to receive any compensation for his service as a director.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of April 24, 2017, for:

- (1) each person or group of affiliated persons known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our common stock;
- (2) each of our Named Executive Officers;
- (3) each of our directors; and
- (4) all current executive officers and directors as a group.

Applicable percentage ownership is based on 4,260,411 shares of common stock outstanding at April 24, 2017. We have determined beneficial ownership in accordance with SEC rules. The information does not necessarily indicate beneficial ownership for any other purpose. Under these rules, the number of shares of common stock deemed outstanding includes shares issuable upon exercise of options or warrants, or the conversion of convertible notes, held by the respective person or group that may be exercised or converted within 60 days after April 24, 2017. For purposes of calculating each person's or group's percentage ownership, stock options and warrants exercisable, and notes convertible, within 60 days after April 24, 2017 are included for that person or group, but not the stock options of any other person or group.

Unless otherwise indicated and subject to applicable community property laws, to our knowledge, each stockholder named in the following table possesses sole voting and investment power over the shares listed. Unless otherwise noted below, the address of each person listed in the table is c/o Catalyst Biosciences, Inc., 260 Littlefield Ave, South San Francisco, CA 94080.

Name	Number of Shares Owned and Nature of Beneficial Ownership	Percent of Class
5% or Greater Stockholders		
Laurence W. Lytton	282,000(1)	6.5%
467 CPW		
New York, NY 10025		
Directors and Named Executive Officers		
Nassim Usman, Ph.D.	17,962(2)	*
Fletcher Payne	5,687(3)	*
Howard Levy, M.B.B.Ch., Ph.D., M.M.M.	1,945(4)	*
Edwin L. Madison, Ph.D.	9,928(5)	*
Harold E. Selick, Ph.D.	2,418(6)	*
Stephen A. Hill, M.D.	23,140(7)	*
Augustine Lawlor	72,342(8)	1.7%
Jeff Himawan, Ph.D.	81,767(9)	1.9%
John P. Richard	3,650(10)	*
Errol B. De Souza	3,687(11)	*
All Directors and Executive Officers as a Group (9 persons)	212,598(12)	5.0%

* Indicates less than 1% of class.

⁽¹⁾ The information reported is based on a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on May 1, 2017 which reports that, as of April 20, 2017, Mr. Lytton directly holds 282,000 shares, which include (i) 194,500 shares of common stock, (ii) 50,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the conversion of 250 shares of Series A Preferred Stock within 60 days and (iii) 37,500 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants within 60 days.



- (2) Consists of (i) 4,056 shares and 1 share issuable upon the exercise of warrants within 60 days held by the Usman Family Trust, of which Dr. Usman is a co-trustee with Susan L. Usman, (ii) 1,169 shares and (iii) 12,736 shares issuable upon the exercise of options within 60 days.
- (3) Consists of (i) 1,668 shares held by Charles and Nancy Payne 2000 Trust, of which Mr. Payne is a trustee and (ii) 4,019 shares issuable upon the exercise of options within 60 days.
- (4) Consists of 1,945 shares issuable upon the exercise of options within 60 days.
- (5) Consists of (i) 2,067 shares and (ii) 7,860 shares issuable upon the exercise of options within 60 days.
- (6) Consists of (i) 1,082 shares, (ii) 1,292 shares issuable upon the exercise of options within 60 days and (iii) 19 shares issuable upon the exercise of warrants within 60 days. Also includes 25 shares held directly by Dr. Selick's wife.
- (7) Consists of (i) 1,380 shares, (ii) 20,234 shares issuable upon the exercise of options within 60 days, and (iii) 1,526 shares issuable upon the conversion of \$210,397 in aggregate principal amount of redeemable convertible notes issued by the Company on August 19, 2015, as reported on a Form 4 filed on August 18, 2015, in respect of the shares, held by Dr. Hill and convertible within 60 days.
- (8) Consists of (a) 1,095 shares issuable upon the exercise of options within 60 days held solely by Mr. Lawlor and (b) 71,247 shares directly beneficially owned by Healthcare Ventures VIII, L.P. ("HCVVIII"), which include 1,846 shares that may be purchased upon the exercise of warrants within 60 days. Mr. Lawlor is a managing director of HealthCare Ventures VIII, LLC ("HCPVIIILLC"), the general partner of HealthCare Partners VIII, L.P. ("HCPVIII"), which is the general partner of HCVVIII. HCPVIIILLC and HCPVIII may be deemed to indirectly beneficially own 71,247 shares, which include 1,846 shares that may be purchased upon the exercise of warrants within 60 days. Mr. Lawlor may be deemed to indirectly beneficially own 71,247 shares, which include 1,846 shares that may be purchased upon the exercise of warrants within 60 days. Mr. Lawlor may be deemed to indirectly beneficially own 71,247 shares, which include 1,846 shares that may be purchased upon the exercise of warrants within 60 days. The information reporting regarding Healthcare Ventures was reported based on a Schedule 13D filed with the SEC on August 31, 2015.
- (9) Dr. Himawan is a Manager at Essex Woodlands Health Ventures and may be deemed to have shared dispositive power and voting power with respect to 81,767 shares comprising of (i) 78,623 shares and (ii) 3,144 shares that may be purchased upon the exercise of warrants within 60 days. The information reported is based on a Schedule 13D filed with the SEC on August 31, 2015 which reports that, as of August 20, 2015, (i) Essex Woodlands Health Ventures Fund VIII, L.P. ("Essex VIII") directly holds 74,103 shares, which include 2,850 shares issuable upon the exercise of warrants within 60 days, (ii) Essex Woodlands Health Ventures Fund VIII-A, L.P. ("Essex VIII-A") directly holds 5,342 shares which include 255 shares issuable upon the exercise of warrants within 60 days), and (iii) Essex Woodlands Health Ventures Fund VIII-A, L.P. ("Essex VIII-B") directly holds 2,322 shares, which include 89 shares issuable upon the exercise of warrants within 60 days. Essex Woodlands Health Ventures VIII, L.P. (the "GP Partnership") is the general partner of Essex VIII, Essex VIII-A, and Essex VIII-B. Essex Woodlands Health Ventures VIII, LLC ("Essex VIII LLC") is the general partner of the GP Partnership. Essex VIII LLC, as the general partner of the GP Partnership, may be deemed to have sole voting investment power with respect to 81,767 shares comprising of (i) 78,623 shares and (ii) 3,144 shares that may be purchased upon the exercise of warrants within 60 days. Essex VIII LLC disclaims beneficial ownership to 81,767 shares comprising of (i) 78,623 shares and (ii) 3,144 shares that may be purchased upon the exercise of warrants within 60 days, except to the extent of its pecuniary interest. The GP Partnership disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares except to the extent of its pecuniary interest therein.
- (10) Consists of (i) 217 shares, (ii) 3,255 shares issuable upon the exercise of options within 60 days and (iii) 178 shares issuable upon the conversion of \$24,635 in aggregate principal amount of redeemable convertible notes convertible within 60 days.
- (11) Consists of (i) 146 shares, (ii) 3,421 shares issuable upon the exercise of options within 60 days and (iii) 120 shares of common stock issuable upon the conversion of \$16,543.00 in aggregate principal amount of redeemable convertible notes convertible within 60 days.
- (12) Includes (i) 157,767 shares, (ii) 47,997 shares of subject to options exercisable within 60 days, 5,010 shares subject to warrants exercisable within 60 days, and 1,824 shares issuable upon the conversion of redeemable convertible notes convertible within 60 days.

PROPOSAL TWO — APPROVAL OF AN AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE COMPANY'S 2015 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

Purpose of the Amendment and Restatement of the 2015 Plan and Description of the Proposal

In May 2017, upon recommendation of the Compensation Committee, the Board approved an amendment and restatement of the Catalyst Biosciences, Inc. 2015 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended and restated effective June 9, 2016), which we refer to as the "2015 Plan," subject to stockholder approval at the 2017 Annual Meeting (the "Restatement"). The Board recommends that our stockholders approve the Restatement. The purpose of the Restatement, which is described in more detail below, is to (i) increase the authorized shares available for issuance under the 2015 Plan by 950,000 shares, (ii) increase the 162(m) annual grant limits, and (iii) revise the non-employee director limit so that it applies to both equity awards and cash fees and is set at a fixed dollar value of \$500,000.

The 2015 Plan was adopted upon approval by our stockholders on August 18, 2015, and subsequently amended on December 14, 2015 and June 9, 2016.

We are seeking stockholder approval of the Restatement in order to comply with NASDAQ rules requiring stockholder approval of material amendments to equity compensation plans and the stockholder approval rules under Sections 162(m) and 422 of the Internal Revenue Code.

If approved by our stockholders at the 2017 Annual Meeting, the Restatement will become effective on June 15, 2017. If the Restatement is not approved by our stockholders at the 2017 Annual Meeting, then the 2015 Plan will remain in effect with any shares previously authorized under the 2015 Plan remaining available for future awards under the 2015 Plan.

On February 10, 2017, we implemented a 1-for-15 reverse stock split of our issued and outstanding common stock (the "2017 Reverse Stock Split"). The 2017 Reverse Stock Split decreased our issued and outstanding shares of common stock from approximately 13.0 million shares of common stock to approximately 868,000 shares as of that date. Unless otherwise indicated, all historical share numbers, share prices and exercise prices included herein give effect to adjustments made for the 2017 Reverse Stock Split, as applicable, and all references to "common stock," "stock" or "shares" means shares of the Company's common stock as so adjusted.

Reasons to Approve the Amended 2015 Plan

As of April 30, 2017, there were 125,289 shares of common stock subject to outstanding awards under the 2015 Plan, and 101,338 shares of common stock available for issuance pursuant to future awards. If the Restatement is approved by our stockholders, an additional 950,000 shares will be authorized for issuance under the 2015 Plan, which would provide us with approximately 1,051,338 shares (based on the proposed 950,000 increase plus the number of shares available for grant under the 2015 Plan as of April 30, 2017), plus the number of shares subject to any outstanding stock awards previously granted under the 2015 Plan or our predecessor stock option plan that expire or terminate prior to issuance and would otherwise be returned to the share reserve under the 2015 Plan (not to exceed 1,056,117 shares). We anticipate the proposed 950,000 increase will provide the Company with a pool of shares we expect will last for approximately two (2) years. Based on our total shares outstanding, plus warrants to purchase 2,041,225 shares of common stock with an exercise price of \$5.50 per share issued in our April 2017 financing, warrants to purchase 12,039 shares of Series A Preferred Stock sold in our April 2017 financing at an effective conversion price of \$5.00 per share, and 91,341 shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock sold in our April 2017 financing at an effective conversion price of \$137.85 per share, we anticipate a burn rate of approximately 1,051,338 options in the aggregate over two years following the Annual Meeting. The final determination of the number of options granted under the Plan will be determined by the Compensation Committee and the burn rate may be greater or less than this amount. We believe this estimated burn rate is reasonable and necessary to provide a predictable

amount of equity for attracting, retaining, and motivating employees and other service providers. If the Restatement is not approved by our stockholders at the Annual Meeting, we anticipate exhausting the current share reserve under the 2015 Plan within the next two (2) months.

We manage our long-term stockholder dilution by limiting the number of equity awards granted annually. The Compensation Committee monitors the annual burn rate, dilution, and equity expense to ensure that we maximize the stockholders' value by granting only the appropriate number of equity awards necessary to recruit, reward, and retain key employees and other service providers. The following table provides certain additional information regarding our equity program as of April 30, 2017:

Total Shares Subject to Outstanding Stock Options	125,289
Weighted Average Exercise Price of Outstanding Stock Options under Equity Compensation Plans	
Approved by Security Holders	\$ 120.00
Weighted-Average Remaining Life of Outstanding Stock Options under Equity Compensation Plans	
Approved by Security Holders	3.7
Total Shares Available for Grant under the 2015 Plan (excluding proposed increase)	101,338
Total Shares Available for Grant under the 2015 Plan (including proposed increase)	1,051,338
Fully-Diluted Shares Outstanding (including Series A Preferred as if converted to Common Stock,	
Outstanding Warrants, Redeemable Convertible Notes Outstanding Options and shares of common stock reserved for future grants remaining under 2015 Plan (excluding proposed 950,000 share	
increase))	7,781,643
Shares of common stock subject to outstanding awards and shares of common stock reserved for future grants remaining under 2015 Plan (excluding proposed 950,000 share increase) as percentage of Fully	
Diluted Shares	2.9%
Shares of common stock subject to outstanding awards and shares of common stock reserved for future grants remaining under 2015 Plan (including proposed 950,000 share increase) as percentage of Fully	
Diluted Shares (including proposed 950,000 share increase)	15.1%

We believe that we have successfully used stock awards under the 2015 Plan to attract, retain and incentivize highly qualified employees and other service providers, and that the proposed 950,000 increase in shares under the 2015 Plan is necessary to ensure that we maintain the ability to continue attracting, retaining and incentivizing highly qualified employees and other service providers in the future. We believe that the number of shares of common stock currently available under the 2015 Plan is insufficient to meet our current and future equity needs. Our employees and non-employee directors receive equity awards as a component of their compensation and we intend to continue to grant equity awards to induce and incentive new and existing employees and non-employee directors. Due to the limited number of shares available for grant under the 2015 Plan, equity awards granted to our currently serving Named Executive Officers in 2016 were limited to director awards and new hires and no equity awards were granted to our currently serving named executive officers in 2016.

Management recruitment and retention is a key to our future success and will require the use of equity awards. Equity incentives are an important component of our compensation philosophy, intended to provide equity ownership opportunities and performance-based incentives to better align the recipient's interests with those of our stockholders. We expect to need to continue to add employees to further capitalize on the Company's success, expand its indications, and develop and launch new products.

Due to the above considerations, we believe this proposed share increase is reasonable and appropriate.

Key Changes to the 2015 Plan

If approved, the following changes would be made to the 2015 Plan, as described in more detail below:

Increase in Authorized Shares	The authorized shares available for issuance under the 2015 Plan would be increased by 950,000 shares.
Increase in 162(m) Limits	The maximum number of shares with respect to which Awards may be granted to any one participant in any 12-month period would be 500,000 shares.
Change to the Non-Employee Director Limit	The aggregate grant date fair value of awards granted in any 12-month period to a non-employee director, together with any cash fees paid in the same period, would be limited to \$500,000.

Description of the 2015 Plan, as Amended

The complete text of the 2015 Plan, as amended and restated, is set forth as Appendix A hereto. The following is a summary of the material features of the 2015 Plan, as amended and restated, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to Appendix A.

Share Limitations

The maximum aggregate number of shares of common stock that we may issue pursuant to awards granted under the 2015 Plan may not exceed the sum of (a) 1,056,117 plus (b) any shares subject to an award granted under any Prior Plan (as such term is defined in the 2015 Plan) which award is forfeited, canceled, terminated, expires or lapses for any reason. The maximum aggregate number of shares of common stock that may be issued under the 2015 Plan pursuant to the grant of incentive stock options may not exceed 1,056,117 shares.

In addition, under the 2015 Plan, in any 12-month period, (i) no participant may be granted options and stock appreciation rights ("SARs") that are not related to an option for more than 500,000 shares of common stock (or the equivalent value thereof based on the fair market value per share of the common stock on the date of grant of an award); (ii) no participant may be granted awards other than options or SARs that are settled in shares of common stock for more than 500,000 shares of common stock (or the equivalent value thereof based on the fair market value per share of the common stock for more than 500,000 shares of common stock (or the equivalent value thereof based on the fair market value per share of the common stock on the date of grant of an award); and (iii) the aggregate grant date fair value (computed in accordance with applicable financial accounting rules) of all awards granted to any non-employee director of the Company or any of its affiliates, taken together with any cash fees paid during the same 12-month period with respect to the non-employee director's service as a member of the Board, shall not exceed \$500,000.

The following are not to be counted as shares issued under the 2015 Plan for purposes of the share limitation provision above: (a) shares subject to an award, or any portion thereof, that is canceled, terminates, expires, is forfeited or lapses for any reason; (b) awards (other than SARs) settled in cash; (c) dividends, including dividends paid in shares, and dividend equivalents paid in cash; and (d) any shares subject to an award other than an option or SAR that are not issued for any reason, including by reason of failure to achieve maximum performance goals. The following shares of common stock may not again be made available for issuance as awards under the 2015 Plan: (a) shares withheld from an award or delivered by a participant to satisfy minimum tax withholding requirements for awards; (b) shares not issued or delivered as a result of the net settlement of an outstanding SAR or option; (c) shares used to pay the exercise price related to an outstanding option; and (d) shares repurchased on the open market with the proceeds of an option price. In addition, (a) shares issued under the 2015 Plan through the settlement, assumption or substitution of outstanding awards granted by another

entity or obligations to grant future awards as a condition of or in connection with a merger, acquisition or similar transaction involving the Company acquiring another entity will not reduce the maximum number of shares available for delivery under the 2015 Plan, and (b) available shares under a stockholder approved plan of an acquired company (as appropriately adjusted to reflect the transaction) may be used for awards under the 2015 Plan and will not reduce the maximum number of shares available under the 2015 Plan, subject to applicable stock exchange listing requirements.

The number of shares reserved for issuance under the 2015 Plan, the participant award limitations and the terms of awards may be adjusted in the event of an adjustment in the capital structure of the Company (due to a merger, stock split, stock dividend or similar event).

Purpose and Eligibility; Term

The purposes of the 2015 Plan are to encourage and enable selected employees, directors and independent contractors of the Company and its affiliates to acquire or increase their holdings of the Company's common stock and other equity-based interests in the Company and/or to provide other incentive awards in order to promote a closer identification of their interests with those of the Company and its stockholders, and to provide flexibility to the Company in its ability to motivate, attract and retain the services of participants upon whose judgment, interest and special effort the successful conduct of its operation largely depends. If approved by our stockholders at the 2017 Annual Meeting, the 2015 Plan, as amended and restated will be effective June 15, 2017, and awards can be granted under the 2015 Plan until April 15, 2026, or the Plan's earlier termination by the Board. Awards may be granted to selected employees, directors and independent contractors of the Company or its affiliates in the discretion of the Administrator (as defined below under "Administration; Amendment and Termination"). As of April 24, 2017, approximately ten (10) employees, five (5) non-employee directors and two (2) independent contractors were eligible to be selected to participate in the 2015 Plan.

The 2015 Plan's purpose will be carried out by the granting of awards to selected participants. The types of awards authorized under the 2015 Plan include: options in the form of incentive options and/or nonqualified options; SARs in the form of freestanding SARs and/or related SARs; restricted awards in the form of restricted stock awards and/or restricted stock units; performance awards in the form of performance shares and/or performance units; phantom stock awards; other stock-based awards; cash bonus awards; and/or dividend equivalent awards. The Company discusses the material terms of each type of award below.

Administration; Amendment and Termination

The 2015 Plan provides that the plan will be administered by the Board or, upon its delegation, by the Compensation Committee. As a matter of practice, the Compensation Committee will administer the 2015 Plan, following delegation and subject to oversight by the Board. Unless the Board determines otherwise, the Board has sole authority to grant awards to non-employee directors. Each member of the Compensation Committee is intended to be independent under applicable Code Section 162(m), SEC Rule 16b-3 and NASDAQ listing standards. The Board and the Compensation Committee are referred to in this discussion collectively as the "Administrator."

Subject to the terms of the 2015 Plan, the Administrator's authority includes but is not limited to the authority to: (a) determine all matters relating to awards, including selection of individuals to be granted awards, the types of awards, the number of shares of common stock, if any, subject to an award, and all terms, conditions, restrictions and limitations of an award; (b) prescribe the form or forms of agreements evidencing awards granted under the 2015 Plan; (c) establish, amend and rescind rules and regulations for the administration of the 2015 Plan; (d) correct any defect, supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency in the 2015 Plan or in any award or award agreement; and (e) construe and interpret the 2015 Plan, awards and award agreements made under the 2015 Plan, interpret rules and regulations for administering the 2015 Plan and make all other determinations deemed necessary or advisable for administering the 2015 Plan. In certain circumstances, the Board may expressly delegate to one or more officers of the Company or a committee consisting of one or more directors who are also officers of the Company the authority, within specified parameters, to grant awards, and to

make other determinations under the 2015 Plan with respect to such awards, to persons who are not directors or officers subject to Section 16 under the Exchange Act or covered employees under Code Section 162(m).

The 2015 Plan and awards may be amended or terminated at any time by the Board, subject to the following: (a) stockholder approval is required of any 2015 Plan amendment if stockholder approval is required by applicable law, rule or regulation and (b) an amendment or termination of an award may not materially adversely affect the rights of a participant without the participant's consent. In addition, stockholder approval is required to amend the terms of outstanding options or SARs to reduce the option price or base price of such outstanding options or SARs; exchange outstanding options or SARs for cash, for options or SARs with an option price or base price that is less than the option price or base price of the original option or SAR, or for other equity awards at a time when the original option or SARs that would be treated as a repricing under the rules of the principal stock exchange on which shares of the Company's common stock are listed. The Administrator has unilateral authority to amend the 2015 Plan and any award to the extent necessary to comply with applicable laws, rules or regulations, or changes thereto. The Administrator may also adjust awards upon the occurrence of certain unusual or nonrecurring events, if the Administrator determines that such adjustments are appropriate in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under the 2015 Plan or necessary or appropriate to comply with applicable laws, rules or regulations.

Types of Awards

A summary of the material terms of the types of awards authorized under the 2015 Plan is provided below.

Options. The 2015 Plan authorizes the grant of both incentive options and nonqualified options, both of which are exercisable for shares of the Company's common stock, although incentive options may only be granted to the Company's employees. The Administrator will determine the option price at which a participant may exercise an option. The option price must be no less than 100% of the fair market value per share of the Company's common stock on the date of grant, or 110% of the fair market value with respect to incentive options granted to an employee who owns stock representing more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of the Company's stock or stock of its parent or subsidiary corporation, if any (except for certain options assumed or substituted in a merger or other transaction where the option price is adjusted in accordance with applicable tax regulations). Unless an individual award agreement provides otherwise, the option price may be paid in the form of cash or cash equivalent; in addition, except where prohibited by the Administrator or applicable laws, rules and regulations, payment may also be made by: (a) delivery of shares of common stock owned by the participant; (b) shares of common stock withheld upon exercise; (c) delivery of written notice of exercise to the Company and delivery to a broker of written notice of exercise and irrevocable instructions to promptly deliver to the Company the amount of sale or loan proceeds to pay the option price; (d) such other payment may asso be made by: (e) any combination of these methods. The Administrator will determine the term and conditions of an option and the period or periods during which, and conditions pursuant to which, a participant may exercise an option. The option term may not exceed 10 years, or five years with respect to incentive options granted to an employee who possesses more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of the Company's stock or stock of its parent or subsidiary corporation, if any.

<u>Stock Appreciation Rights</u>. Under the terms of the 2015 Plan, SARs may be granted to the holder of an option (a "related option") with respect to all or a portion of the shares of common stock subject to the related option (a "related SAR") or may be granted separately (a "freestanding SAR"). The consideration to be received by the holder of an SAR may be paid in cash, shares of common stock (valued at fair market value on the date of the SAR exercise), or a combination of cash and shares of common stock, as determined by the Administrator. The holder of an SAR is entitled to receive from the Company, for each share of common stock with respect to

which the SAR is being exercised, consideration equal in value to the excess, if any, of the fair market value of a share of common stock on the date of exercise over the base price per share of such SAR. The base price may be no less than the fair market value per share of the Company's common stock on the date the SAR is granted (except for certain SARs assumed or substituted in a merger or other transaction where the base price is adjusted in accordance with applicable tax regulations).

SARs are exercisable according to the terms established by the Administrator and stated in the applicable award agreement. Upon the exercise of a related SAR, the related option is deemed to be canceled to the extent of the number of shares of common stock for which the related SAR is exercised. Likewise, a related SAR will be canceled to the extent of the number of shares as to which a related option is exercised or surrendered. An SAR may not be exercised more than 10 years after it was granted, or such shorter period as may apply to related options in the case of related SARs. The Administrator will determine the extent, if any, to which a participant may exercise an SAR following termination of employment or service, which rights, if any, will be stated in an award agreement.

<u>Restricted Awards</u>. Under the terms of the 2015 Plan, the Administrator may grant restricted awards to participants in such numbers, upon such terms and at such times as the Administrator determines. Restricted awards may be in the form of restricted stock awards or restricted stock units that are subject to certain conditions, which conditions must be met in order for such award to vest or be earned, in whole or in part, and no longer subject to forfeiture. Restricted stock awards are payable in shares of common stock. Restricted stock units may be payable in cash or shares of common stock, or partly in cash and partly in shares of common stock, in accordance with the terms of the 2015 Plan and the discretion of the Administrator.

The Administrator will determine the restriction period for each restricted award and will determine the conditions that must be met in order for a restricted award to be granted or to vest or be earned (in whole or in part). These conditions may include (but are not limited to) payment of a stipulated purchase price, attainment of performance objectives, continued service or employment for a certain period of time (or a combination of attainment of performance objectives and continued service), retirement, disability, death or any combination of conditions. In the case of restricted awards based upon performance criteria, or a combination of performance criteria and continued service, the Administrator will determine the performance factors to be used in valuing restricted awards, and these performance factors may vary from participant to participant and between groups of participants and will be based upon such corporate, business unit or division and/or individual performance factors and criteria as the Administrator determines. However, with respect to restricted awards payable to "covered employees" (generally the Chief Executive Officer and the three highest compensated Named Executive Officers other than the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer) that are intended to qualify for the compensation deduction limitation exception available under Code Section 162(m), to the extent required under Code Section 162(m), the performance measures are limited to one or more of the performance factors described below under "Performance-Based Compensation — Code Section 162(m) Requirements." In addition, with respect to compensation that is not intended to gualify for the performance-based compensation exception under Code Section 162(m), the Administrator may approve performance objectives based on other criteria, which may or may not be objective. The Administrator has authority to determine whether and to what degree restricted awards have vested and been earned and are payable, as well as to establish and interpret the terms and conditions of restricted awards. If a participant's employment or service is terminated for any reason and all or any part of a restricted award has not vested or been earned pursuant to the terms of the 2015 Plan and the individual award agreement, the award will be forfeited, unless an award agreement or the Administrator provides otherwise.

<u>Performance Awards</u>. Under the terms of the 2015 Plan, the Administrator may grant performance awards to participants upon such terms and conditions and at such times as the Administrator determines. Performance awards may be in the form of performance shares and/or performance units. An award of a performance share is a grant of a right to receive shares of common stock or the cash value thereof (or a combination of both) that is contingent upon the achievement of performance or other objectives during a specified period and that has a

value on the date of grant equal to the fair market value (as determined in accordance with the 2015 Plan) of a share of common stock. An award of a performance unit is a grant of a right to receive shares of common stock or a designated dollar value amount of common stock which is contingent upon the achievement of performance or other objectives during a specified period, and which has an initial value determined in a dollar amount established by the Administrator at the time of grant.

The Administrator will determine the performance period for each performance award and will determine the conditions that must be met in order for a performance award to be granted or to vest or be earned (in whole or in part). These conditions may include (but are not limited to) payment of a stipulated purchase price, attainment of performance objectives, continued service or employment for a certain period of time or a combination of such conditions. In the case of performance awards based upon specified performance objectives, the Administrator will determine the performance factors to be used in valuing performance awards, and these performance factors may vary from participant to participant and between groups of participants and will be based upon such corporate, business unit or division and/or individual performance factors and criteria as the Administrator determines. However, with respect to performance awards payable to covered employees that are intended to qualify as performance-based compensation under Code Section 162(m), to the extent required under Code Section 162(m), the performance factors are limited to one or more of the performance factors described below under "Performance-based compensation — Code Section 162(m) Requirements." In addition, with respect to compensation that is not intended to qualify for the performance-based compensation exception under Code Section 162(m), the Administrator may approve performance objectives based on other criteria, which may or may not be objective. The Administrator has authority to determine whether and to what degree performance awards have been earned and are payable, as well as to interpret the terms and conditions of performance awards. If a participant's employment or service is terminated for any reason and all or any part of a performance award has not been earned pursuant to the terms of the 2015 Plan and the individual award agreement, the award will be forfeited, unless an award agreement or the Administrator provides otherwise.

<u>Phantom Stock Awards</u>. Under the terms of the 2015 Plan, the Administrator may grant phantom stock awards to participants in such numbers, upon such terms and at such times as the Administrator may determine. An award of phantom stock is an award of a number of hypothetical share units with respect to shares of the Company's common stock, with a value based on the fair market value of a share of common stock.

Subject to the terms of the 2015 Plan, the Administrator has authority to determine whether and to what degree phantom stock awards have vested and are payable and to interpret the terms and conditions of phantom stock awards. Upon vesting of all or part of a phantom stock award and satisfaction of other terms and conditions that the Administrator establishes, the holder of a phantom stock award will be entitled to a payment of an amount equal to the fair market value of one share of the Company's common stock with respect to each such phantom stock unit that has vested and is payable. The Company may make payment in cash, shares of common stock or a combination of cash and stock, as determined by the Administrator. If a participant's employment or service is terminated for any reason and all or any part of a phantom stock award has not vested and become payable pursuant to the terms of the 2015 Plan and the individual award, the participant will forfeit the award unless an award agreement or the Administrator provides otherwise.

<u>Other Stock-Based Awards</u>. The Administrator may grant other stock-based awards, which may be valued in whole or in part by reference to, or otherwise based on or related to, shares of common stock or awards for shares of common stock. Such other stock-based awards include, but are not limited to, awards granted in lieu of bonus, salary or other compensation, awards granted with vesting or performance conditions, and awards granted without being subject to vesting or performance conditions. Subject to the provisions of the 2015 Plan, the Administrator will determine the number of shares of common stock to be awarded to a participant under (or otherwise related to) such other stock-based awards, whether such awards may be settled in cash or shares of common stock (or a combination of both), and the other terms and conditions of such awards.

<u>Cash Bonus Awards</u>. The Administrator also may grant cash bonus awards under the 2015 Plan. Cash bonus awards will be based upon such corporate, business unit or division and/or individual performance factors and

criteria as the Administrator determines. However, with respect to cash bonus awards payable to covered employees that are intended to qualify for the compensation deduction limitation exception available under Code Section 162(m), to the extent required under Code Section 162(m), the performance factors are limited to one or more of the performance factors described below under "Performance-Based Compensation — Code Section 162(m) Requirements." The aggregate amount of compensation granted to any one participant in any 12-month period in respect of all cash bonus awards and payable in cash will not exceed \$1,000,000.

Dividends and Dividend Equivalents. The Administrator may provide that awards granted under the 2015 Plan (other than options and SARs) earn dividends or dividend equivalents; however, dividends and dividend equivalents, if any, on unearned or unvested performance-based awards may not be paid (even if accrued) unless and until the underlying award (or portion thereof) has vested or been earned. The Company may pay such dividends or dividend equivalents currently or credit such dividends or dividend equivalents to a participant's account, subject to such additional restrictions and conditions as the Administrator may establish. Any dividends or dividend equivalents related to an award will be structured in a manner so as to avoid causing the award or related dividends or dividend equivalents to be subject to Code Section 409A or will otherwise be structured so that the award or dividends or dividend equivalents are in compliance with Code Section 409A.

Change of Control

Under the terms of the 2015 Plan, unless an individual employment agreement in effect prior to the effective date of the 2015 Plan provides otherwise, the following provisions will apply in the event of a change of control:

- To the extent that the successor or surviving company in the change of control event does not assume or substitute for an award (or in which the Company is the ultimate parent corporation and does not continue the award) on substantially similar terms or with substantially equivalent economic benefits as awards outstanding under the Plan (as determined by the Administrator), (i) all outstanding options and SARs will become fully vested and exercisable, whether or not then otherwise vested and exercisable; and (ii) any restrictions, including but not limited to the restriction period, performance period and/or performance criteria applicable to any award other than options or SARs will be deemed to have been met, and such awards will become fully vested, earned and payable to the fullest extent of the original grant of the applicable award (or, in the case of performance-based awards, the earning of which is based on attaining a target level of performance, such awards will be deemed earned at target).
- In addition, in the event that an award is substituted, assumed or continued, the award will become vested (and, in the case of options and SARs, exercisable) in full and any restrictions, including but not limited to the restriction period, performance period and/or performance criteria applicable to any outstanding award other than options or SARs will be deemed to have been met and such awards will become fully vested, earned and payable to the fullest extent of the original award (or, in the case of performance-based awards, the earning of which is based on attaining a target level of performance, such awards will be deemed earned at target), if the employment or service of the participant is terminated within six months before (in which case vesting will not occur until the effective date of the change of control) or one year (or such other period after a change of control as may be stated in a participant's employment agreement, change in control agreement or similar agreement) after the effective date of a change of control if such termination of employment or service (a) is by the Company not for cause or (b) if an award agreement so provides, is by the participant for good reason.

Minimum Vesting

Full value awards granted under the 2015 Plan will be subject to a minimum vesting period of one year. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Administrator may provide for (a) acceleration of vesting of all or a portion of a full value award in the event of the participant's death or disability or, in certain circumstances, upon a change of control of the Company; (b) the grant of a full value award without a minimum vesting period or may accelerate the vesting of all or a portion of a full value award for any reason, but only with respect to full value

awards for no more than an aggregate of 5% of the total number of authorized shares under the 2015 Plan; and (c) the grant of full value awards that have different vesting terms in the case of full value awards that are substituted for other equity awards in connection with mergers or similar transactions.

Transferability

Incentive options are not transferable other than by will or the laws of intestate succession or, in the Administrator's discretion, as may otherwise be permitted in accordance with Code Section 422 and related regulations. Nonqualified options and SARs are not transferable other than by will or the laws of intestate succession, except for transfers if and to the extent permitted by the Administrator in a manner consistent with the registration provisions of the Securities Act. Restricted awards, performance awards, phantom stock awards and other stock-based awards generally are not transferable other than transfers by will or the laws of intestate succession, and participants may not sell, transfer, assign, pledge or otherwise encumber shares subject to an award until the award has vested and all other conditions established by the Administrator have been met.

Forfeiture and Recoupment

As noted above, the 2015 Plan authorizes the Administrator to require forfeiture and recoupment of plan benefits if a participant engages in certain types of detrimental conduct and to require that a participant be subject to any compensation recovery policy or similar policies that may apply to the participant or be imposed under applicable laws.

Performance-Based Compensation — Code Section 162(m) Requirements

The 2015 Plan is structured with the intent of allowing the Compensation Committee to pay compensation to "covered employees" (as described above, the Chief Executive Officer and the three highest compensated Named Executive Officers other than the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer) that may be exempt from Code Section 162(m). The Compensation Committee has the discretion to grant performance awards that are not intended to satisfy the requirements for "performance-based" compensation under Code Section 162(m). Code Section 162(m) generally prohibits a public corporation from deducting more than \$1,000,000 a year for compensation paid to each of the covered employees of the corporation unless the compensation qualifies as performance-based compensation. In order to qualify as performance-based compensation, the compensation must be contingent on achieving pre-established objective performance goals determined and certified by a committee comprised of outside directors. All of the members of the Company's Compensation Committee, which will have the discretion to grant performance awards to covered employees, are outside directors under Code Section 162(m) standards.

In addition, performance-based compensation will not qualify for the Section 162(m) compensation deduction limitation exclusion unless the material terms (or changes in material terms) of the performance goals are disclosed to and approved by the stockholders before the compensation is paid. Material terms include: (a) the employees eligible to receive compensation; (b) a description of the business criteria on which the performance goal is based; and (c) either the maximum amount of the compensation to be paid if the performance goal is met or the formula used to calculate the amount of compensation if the performance goal is met. With respect to awards payable to covered employees that are intended to qualify for the compensation deduction limitation under Code Section 162(m), to the extent required under Code Section 162(m), the performance measures are limited to any one or more of the following: (a) cash flow; (b) return on equity; (c) return on assets; (d) earnings per share; (e) achievement of clinical development or regulatory milestones; (f) operations expense efficiency milestones; (g) consolidated earnings before or after taxes (including earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization); (h) net income; (i) operating income; (j) book value per share; (k) return on investment; (l) return on capital; (m) improvements in capital structure; (n) expense management; (o) profitability of an identifiable business unit or product; (p) maintenance or improvement of profit margins; (q) stock price or total stockholder return; (r) market share; (s) revenues or sales; (t) costs; (u) working capital; (v) economic wealth created; (w) strategic business criteria; (x) efficiency ratio(s);



(y) achievement of division, group, function or corporate financial, strategic or operational goals; and (z) comparisons with stock market indices or performances of metrics of peer companies. The eligibility and participant award limitations of the 2015 Plan are further described under the sub-headings "Purpose and Eligibility; Term"; and "Share Limitations."

Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences

The following summary generally describes the principal U.S. federal (and not foreign, state or local) income tax consequences of awards granted under the 2015 Plan as of the date of this proxy statement. The summary is general in nature and is not intended to cover all tax consequences that may apply to a particular employee or to the Company. The provisions of the Code and related regulations concerning these matters are complicated and their impact in any one case may depend upon the particular circumstances.

Incentive Options. Incentive options granted under the 2015 Plan are intended to qualify as incentive stock options under Code Section 422. Pursuant to Code Section 422, the grant and exercise of an incentive stock option generally will not result in taxable income to the participant (with the possible exception of alternative minimum tax liability) if the participant does not dispose of shares received upon exercise of such option less than one year after the date of exercise and two years after the date of grant, and if the participant has continuously been the Company's employee from the date of grant to three months before the date of exercise (or 12 months in the event of death or disability). However, the excess of the fair market value of the shares received upon exercise of the incentive option over the option price for such shares generally will constitute an item of adjustment in computing the participant's alternative minimum taxable income for the year of exercise. Thus, certain participants may increase their federal income tax liability as a result of the exercise of an incentive option under the alternative minimum tax rules of the Code.

The Company generally will not be entitled to a deduction for income tax purposes in connection with the exercise of an incentive option. Upon the disposition of shares acquired upon exercise of an incentive option, the participant will be taxed on the amount by which the amount realized upon such disposition exceeds the option price, and such amount will be treated as capital gain or loss.

If the holding period requirements for incentive option treatment described above are not met, the participant will be taxed as if he or she received compensation in the year of the disposition. The participant must treat gain realized in the premature disposition as ordinary income to the extent of the lesser of: (a) the fair market value of the stock on the date of exercise minus the option price or (b) the amount realized on disposition of the stock minus the option price. Any gain in excess of these amounts may be treated as capital gain. The Company generally will be entitled to a corresponding income tax deduction to the extent that the amount represents reasonable compensation and an ordinary and necessary business expense, subject to any required income tax reporting.

Pursuant to the Code and the terms of the 2015 Plan, in no event can there first become exercisable by a participant in any one calendar year incentive options granted by the Company with respect to shares having an aggregate fair market value (determined at the time an option is granted) greater than \$100,000. To the extent an incentive option granted under the 2015 Plan exceeds this limitation, it will be treated as a nonqualified option. In addition, no incentive option may be granted to an individual who owns, immediately before the time that the option is granted, stock possessing more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company, unless the option price is equal to or exceeds 110% of the fair market value of the stock and the option period does not exceed five years.

<u>Nonqualified Options</u>. The grant of a nonqualified option should not result in taxable income to a participant or a tax deduction to the Company. The difference between the fair market value of the stock on the date of exercise and the option price will constitute taxable ordinary income to the participant on the date of exercise. The Company generally will be entitled to a corresponding income tax deduction to the extent that the amount

represents reasonable compensation and an ordinary and necessary business expense, subject to any required income tax reporting. The participant's basis in shares of common stock acquired upon exercise of an option will equal the option price plus the amount of income taxable at the time of exercise. Any subsequent disposition of the stock by the participant will be taxed as a capital gain or loss to the participant, and will be long-term capital gain or loss if the participant has held the stock for more than one year at the time of sale.

<u>Stock Appreciation Rights</u>. For federal income tax purposes, the grant of an SAR should not result in taxable income to a participant or a tax deduction to the Company. Upon exercise, the amount of cash and fair market value of shares received by the participant, less cash or other consideration paid (if any), is taxed to the participant as ordinary income, and the Company will generally be entitled to a corresponding income tax deduction to the extent the amount represents reasonable compensation and an ordinary and necessary business expense, subject to any required income tax reporting.

<u>Restricted Stock Awards</u>. The grant of a restricted stock award will not result in taxable income to the participant or a tax deduction to the Company for federal income tax purposes, unless the restrictions on the stock do not present a substantial risk of forfeiture or the award is transferable, as defined under Code Section 83. In the year that the restricted stock is no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture, or the award is transferable, the fair market value of such shares at such date and any cash amount awarded, less cash or other consideration paid (if any), will be included in the participant's ordinary income as compensation, except that, in the case of restricted stock is awarded, the fair market value of such shares at such time, less any amount paid for the shares. The Company generally will be entitled to a corresponding income tax deduction to the extent that the amount represents reasonable compensation and an ordinary and necessary business expense, subject to any required income tax reporting.

<u>Restricted Stock Units, Performance Awards, Phantom Stock Awards, Other Stock-Based Awards, Cash Bonus Awards and Dividend Equivalents</u>. The grant of a restricted stock unit, performance award, phantom stock award, other stock-based awards, cash bonus award opportunity or a dividend equivalent award generally should not result in taxable income to the participant or a tax deduction to the Company for federal income tax purposes. However, the participant will recognize income on account of the settlement of such award. The income recognized by the participant at that time will be equal to any cash that is received and the fair market value of any stock that is received in settlement of the award. The Company generally will be entitled to a corresponding income tax deduction upon the settlement of such an award equal to the ordinary income recognized by the participant to the extent that the amount represents reasonable compensation and an ordinary and necessary business expense, subject to any required income tax reporting.

<u>Code Section 409A</u>. Awards granted under the 2015 Plan may be subject to Code Section 409A and related regulations and other guidance. Code Section 409A imposes certain requirements on compensation that is deemed under Code Section 409A to involve deferred compensation. If Code Section 409A applies to the 2015 Plan or any award, and the 2015 Plan and award do not, when considered together, satisfy the requirements of Code Section 409A during a taxable year, the participant will have ordinary income in the year of non-compliance in the amount of all deferrals subject to Code Section 409A to the extent that the award is not subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture. The participant will be subject to an additional tax of 20% on all amounts includable in income and may also be subject to interest charges under Code Section 409A. The Company does not have any responsibility to take, or to refrain from taking, any actions in order to achieve a certain tax result for any participant.

<u>Performance-based Compensation — Section 162(m) Requirements</u>. There is no guarantee that compensation paid to covered employees under the 2015 Plan will be Section 162(m)-compliant. However, the 2015 Plan is structured with the intent of allowing the Compensation Committee to pay compensation exempt from Code Section 162(m) in order to preserve, to the extent practicable, the Company's ability to claim a tax deduction for such awards under the 2015 Plan to covered employees. Code Section 162(m) generally denies an

employer a deduction for compensation paid to covered employees of a publicly held corporation in excess of \$1,000,000 unless the compensation is exempt from the \$1,000,000 limitation because it is performance-based compensation. Subject to Code Section 162(m) and certain reporting requirements, the Company may be entitled to an income tax deduction with respect to the amount of compensation includable as income to the participant.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The Company's equity compensation plans consist of the 2015 Plan, the Targacept, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan ("2006 Plan") and the Targacept, Inc. 2000 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2000 Plan"), each of which was approved by the Company's stockholders, as well as the Catalyst Biosciences, Inc. 2004 Stock Plan (the "2004 Plan"), which was approved by Catalyst Bio's stockholders and assumed in connection with the merger, and a plan that relates solely to an inducement stock option grant for 6,666 shares that was awarded in April 2016. No further grants may be made under any of these plans, other than the 2015 Plan. The Company also granted a standalone inducement stock option in December 2012, and assumed in connection with the merger standalone options granted to certain service providers of Catalyst Bio in February 2014, February 2015 and May 2015.

As of December 31, 2016, the executive officers had the following number of options outstanding under the 2015 Plan: Dr. Usman had 14,999 options outstanding under the 2015 Plan, Dr. Madison had 5,131 options outstanding under the 2015 Plan, Mr. Payne had 6,665 options outstanding under the 2015 Plan, and Dr. Levy had no options outstanding under the 2015 Plan. The non-employee directors had the following number of options outstanding under the 2015 Plan: Dr. Souza had 1,500 options outstanding under the 2015 Plan, Dr. Hill had 1,500 options outstanding under the 2015 Plan, Mr. Lawlor had 1,500 options outstanding under the 2015 Plan, Dr. Hill had 1,500 options outstanding under the 2015 Plan, Mr. Lawlor had 1,500 options outstanding under the 2015 Plan, and Dr. Himawan had no options outstanding under the 2015 Plan. Accordingly, all current executive officers as a group had 21,664 options outstanding under the 2015 Plan and all current directors who are not executive officers as a group had 7,500 options outstanding under the 2015 Plan. No associates of such directors, executive officers or Named Executive Officers have received options under the 2015 Plan. All non-executive officer employees as a group had 10,515 options outstanding under the 2015 Plan. No other person has received five percent or more of the options issued under the 2015 Plan, and no other awards are outstanding under the 2015 Plan. On April 24, 2017, the closing sales price of the common stock as reported on NASDAQ was \$4.56 per share.

The following table sets forth certain information as of December 31, 2016 with respect to the Company's equity compensation plans and standalone options.

Plan Category Equity compensation plans approved by security holders(1)	Number of Securities to be Issued Upon Exercise of Outstanding Options Warrants and Rights (A) 106,418	Weighted- Average Exercise Price of Outstanding Options (B) \$ 133.32	Number of Securities Remaining Available for Future Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans (Excluding Securities Reflected in Column (A)) (C) 85,849
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders(2)	1,751	\$ 44.22	00,040
	,	•	05.040
Total	108,169	\$ 177.54	85,849

(1) Includes shares issued or issuable upon the exercise of stock option, restricted stock or other stock-based awards under the 2015 Plan, 2006 Plan and 2000 Plan.



(2) Includes options to purchase 15,399 shares, at a weighted average exercise price of \$137.10, which were granted under the 2004 Plan. No further grants may be made under the 2004 Plan. Includes an aggregate of 2,369 shares issuable upon the exercise of standalone options with a weighted average exercise price of \$104.55, issued to Dr. Hansoo Keyoung and Fletcher Payne, our Chief Financial Officer, by Catalyst Bio and assumed in connection with the merger. Also includes (a) 13,316 shares issuable upon the exercise of a standalone option with an exercise price of \$135.15, issued to Dr. Hill, our former Chief Executive Officer, in December 2012, as a material inducement to Dr. Hill entering into employment with Targacept as contemplated by NASDAQ Listing Rule 5635(c)(4) and (b) 6,666 shares issuable upon the exercise of a standalone option with an exercise price of \$22.80, issued to Dr. Levy, as a material inducement to the decision of Dr. Levy to accept employment as Chief Medical Officer of the Company (both of such inducement grants were approved by both the Compensation Committee and the Board and are subject to anti-dilution adjustment in connection with splits, reports, and other nonreciprocal corporate transactions).

Recommendation of the Board:

The Board recommends a vote FOR approval of the Amendment and Restatement of the 2015 Stock Incentive Plan.

PROPOSAL THREE — ADVISORY VOTE TO APPROVE EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act added Section 14A to the Exchange Act requiring that we provide our stockholders with the opportunity to vote to approve, on a nonbinding, advisory basis, the compensation of our Named Executive Officers as disclosed in this proxy statement in accordance with the compensation disclosure rules of the SEC.

Prior to casting your vote on this proposal, we encourage you to read the "Executive Compensation" section of this proxy statement (beginning on page 18) for a detailed discussion of our policies and practices relating to the compensation of our Named Executive Officers.

The Compensation Committee believes that the objectives of our executive compensation program, as they relate to our Named Executive Officers, are appropriate for a company of our size and stage of development and that our compensation policies and practices help meet those objectives. In addition, the Compensation Committee believes that our executive compensation program, as it relates to our Named Executive Officers, achieves an appropriate balance between fixed compensation and variable incentive compensation, pays for performance and promotes an alignment between the interests of our Named Executive Officers and our stockholders. Accordingly, we are asking our stockholders to approve the compensation of our Named Executive Officers.

This vote is advisory, which means that the vote on executive compensation is not binding on the Company, our Board or the Compensation Committee of the Board. The vote on this resolution is not intended to address any specific element of compensation, but rather relates to the overall compensation of our Named Executive Officers, as described in this proxy statement in accordance with the compensation disclosure rules of the SEC. To the extent there is a significant vote against our Named Executive Officer compensation as disclosed in this proxy statement, the Compensation Committee will evaluate whether any actions are necessary to address our stockholders' concerns.

Accordingly, we ask our stockholders to vote "FOR" the following resolution at the Annual Meeting:

"RESOLVED, that the Company's stockholders approve, on an advisory basis, the compensation of the Named Executive Officers, as disclosed in the Company's Proxy Statement for the 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders pursuant to the compensation disclosure rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, including the Executive Compensation Tables and other related disclosure."

Recommendation of the Board:

The Board recommends a vote FOR the approval of the compensation of our Named Executive Officers, as disclosed in this proxy statement.

PROPOSAL FOUR — NON-BINDING, ADVISORY VOTE ON THE FREQUENCY OF AN ADVISORY VOTE ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The Dodd-Frank Act also provides that stockholders must be given the opportunity to vote, on a non-binding, advisory basis, for their preference as to how frequently we should seek an advisory vote on the compensation of our Named Executive Officers as disclosed in accordance with the SEC's compensation disclosure rules, which we refer to as an advisory vote on executive compensation. By voting on this Proposal Four, stockholders may indicate whether they would prefer that we seek future advisory votes on executive compensation once every one, two, or three years. Stockholders also may, if they wish, abstain from casting a vote on this proposal.

In consideration of good corporate governance, our Board has determined that an advisory vote on executive compensation that occurs every year is the most appropriate for the Company and therefore our Board recommends that you vote for a one-year interval for the advisory vote on executive compensation. The Company recognizes that the stockholders may have different views as to the best approach for the Company, and therefore we look forward to hearing from our stockholders as to their preferences on the frequency of an advisory vote on executive compensation.

Stockholders may cast a vote on the preferred voting frequency by selecting the option of one year, two years, or three years (or abstain) when voting in response to the resolution set forth below.

"RESOLVED, that the stockholders determine, on an advisory basis, whether the preferred frequency of an advisory vote on the executive compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers as set forth in the Company's Proxy Statement for the 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders should be every year, every two years, or every three years."

This vote is advisory and not binding on the Board or the Company in any way, however the Board and the Compensation Committee will take into account the outcome of the vote when considering the frequency of future advisory votes on executive compensation. The Board may decide that it is in the best interests of our stockholders and the Company to hold an advisory vote on executive compensation more or less frequently than the frequency receiving the most votes cast by our stockholders.

Recommendation of the Board:

The Board recommends a vote for the option of every ONE YEAR as the preferred frequency with which stockholders are provided with an advisory vote on executive compensation.

PROPOSAL FIVE — RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Audit Committee has recommended, and the Board has approved, the appointment of EisnerAmper LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2017. EisnerAmper LLP has served as our independent registered public accounting firm since 2015. We are soliciting stockholder ratification of the appointment of EisnerAmper LLP, although stockholder ratification is not required by law. If the appointment of EisnerAmper LLP is not ratified at the meeting, the Audit Committee will consider whether to appoint a different independent registered public accounting firm.

A representative of EisnerAmper LLP is expected to be present at the Annual Meeting. This representative will have an opportunity to make a statement and will be available to respond to appropriate questions.

Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Current Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees

The following table sets forth the fees for professional services rendered by EisnerAmper LLP, the Company's independent registered public accounting firm, in connection with the audits of our annual financial statements (including the financial statements of Catalyst Bio) for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 and for other services rendered by EisnerAmper LLP during those periods.

	Fiscal 2016	Fiscal 2015
Audit Fees(1):	\$ 208,250	\$ 292,464
Audit-Related Fees:	—	—
Tax Fees:	_	—
All Other Fees:		
Total Fees:	\$ 208,250	\$ 292,464

(1) Audit Fees include fees billed for the applicable year for services: (a) in connection with the audit of the Company's financial statements included in its annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and registration statements on Forms S-3 and S-8; (b) in connection with the audit of the Company's internal control over financial reporting; (c) normally provided by the independent registered public accounting firm in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements.

On August 31, 2015, the Audit Committee approved the engagement of EisnerAmper LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm. During the year ended December 31, 2014, and the subsequent interim period through August 31, 2015, Targacept did not, nor did anyone on Targacept's behalf, consult with EisnerAmper LLP, regarding either (i) the application of accounting principles to a specific transaction, completed or proposed, or the type of audit opinion that might be rendered on our financial statements, and neither a written report nor oral advice was provided to us that was an important factor considered in reaching a decision as to accounting, auditing or financial reporting issues; or (ii) any matter that was either the subject of a disagreement, as that term is defined in Regulation S-K 304(a)(1)(iv) and the related instructions to Regulation S-K 304, or a reportable event, as that term is defined in Regulation S-K 304(a)(1)(v).



Other Auditors

The following table presents the fees for professional services earned by Ernst & Young LLP, the Company's prior independent registered public accounting firm, for services rendered for the year ended December 31, 2015:

	Fiscal 2015
Audit Fees(1)	\$ 200,000
Audit-Related Fees(2)	—
Tax Fees(3)	—
All Other Fees(4)	—
Total	\$ 200,000

- (1)Audit Fees include fees billed for the applicable year for services: (a) in connection with the audit of Targacept's financial statements included in its annual report on Form 10-K and the review of Targacept's financial statements included in its quarterly reports on Form 10-Q; (b) in connection with the audit of Targacept's internal control over financial reporting; (c) in connection with its registration statements on Forms S-4 and S-8 filed with the SEC in 2015; (d) in connection with the review of other documents filed with the SEC and accounting consultations; and (e) normally provided by the independent registered public accounting firm in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements.
- Audit-Related Fees include fees for assurance and related services by the principal accountant that are reasonably for the performance of the audit or (2)review of Targacept's financial statements and are not reported under Audit Fees.
- Tax Fees include fees billed in the applicable year for tax return preparation, assistance with tax return examinations, research and technical tax advice. (3)(4)
- All Other Fees reflect fees billed in the applicable year for a license to Ernst & Young LLP's web-based accounting research tool.

Ernst & Young LLP served as the independent registered public accounting firm for the audit of the Company's financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2000 through to September 1, 2015. On September 1, 2015, the Audit Committee approved the dismissal of Ernst & Young LLP.

In connection with the audits of the Company's financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014, and the subsequent interim period through September 1, 2015, there were no "disagreements" (as that term is defined in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K and related instructions) between the Company and Ernst & Young LLP on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedures which, if not resolved to the satisfaction of Ernst & Young LLP, would have caused Ernst & Young LLP to make reference to the subject matter of the disagreement in their reports. There were no "reportable events" (as that term is defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K) during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2 2014, and the subsequent interim periods through September 1, 2015.

Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policy

The Audit Committee has adopted a policy that requires the Audit Committee to approve all audit and permissible non-audit services to be provided by the independent registered public accounting firm prior to its engagement to provide such services. The Audit Committee has established a pre-approval policy for certain audit and non-audit services, up to a specified amount for each identified service that may be provided by the independent registered public accounting firm. In addition, the Chairman of the Audit Committee, or any member of the Audit Committee designated by the Chairman, may specifically approve any service that is not a prohibited non-audit service if the fees for such service are not reasonably expected to exceed \$10,000. Any such approval by the Chairman or his designee must be reported to the Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting.

The pre-approved services of the independent registered public accounting firm, and corresponding maximum fees, are reviewed annually by the Audit Committee.

Recommendation of the Board:

The Board recommends a vote FOR ratification of EisnerAmper LLP as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2017

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Form 10-K

Our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 is being mailed concurrently with the mailing of these proxy materials. Upon written request to our Chief Financial Officer, Fletcher Payne, at the address of our principal executive offices, the exhibits set forth on the exhibit index of the Form 10-K may be made available at a reasonable charge.

Internet Availability of Proxy Materials

In addition to the mailing, the notice of the Annual Meeting, this proxy statement and the proxy card are available for your review, print and download on our website at <u>www.catalystbiosciences.com</u>. **Our website and the information contained therein or connected thereto are not intended to be incorporated into this proxy statement.**

OTHER MATTERS

We have no knowledge of any other matters that may come before the Annual Meeting and do not intend to present any other matters. However, if any other matters shall properly come before the meeting or any adjournment, our representatives will have the discretion to vote as they see fit unless directed otherwise.

If you do not plan to attend the Annual Meeting, in order that your shares may be represented and in order to assure the required quorum, please sign, date and return your proxy promptly. In the event you are able to attend the Annual Meeting, at your request, we will cancel your previously submitted proxy.

By order of the board of directors,

Nassim Usman President and Chief Executive Officer

May 18, 2017

Appendix A

CATALYST BIOSCIENCES, INC. (Formerly, Targacept, Inc.)

2015 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

(As Amended and Restated Effective June 15, 2017)

CATALYST BIOSCIENCES, INC. (Formerly, Targacept, Inc.)

2015 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

(As Amended and Restated Effective June 15, 2017)

Explanatory Note:

On August 20, 2015, Catalyst Biosciences, Inc., formerly known as Targacept, Inc. (the "Company"), completed its business combination with Catalyst Bio, Inc., formerly known as Catalyst Biosciences, Inc. ("Catalyst"), in accordance with the terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of March 5, 2015, as amended on May 6 and May 13, 2015 (the "Merger Agreement"), by and among the Company, Talos Merger Sub, Inc. ("Merger Sub") and Catalyst, pursuant to which Merger Sub merged with and into Catalyst, with Catalyst surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the "Merger"). Also on August 20, 2015, in connection with, and prior to the completion of, the Merger, the Company effected a seven-for-one reverse stock split of its common stock and changed its name to "Catalyst Biosciences, Inc." The Targacept, Inc. 2015 Stock Incentive Plan (the "Plan") was amended and restated effective October 14, 2015 by the Company to reflect the effect of the reverse stock split and related adjustments as provided under the terms of the Plan and to reflect the corporate name change by re-titling the Plan the Catalyst Biosciences, Inc. 2015 Stock Incentive Plan. The Plan was further amended effective December 14, 2015, to increase the annual participant award limitations under the Plan, and effective June 9, 2016, to increase the maximum aggregate number of shares of Company common stock that may be issued under the Plan. On February 10, 2017, the Company effected a one-for-fifteen reverse stock split of its common stock. The Plan is hereby amended and restated effective as of the 15th day of June, 2017 by the Company to increase the maximum aggregate number of shares of the Company common stock that may be issued under the Plan, to increase the 162(m) annual grant limits, to change the non-employee director limit, and to otherwise reflect the effect of the 2017 reverse stock split.

1. Definitions

In addition to other terms defined herein or in an Award Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings given below:

(a) Administrator means the Board, and, upon its delegation of all or part of its authority to administer the Plan to the Committee, the Committee.

(b) <u>Affiliate</u> means any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company, and also includes any other business entity which is controlled by, under common control with or controls the Company; provided, however, that the term "Affiliate" shall be construed in a manner in accordance with the registration provisions of applicable federal securities laws if and to the extent required.

(c) <u>Applicable Law</u> means any applicable laws, rules or regulations (or similar guidance), including but not limited to the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, the Code and the listing or other rules of any applicable stock exchange.

(d) <u>Award</u> means, individually or collectively, a grant under the Plan of an Option (including an Incentive Option or a Nonqualified Option); a Stock Appreciation Right (including a Related SAR or a Freestanding SAR); a Restricted Award (including a Restricted Stock Award or a Restricted Stock Unit Award); a Performance Award (including a Performance Share Award or a Performance Unit Award); a Phantom Stock Award, an Other Stock-Based Award; a Cash Bonus Award; a Dividend Equivalent Award; and/or any other award granted under the Plan.

(e) <u>Award Agreement</u> means an award agreement (which may be in written or electronic form, in the Administrator's discretion, and which includes any amendment or supplement thereto) between the Company

and a Participant specifying the terms, conditions and restrictions of an Award granted to the Participant. An Award Agreement may also state such other terms, conditions and restrictions, including but not limited to terms, conditions and restrictions applicable to shares of Common Stock or any other benefit underlying an Award, as may be established by the Administrator.

(f) Base Price means, with respect to an SAR, the initial price assigned to the SAR.

(g) Board or Board of Directors means the Board of Directors of the Company.

(h) Cash Bonus Award means a cash-based Award granted pursuant to Section 13.

(i) <u>Cause</u> means, unless the Administrator determines otherwise, a Participant's termination of employment or service resulting from the Participant's (i) termination for "Cause" as defined under the Participant's employment, change in control, consulting or other agreement with the Company or an Affiliate, if any, or (ii) if the Participant has not entered into any such agreement (or, if any such agreement does not define "Cause"), then the Participant's termination shall be for "Cause" if termination results due to the Participant's (A) dishonesty; (B) refusal to perform his duties for the Company or an Affiliate; or (C) engaging in fraudulent conduct or conduct that could be materially damaging to the Company without a reasonable good faith belief that such conduct was in the best interest of the Company. The determination of "Cause" shall be made by the Administrator and its determination shall be final and conclusive. Without in any way limiting the effect of the foregoing, for purposes of the Plan and an Award, a Participant's employment or service shall also be deemed to have terminated for Cause if, after the Participant's employment or service has terminated, facts and circumstances are discovered that would have justified, in the opinion of the Administrator, a termination for Cause.

(j) A <u>Change of Control</u> shall (except as may be otherwise required, if at all, under Code Section 409A) be deemed to have occurred on the earliest of the following dates:

(i) The date any entity or person shall have become the beneficial owner of, or shall have obtained voting control over, thirty percent (30%) or more of the total voting power of the Company's then outstanding voting stock;

(ii) The date of the consummation of (A) a merger, consolidation or reorganization of the Company (or similar transaction involving the Company), in which the holders of the Common Stock immediately prior to the transaction have voting control over less than fifty-one percent (51%) of the voting securities of the surviving corporation immediately after such transaction, or (B) the sale or disposition of all or substantially all the assets of the Company; or

(iii) The date there shall have been a change in a majority of the Board of Directors of the Company within a 12-month period unless the nomination for election by the Company's stockholders of each new Director was approved by the vote of two-thirds of the members of the Board (or a committee of the Board, if nominations are approved by a Board committee rather than the Board) then still in office who were in office at the beginning of the 12-month period.

(For the purposes herein, the term "person" shall mean any individual, corporation, partnership, group, association or other person, as such term is defined in Section 13(d)(3) or Section 14(d)(2) of the Exchange Act, other than the Company, a Subsidiary of the Company or any employee benefit plan(s) sponsored or maintained by the Company or any Subsidiary thereof, and the term "beneficial owner" shall have the meaning given the term in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act.)

For the purposes of clarity, a transaction shall not constitute a Change of Control if its principal purpose is to change the state of the Company's incorporation, create a holding company that would be owned in substantially the same proportions by the persons who held the Company's securities immediately before such transaction or is another transaction of other similar effect.

Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of Section 1(j), in the event that any Awards granted under the Plan are deemed to be deferred compensation subject to (and not exempt from) the provisions of Code Section 409A, then distributions related to such Awards to be made upon a Change of Control may be permitted, in the Administrator's discretion, upon the occurrence of one or more of the following events (as they are defined and interpreted under Code Section 409A): (A) a change in the ownership of the Company; (B) a change in effective control of the Company; or (C) a change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets of the Company.

(k) <u>Code</u> means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Any reference herein to a specific Code section shall be deemed to include all related regulations or other guidance with respect to such Code section.

(1) <u>Committee</u> means the Compensation Committee of the Board or other committee of the Board which may be appointed to administer the Plan in whole or in part.

(m) Common Stock means the common stock of Catalyst Biosciences, Inc., \$0.001 par value, or any successor securities thereto.

(n) <u>Company</u> means Catalyst Biosciences, Inc. (formerly known as Targacept, Inc.), a Delaware corporation, together with any successor thereto.

(o) Covered Employee shall have the meaning given the term in Code Section 162(m).

(p) Director means a member of the Board or of the board of directors of an Affiliate.

(q) <u>Disability</u> shall, except as may be otherwise determined by the Administrator (taking into account any Code Section 409A considerations), as applied to any Participant, having the meaning given in any Award Agreement, employment agreement, change in control agreement, consulting agreement or other similar agreement, if any, to which the Participant is a party, or, if there is no such agreement (or if such agreement does not define "Disability"), "Disability" shall mean the inability of the Participant to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death, or which has lasted or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months. The Administrator shall have authority to determine if a Disability has occurred.

(r) <u>Dividend Equivalent Awards</u> shall mean a right granted to a Participant pursuant to Section 14 to receive the equivalent value (in cash or shares of Common Stock) of dividends paid on Common Stock.

(s) Effective Date means the effective date of the Plan, as most recently amended and restated, as provided in Section 4.

(t) <u>Employee</u> means any person who is an employee of the Company or any Affiliate (including entities which become Affiliates after the Effective Date of the Plan). For this purpose, an individual shall be considered to be an Employee only if there exists between the individual and the Company or an Affiliate the legal and bona fide relationship of employer and employee (taking into account Code Section 409A considerations if and to the extent applicable); provided, however, that, with respect to Incentive Options, "Employee" means any person who is considered an employee of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary for purposes of Treasury Regulation Section 1.421-1(h) (or any successor provision related thereto).

(u) Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

(v) <u>Fair Market Value</u> per share of the Common Stock shall be established in good faith by the Administrator and, unless otherwise determined by the Administrator, the Fair Market Value shall be determined in accordance with the following provisions: (A) if the shares of Common Stock are listed for trading on The

NASDAQ Global Select Market ("<u>Nasdaq</u>") or another national or regional stock exchange, the Fair Market Value shall be the closing sales price per share of the shares on Nasdaq or other principal stock exchange on which such securities are listed on the date an Award is granted or other determination is made (such date of determination being referred to herein as a "<u>valuation date</u>"), or, if there is no transaction on such date, then on the trading date nearest preceding the valuation date for which closing price information is available, and, provided further, if the shares are not listed for trading on Nasdaq or another stock exchange but are regularly quoted on an automated quotation system (including the OTC Bulletin Board and the quotations published by the OTC Markets Group) or by a recognized securities dealer, the Fair Market Value shall be the closing sales price for such shares as quoted on such system or by such securities dealer on the valuation date, but if selling prices are not reported, the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock shall be the mean between the high bid and low asked prices for the Common Stock on the valuation date (or, if no such prices were reported on that date, on the last date such prices were reported in any of the foregoing, then the Fair Market Value shall be determined by the Administrator based on such valuation measures or other factors as it deems appropriate. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) with respect to the grant of Incentive Options, the Fair Market Value shall be determined by the Administrator in accordance with the applicable provisions of Section 20.2031-2 of the Federal Estate Tax Regulations, or in any other manner consistent with the Code Section 422; and (ii) Fair Market Value shall be determined in accordance with Code Section 409A if and to the extent required.

(w) Freestanding SAR means an SAR that is granted without relation to an Option, as provided in Section 8.

(x) <u>Full Value Award</u> means an Award, other than in the form of an Option or SAR, which is settled by the issuance of Common Stock.

(y) Good Reason means, unless the Administrator determines otherwise, in the context of a Change of Control, a Participant's termination of employment or service resulting from the Participant's (i) termination for "Good Reason" as defined under the Participant's employment, change in control, consulting or other agreement with the Company or an Affiliate, if any, or (ii) if the Participant has not entered into any agreement (or, if any such agreement does not define "Good Reason"), then, a Participant's termination shall be for "Good Reason" if termination results due to any of the following without the Participant's consent: (A) a material reduction in the Participant's base salary as in effect immediately prior to the date of the Change of Control, (B) the assignment to the Participant of duties or responsibilities materially inconsistent with, or a material diminution in, the Participant's position, authority, duties or responsibilities as in effect immediately prior to the Change of Control, or (C) the relocation of the Participant's principal place of employment by more than 50 miles from the location at which the Participant was stationed immediately prior to the Change of Control. Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to Directors, unless the Administrator determines otherwise, a Director's termination from service on the Board shall be for "Good Reason" if the Participant ceases to serve as a Director, or, if the Company is not the surviving company in the Change of Control event, a member of the board of directors of the surviving entity, in either case, due to the Participant's failure to be nominated to serve as a director of such entity or the Participant's failure to be elected to serve as a director of such entity, but not due to the Participant's decision not to continue service on the Board of Directors of the Company or the board of directors of the surviving entity, as the case may be. An event or condition that would otherwise constitute "Good Reason" shall constitute Good Reason only if the Company fails to rescind or cure such event or condition within 30 days after receipt from the Participant of written notice of the event which constitutes Good Reason, and Good Reason shall cease to exist for any event or condition described herein on the 60th day following the later of the occurrence or the Participant's knowledge thereof, unless the Participant has given the Company written notice thereof prior to such date. In the context other than a Change of Control, "Good Reason" shall be as defined by the Administrator. The determination of "Good Reason" shall be made by the Administrator and its determination shall be final and conclusive.

(z) <u>Incentive Option</u> means an Option that is designated by the Administrator as an Incentive Option pursuant to Section 7 and intended to meet the requirements of incentive stock options under Code Section 422.

(aa) <u>Independent Contractor</u> means an independent contractor, consultant or advisor providing services (other than capital-raising services) to the Company or an Affiliate.

(bb) Nonqualified Option means an Option granted under Section 7 that is not intended to qualify as an incentive stock option under Code Section 422.

(cc) <u>Option</u> means a stock option granted under Section 7 that entitles the holder to purchase from the Company a stated number of shares of Common Stock at the Option Price, and subject to such terms and conditions, as may be set forth in the Plan or an Award Agreement or established by the Administrator.

(dd) Option Period means the term of an Option, as provided in Section 7(d).

(ee) Option Price means the price at which an Option may be exercised, as provided in Section 7(b).

(ff) <u>Other Stock-Based Award</u> means a right, granted to a Participant under Section 12, that relates to or is valued by referenced to shares of Common Stock or other Awards relating to shares of Common Stock.

(gg) Parent shall mean a "parent corporation," whether now or hereafter existing, as defined in Code Section 424(e).

(hh) <u>Participant</u> means an individual who is an Employee employed by, or a Director or Independent Contractor providing services to, the Company or an Affiliate who satisfies the requirements of Section 6 and is selected by the Administrator to receive an Award under the Plan.

(ii) <u>Performance Award</u> means a Performance Share Award and/or a Performance Unit Award, as provided in Section 10.

(jj) Performance Measures mean one or more performance factors which may be established by the Administrator with respect to an Award. Performance factors may be based on such corporate, business unit or division and/or individual performance factors and criteria as the Administrator in its discretion may deem appropriate; provided, however, that, if and to the extent required under Code Section 162(m) with respect to Awards granted to Covered Employees that are intended to qualify as "performance-based compensation" under Code Section 162(m), such performance factors shall be objective and shall be based upon one or more of the following criteria (as determined by the Administrator in its discretion): (i) cash flow; (ii) return on equity; (iii) return on assets; (iv) earnings per share; (v) achievement of clinical development or regulatory milestones; (vi) operations expense efficiency milestones; (vii) consolidated earnings before or after taxes (including earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization); (viii) net income; (ix) operating income; (x) book value per share; (xi) return on investment; (xii) return on capital; (xiii) improvements in capital structure; (xiv) expense management; (xv) profitability of an identifiable business unit or product; (xvi) maintenance or improvement of profit margins; (xvii) stock price or total stockholder return; (xviii) market share; (xix) revenues or sales; (xx) costs; (xxi) working capital; (xxii) economic wealth created; (xxiii) strategic business criteria; (xxiv) efficiency ratio(s); (xxv) achievement of division, group, function or corporate financial, strategic or operational goals; and (xxvi) comparisons with stock market indices or performances of metrics of peer companies. In addition, with respect to compensation that is not intended to qualify for the performance-based compensation exception under Code Section 162(m), the Administrator may approve performance objectives based on other criteria, which may or may not be objective. To the extent that Code Section 162(m) is applicable, the Administrator shall, within the time and in the manner prescribed by Code Section 162(m), define in an objective fashion the manner of calculating the Performance Measures it selects to use for Covered Employees during any specific performance period. The foregoing criteria may relate to the Company, one or more of its Affiliates or one or more of its divisions, units, segments, partnerships, joint ventures or minority investments, facilities, product lines or products or any combination of the foregoing. The targeted level or levels of performance with respect to such business criteria may be established at such levels and on such terms as the

Administrator may determine, in its discretion, including but not limited to on an absolute basis, in relation to performance in a prior performance period, relative to one or more peer group companies or indices, on a per share and/or share per capita basis, on a pre-tax or after tax basis, and/or any combination thereof. Such performance factors may be adjusted or modified due to extraordinary items, transactions, events or developments, or in recognition of any other unusual or infrequent events affecting the Company or the financial statements of the Company, or in response to changes in Applicable Law, accounting principles or business conditions, in each case as determined by the Administrator (provided that any adjustment or modification involving Covered Employees for compensation that is intended to qualify as "performance-based compensation" under Code Section 162(m) shall be made in an objectively determinable manner and shall be subject to any applicable Code Section 162(m) restrictions).

(kk) <u>Performance Share</u> means an Award granted under Section 10, in an amount determined by the Administrator and specified in an Award Agreement, stated with reference to a specified number of shares of Common Stock, that entitles the holder to receive shares of Common Stock, a cash payment, or a combination of Common Stock and cash (as determined by the Administrator), subject to the terms of the Plan and the terms and conditions established by the Administrator.

(ll) <u>Performance Unit</u> means an Award granted under Section 10, in an amount determined by the Administrator and specified in an Award Agreement, that entitles the holder to receive shares of Common Stock, a cash payment or a combination of Common Stock and cash (as determined by the Administrator), subject to the terms of the Plan and the terms and conditions established by the Administrator.

(mm) <u>Phantom Stock Award</u> means an Award granted under Section 11, entitling a Participant to a payment in cash, shares of Common Stock or a combination of cash and Common Stock (as determined by the Administrator), following the completion of the applicable vesting period and compliance with the terms of the Plan and other terms and conditions established by the Administrator. The unit value of a Phantom Stock Award shall be based on the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock.

(nn) <u>Plan</u> means the Catalyst Biosciences, Inc. (formerly, Targacept, Inc.) 2015 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective June 15, 2017, and as it may be thereafter amended and/or restated.

(oo) <u>Prior Plan</u> or <u>Prior Plans</u> means the Targacept, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (the "<u>2006 Plan</u>"), the 2000 Equity Incentive Plan of Targacept, Inc. (the "<u>2000 Plan</u>") and any other stock incentive plan maintained by the Company, in each case, as amended and/or restated, for its or an Affiliate's employees, directors and/or independent contractors on or prior to the Effective Date of the Plan.

(pp) <u>Related SAR</u> means an SAR granted under Section 8 that is granted in relation to a particular Option and that can be exercised only upon the surrender to the Company, unexercised, of that portion of the Option to which the SAR relates.

(qq) Restricted Award means a Restricted Stock Award and/or a Restricted Stock Unit Award, as provided in Section 9.

(rr) <u>Restricted Stock Award</u> means shares of Common Stock granted to a Participant under Section 9. Shares of Common Stock subject to a Restricted Stock Award shall cease to be restricted when, in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the terms and conditions established by the Administrator, the shares vest and become transferable and free of substantial risks of forfeiture.

(ss) <u>Restricted Stock Unit</u> means a Restricted Award granted to a Participant pursuant to Section 9 which is settled, if at all, (i) by the delivery of one share of Common Stock for each Restricted Stock Unit, (ii) in cash in an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of one share of Common Stock for each Restricted Stock Unit, or (iii) in a combination of cash and shares equal to the Fair Market Value of one share of Common Stock for each

Restricted Stock Unit, as determined by the Administrator. A Restricted Stock Unit represents the promise of the Company to deliver shares of Common Stock, cash or a combination thereof, as applicable, at the end of the applicable restriction period if and only to the extent the Award vests and ceases to be subject to forfeiture, subject to compliance with the terms of the Plan and Award Agreement and any terms and conditions established by the Administrator.

(tt) <u>Retirement</u> shall, except as may be otherwise determined by the Administrator (taking into account any Code Section 409A considerations), as applied to any Participant, have the meaning given in an Award Agreement, employment agreement, change in control agreement, consulting agreement or other similar agreement, if any, to which the Participant is a party, or, if there is no such agreement (or if such agreement does not define "Retirement"), then "Retirement" shall, unless the Administrator determines otherwise, mean retirement in accordance with the retirement policies and procedures established by the Company. The Administrator shall have authority to determine if a Retirement has occurred.

(uu) <u>SAR</u> means a stock appreciation right granted under Section 8 entitling the Participant to receive, with respect to each share of Common Stock encompassed by the exercise of such SAR, the excess, if any, of the Fair Market Value on the date of exercise over the Base Price, subject to the terms of the Plan and Award Agreement and any other terms and conditions established by the Administrator. References to "SARs" include both Related SARs and Freestanding SARs, unless the context requires otherwise.

(vv) Securities Act means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

(ww) Subsidiary shall mean a "subsidiary corporation," whether now or hereafter existing, as defined in Code Section 424(f).

(xx) <u>Termination Date</u> means the date of termination of a Participant's employment or service for any reason, as determined by the Administrator (taking into account any Code Section 409A considerations).

2. Purpose

The purposes of the Plan are to encourage and enable selected Employees, Directors and Independent Contractors of the Company and its Affiliates to acquire or to increase their holdings of Common Stock and other equity-based interests in the Company and/or to provide other incentive awards in order to promote a closer identification of their interests with those of the Company and its stockholders, and to provide flexibility to the Company in its ability to motivate, attract and retain the services of Participants upon whose judgment, interest and special effort the successful conduct of its operation largely depends. These purposes may be carried out through the granting of Awards to selected Participants, including the granting of Options in the form of Incentive Stock Options and/or Nonqualified Options; SARs in the form of Freestanding SARs and/or Related SARs; Restricted Awards in the form of Restricted Stock Awards and/or Restricted Stock Units; Performance Awards in the form of Performance Shares and/or Performance Units; Phantom Stock Awards; Other Stock-Based Awards; Cash Bonus Awards; and/or Dividend Equivalent Awards.

3. Administration of the Plan

(a) The Plan shall be administered by the Board of Directors of the Company or, upon its delegation, by the Committee (or a subcommittee thereof). To the extent required under Rule 16b-3 adopted under the Exchange Act, the Committee shall be comprised solely of two or more "non- employee directors," as such term is defined in Rule 16b-3, or as may otherwise be permitted under Rule 16b-3. Further, to the extent required by Code Section 162(m), the Plan shall be administered by a committee comprised of two or more "outside directors" (as such term is defined in Code Section 162(m)) or as may otherwise be permitted under Code Section 162(m). In addition, Committee members shall qualify as "independent directors" under applicable stock exchange rules if and to the extent required. Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless the Board determines otherwise, the Board shall have sole authority to grant Awards to Directors who are not Employees of the Company or its Affiliates

(provided, however, that the Committee shall have authority to administer such Awards unless otherwise determined by the Board).

(b) Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Administrator shall have full and final authority in its discretion to take any action with respect to the Plan including, without limitation, the authority to (i) determine all matters relating to Awards, including selection of individuals to be granted Awards, the types of Awards, the number of shares of Common Stock, if any, subject to an Award, and all terms, conditions, restrictions and limitations of an Award; (ii) prescribe the form or forms of Award Agreements evidencing any Awards granted under the Plan; (iii) establish, amend and rescind rules and regulations for the administration of the Plan; (iv) correct any defect, supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan or in any Award or Award Agreement; and (v) construe and interpret the Plan, Awards and Award Agreements made under the Plan, to interpret rules and regulations for administering the Plan and to make all other determinations deemed necessary or advisable for administering the Plan. In addition, (i) the Administrator shall have the authority, subject to the restrictions contained in Section 3(c) herein, to accelerate the date that any Award which was not otherwise exercisable, vested or earned shall become exercisable, vested or earned in whole or in part without any obligation to accelerate such date with respect to any other Award granted to any recipient; and (ii) the Administrator may in its sole discretion modify or extend the terms and conditions for exercise, vesting or earning of an Award (in each case, taking into account any Code Section 409A considerations). The Administrator may determine that a Participant's rights, payments and/or benefits with respect to an Award (including but not limited to any shares issued or issuable and/or cash paid or payable with respect to an Award) shall be subject to reduction, cancellation, forfeiture or recoupment upon the occurrence of certain specified events, in addition to any otherwise applicable vesting or performance conditions of an Award. Such events may include, but shall not be limited to, termination of employment for Cause, violation of policies of the Company or an Affiliate, breach of non-solicitation, noncompetition, confidentiality or other restrictive covenants that may apply to the Participant, other conduct by the Participant that is determined by the Administrator to be detrimental to the business or reputation of the Company or any Affiliate, and/or other circumstances where such reduction, cancellation, forfeiture or recoupment is required by Applicable Law. In addition, the Administrator shall have the authority and discretion to establish terms and conditions of Awards (including but not limited to the establishment of subplans) as the Administrator determines to be necessary or appropriate to conform to the applicable requirements or practices of jurisdictions outside of the United States. In addition to action by meeting in accordance with Applicable Law, any action of the Administrator with respect to the Plan may be taken by a written instrument signed by all of the members of the Board or Committee, as appropriate, and any such action so taken by written consent shall be as fully effective as if it had been taken by a majority of the members at a meeting duly held and called. All determinations of the Administrator with respect to the Plan and any Award or Award Agreement will be final and binding on the Company and all persons having or claiming an interest in any Award granted under the Plan. No member of the Board or Committee, as applicable, shall be liable while acting as Administrator for any action or determination made in good faith with respect to the Plan, an Award or an Award Agreement. The members of the Board or Committee, as applicable, shall be entitled to indemnification and reimbursement in the manner and to the fullest extent provided in the Company's certificate of incorporation and/or bylaws and/or pursuant to Applicable Law.

(c) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 3(b), Full Value Awards granted under the Plan shall be subject to a minimum vesting period of one year; provided, however, that (i) the Administrator may provide for acceleration of vesting of all or a portion of a Full Value Award in the event of a Participant's death or Disability or (to the extent provided in Section 15 herein) upon the occurrence of a Change of Control of the Company; (ii) the Administrator may provide for the grant of a Full Value Award without a minimum vesting period or may accelerate the vesting of all or a portion of a Full Value Award for any reason, but only with respect to Full Value Awards for no more than an aggregate of five percent (5%) of the total number of Shares authorized for issuance under the Plan pursuant to Section 5(a) herein, upon such terms and conditions as the Administrator shall determine; and (iii) the Administrator also may provide for the grant of Full Value Awards to Participants that have different vesting terms in the case of Full Value Awards that are substituted for other equity awards in connection with mergers, consolidations or other similar transactions.

(d) Notwithstanding the other provisions of Section 3, the Board may expressly delegate to one or more officers of the Company or a special committee consisting of one or more directors who are also officers of the Company the authority, within specified parameters, to grant Awards to eligible Participants, and to make any or all of the determinations reserved for the Administrator in the Plan and summarized in Section 3(b) with respect to such Awards (subject to any restrictions imposed by Applicable Law and such terms and conditions as may be established by the Administrator); provided, however, that, if and to the extent required by Section 16 of the Exchange Act or Code Section 162(m), the Participant, at the time of said grant or other determination, (i) is not deemed to be an officer or director of the Company within the meaning of Section 16 of the Exchange Act; and (ii) is not deemed to be a Covered Employee as defined under Code Section 162(m). To the extent that the Administrator has delegated authority to grant Awards pursuant to this Section 3(d) to an officer and/or a special committee, references to the "Administrator" shall include references to such officer(s) and/or special committee, subject, however, to the requirements of the Plan, Rule 16b-3, Code Section 162(m) and other Applicable Law.

4. Effective Date

The Effective Date of the Plan, as most recently amended and restated, shall be June 15, 2017 (the "<u>Effective Date</u>"). Awards may be granted on or after the Effective Date, but no Awards may be granted after April 15, 2026. Awards that are outstanding at the end of the Plan term (or such earlier termination date as may be established by the Board pursuant to Section 17(a)) shall continue in accordance with their terms, unless otherwise provided in the Plan or an Award Agreement.

5. Shares of Stock Subject to the Plan; Award Limitations

(a) *Shares of Stock Subject to the Plan*: Subject to adjustments as provided in Section 5(d), the maximum aggregate number of shares of Common Stock that may be issued pursuant to Awards granted under the Plan shall not exceed the sum of (i) 1,056,117 plus (ii) any shares subject to an award granted under a Prior Plan, which award is forfeited, cancelled, terminated, expires or lapses for any reason. Shares delivered under the Plan shall be authorized but unissued shares, treasury shares or shares purchased on the open market or by private purchase. The Company hereby reserves sufficient authorized shares of Common Stock to meet the grant of Awards hereunder.

(b) *Award Limitations*: Notwithstanding any provision in the Plan to the contrary, the following limitations shall apply to Awards granted under the Plan, in each case subject to adjustments pursuant to Section 5(d):

(i) The maximum aggregate number of shares of Common Stock that may be issued under the Plan pursuant to the grant of Incentive Options shall not exceed 1,056,117 shares;

(ii) In any 12-month period, no Participant may be granted Options and SARs that are not related to an Option for more than 500,000 shares of Common Stock (or the equivalent value thereof based on the Fair Market Value per share of the Common Stock on the date of grant of an Award);

(iii) In any 12-month period, no Participant may be granted Awards other than Options or SARs that are settled in shares of Common Stock for more than 500,000 shares of Common Stock (or the equivalent value thereof based on the Fair Market Value per share of the Common Stock on the date of grant of an Award); provided, however that Cash Bonus Awards shall be governed by the provisions of Section 13 herein.

(iv) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 5(b)(ii) and (iii) herein, with respect to non-employee Directors, in any 12-month period, the aggregate grant date fair value (computed in accordance with applicable financial accounting rules) of all Awards granted to any non-employee Director, taken together with any cash fees paid during the same 12-month period with respect to the non-employee Director's service as a member of the Board, shall not exceed \$500,000.

(For purposes of Section 5(b)(ii), (iii) and (iv), an Option and Related SAR shall be treated as a single Award.)

(c) Additional Share Counting Provisions. The following provisions shall apply with respect to the share limitations of Section 5(a):

(i) To the extent that an Award is canceled, terminates, expires, is forfeited or lapses for any reason, any unissued or forfeited shares subject to the Award will again be available for issuance pursuant to Awards granted under the Plan.

(ii) Awards (other than SARs) settled in cash shall not be counted against the share limitations stated in Section 5(a) herein.

(iii) Dividends, including dividends paid in shares, or dividend equivalents paid in cash in connection with outstanding Awards, will not be counted towards the share limitations in Section 5(a).

(iv) To the extent that the full number of shares subject to an Award other than an Option or SAR is not issued for any reason, including by reason of failure to achieve maximum performance goals, only the number of shares issued and delivered shall be considered for purposes of determining the number of shares remaining available for issuance pursuant to Awards granted under the Plan.

(v) The following shares of Common Stock may not again be made available for issuance as Awards under the Plan: (A) shares withheld from an Award or delivered by a Participant to satisfy minimum tax withholding requirements for Awards, (B) shares not issued or delivered as a result of the net settlement of an outstanding SAR or Option, (C) shares used to pay the exercise price related to an outstanding Option or (D) shares repurchased on the open market with the proceeds of the Option Price

(vi) Further, (A) shares issued under the Plan through the settlement, assumption or substitution of outstanding awards granted by another entity or obligations to grant future awards as a condition of or in connection with a merger, acquisition or similar transaction involving the Company acquiring another entity shall not reduce the maximum number of shares available for delivery under the Plan, and (B) available shares under a stockholder approved plan of an acquired company (as appropriately adjusted to reflect the transaction) may be used for Awards under the Plan and will not reduce the maximum number of shares available under the Plan, subject, in the case of both (A) and (B) herein, to applicable stock exchange listing requirements.

(d) *Adjustments; Right to Issue Additional Securities*: If there is any change in the outstanding shares of Common Stock because of a merger, consolidation or reorganization involving the Company, or if the Board of Directors of the Company declares a stock dividend, stock split distributable in shares of Common Stock, other distribution (other than regular or ordinary cash dividends) or reverse stock split, combination or reclassification of the Common Stock, or if there is a similar change in the capital stock structure of the Company affecting the Common Stock (excluding conversion of convertible securities by the Company and/or the exercise of warrants by their holders), then the number of shares of Common Stock reserved for issuance under the Plan shall be correspondingly adjusted, and the Administrator shall make such adjustments to Awards or to any provisions of this Plan as the Administrator deems equitable to prevent dilution or enlargement of Awards or as may otherwise be advisable. Nothing in the Plan, an Award or an Award Agreement shall limit the ability of the Company to issue additional securities (including but not limited to the issuance of other options or other derivative securities, warrants, additional shares or classes of Common Stock, preferred stock and/or other convertible securities).

6. Eligibility

An Award may be granted only to an individual who satisfies all of the following eligibility requirements on the date the Award is granted:

(a) The individual is either (i) an Employee, (ii) a Director or (iii) an Independent Contractor.

(b) With respect to the grant of Incentive Options, the individual is otherwise eligible to participate under this Section 6, is an Employee of the Company or a Parent or Subsidiary and does not own, immediately before the time that the Incentive Option is granted, stock possessing more than 10% of the total combined voting power

of all classes of stock of the Company or a Parent or Subsidiary. Notwithstanding the foregoing, an Employee who owns more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or a Parent or Subsidiary may be granted an Incentive Option if the Option Price is at least 110% of the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock, and the Option Period does not exceed five years. For this purpose, an individual will be deemed to own stock which is attributable to him under Code Section 424(d).

(c) With respect to the grant of substitute awards or assumption of awards in connection with a merger, consolidation, acquisition, reorganization or similar transaction involving the Company or an Affiliate, the recipient is otherwise eligible to receive the Award and the terms of the award are consistent with the Plan and Applicable Law (including, to the extent necessary, the federal securities laws registration provisions, Code Section 409A and Code Section 424(a)).

(d) The individual, being otherwise eligible under this Section 6, is selected by the Administrator as an individual to whom an Award shall be granted (as defined above, a "<u>Participant</u>").

7. Options

(a) *Grant of Options*: Subject to the limitations of the Plan, the Administrator may in its discretion grant Options to such eligible Participants in such numbers, subject to such terms and conditions, and at such times as the Administrator shall determine. Both Incentive Options and Nonqualified Options may be granted under the Plan, as determined by the Administrator; provided, however, that Incentive Options may only be granted to Employees of the Company or a Parent or Subsidiary. To the extent that an Option is designated as an Incentive Option but does not qualify as such under Code Section 422, the Option (or portion thereof) shall be treated as a Nonqualified Option. An Option may be granted with or without a Related SAR.

(b) *Option Price*: The Option Price per share at which an Option may be exercised shall be established by the Administrator and stated in the Award Agreement evidencing the grant of the Option; provided, that (i) the Option Price of an Option shall be no less than 100% of the Fair Market Value per share of the Common Stock as determined on the date the Option is granted (or 110% of the Fair Market Value with respect to Incentive Options granted to an Employee who owns stock possessing more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or a Parent or Subsidiary, as provided in Section 6(b)); and (ii) in no event shall the Option Price per share of any Option be less than the par value, if any, per share of the Common Stock. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Administrator may in its discretion authorize the grant of substitute or assumed options of an acquired entity with an Option Price not equal to 100% of the Fair Market Value of the stock on the date of grant, if the terms of substitution or assumption otherwise comply, to the extent deemed applicable, with Code Section 409A and/or Code Section 424(a).

(c) *Date of Grant*: An Option shall be considered to be granted on the date that the Administrator acts to grant the Option, or on such later date as may be established by the Administrator in accordance with Applicable Law.

(d) Option Period and Limitations on the Right to Exercise Options:

(i) The Option Period shall be determined by the Administrator at the time the Option is granted and shall be stated in the Award Agreement. The Option Period shall not extend more than 10 years from the date on which the Option is granted (or five years with respect to Incentive Options granted to an Employee who owns stock possessing more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or a Parent or Subsidiary, as provided in Section 6(b)). Any Option or portion thereof not exercised before expiration of the Option Period shall terminate. The period or periods during which, and the terms and conditions pursuant to which, an Option may vest and become exercisable shall be determined by the Administrator in its discretion, subject to the terms of the Plan (including but not limited to the provisions of Section 3(c) herein).

(ii) An Option may be exercised by giving written notice to the Company in form acceptable to the Administrator at such place and subject to such conditions as may be established by the Administrator or its designee. Such notice shall specify the number of shares to be purchased pursuant to an Option and the aggregate purchase price to be paid therefor and shall be accompanied by payment of such purchase price. Unless an Award Agreement provides otherwise, such payment shall be in the form of cash or cash equivalent; provided that, except where prohibited by the Administrator or Applicable Law (and subject to such terms and conditions as may be established by the Administrator), payment may also be made:

(A) By delivery (by either actual delivery or attestation) of shares of Common Stock owned by the Participant for such time period, if any, as may be determined by the Administrator;

(B) By shares of Common Stock withheld upon exercise;

(C) By delivery of written notice of exercise to the Company and delivery to a broker of written notice of exercise and irrevocable instructions to promptly deliver to the Company the amount of sale or loan proceeds to pay the Option Price;

(D) By such other payment methods as may be approved by the Administrator and which are acceptable under Applicable Law; or

(E) By any combination of the foregoing methods.

Shares delivered or withheld in payment on the exercise of an Option shall be valued at their Fair Market Value on the date of exercise, as determined by the Administrator or its designee.

(iii) The Administrator shall determine the extent, if any, to which a Participant may have the right to exercise an Option following termination of the Participant's employment or service with the Company. Such rights, if any, shall be subject to the sole discretion of the Administrator, shall be stated in the individual Award Agreement, need not be uniform among all Options issued pursuant to this Section 7, and may reflect distinctions based on the reasons for termination of employment or service.

(e) *Notice of Disposition*: If shares of Common Stock acquired upon exercise of an Incentive Option are disposed of within two years following the date of grant or one year following the transfer of such shares to a Participant upon exercise, the Participant shall, promptly following such disposition, notify the Company in writing of the date and terms of such disposition and provide such other information regarding the disposition as the Administrator may reasonably require.

(f) *Limitation on Incentive Options*: In no event shall there first become exercisable by an Employee in any one calendar year Incentive Options granted by the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary with respect to shares having an aggregate Fair Market Value (determined at the time an Incentive Option is granted) greater than \$100,000; provided that, if such limit is exceeded, then the first \$100,000 of shares to become exercisable in such calendar year will be Incentive Options and the Options (or portion thereof) for shares with a value in excess of \$100,000 that first became exercisable in that calendar year will be Nonqualified Options. In the event the Code or the regulations promulgated thereunder are amended after the Effective Date of the Plan to provide for a different limitation on the Fair Market Value of shares permitted to be subject to Incentive Options, then such different limit shall be automatically incorporated herein. To the extent that any Incentive Options are first exercisable by a Participant in excess of the limitation described herein, the excess shall be considered a Nonqualified Option.

(g) *Nontransferability of Options*: Incentive Options shall not be transferable (including by sale, assignment, pledge or hypothecation) other than transfers by will or the laws of intestate succession or, in the Administrator's discretion, such transfers as may otherwise be permitted in accordance with Treasury Regulation Section 1.421-1(b)(2) or Treasury Regulation Section 1.421-2(c) or any successor provisions thereto. Nonqualified Options shall not be transferable (including by sale, assignment, pledge or hypothecation) other than by will or the laws of intestate succession, except for transfers if and to the extent permitted by the Administrator in a manner

consistent with the registration provisions of the Securities Act. Except as may be permitted by the preceding, an Option shall be exercisable during the Participant's lifetime only by him or by his guardian or legal representative. The designation of a beneficiary in accordance with the Plan does not constitute a transfer.

8. Stock Appreciation Rights

(a) *Grant of SARs*: Subject to the limitations of the Plan, the Administrator may in its discretion grant SARs to such eligible Participants, in such numbers, upon such terms and at such times as the Administrator shall determine. SARs may be granted to the holder of an Option (a "<u>Related Option</u>") with respect to all or a portion of the shares of Common Stock subject to the Related Option (a "<u>Related SAR</u>") or may be granted separately to an eligible individual (a "<u>Freestanding SAR</u>"). The Base Price per share of an SAR shall be no less than 100% of the Fair Market Value per share of the Common Stock on the date the SAR is granted. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Administrator may in its discretion authorize the grant of substitute or assumed SARs of an acquired entity with a Base Price per share not equal to at least 100% of the Fair Market Value of the stock on the date of grant, if the terms of such substitution or assumption otherwise comply, to the extent deemed applicable, with Code Section 409A and/or Code Section 424(a). An SAR shall be considered to be granted on the date that the Administrator acts to grant the SAR, or on such other date as may be established by the Administrator in accordance with Applicable Law.

(b) *Related SARs*: A Related SAR may be granted either concurrently with the grant of the Related Option or (if the Related Option is a Nonqualified Option) at any time thereafter prior to the complete exercise, termination, expiration or cancellation of such Related Option. The Base Price of a Related SAR shall be equal to the Option Price of the Related Option. Related SARs shall be exercisable only at the time and to the extent that the Related Option is exercisable (and may be subject to such additional limitations on exercisability as the Administrator may provide in an Award Agreement), and in no event after the complete termination or full exercise of the Related Option. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Related SAR that is related to an Incentive Option may be exercised only to the extent that the Related Option is exercisable and only when the Fair Market Value exceeds the Option Price of the Related Option. Upon the exercise of a Related SAR granted in connection with a Related Option, the Option shall be canceled to the extent of the number of shares as to which the SAR is exercised, and upon the exercise of a Related Option, the Related SAR shall be canceled to the extent of the number of shares as to which the Related Option is exercise of a surrendered.

(c) *Freestanding SARs*: An SAR may be granted without relationship to an Option (as defined above, a "<u>Freestanding SAR</u>") and, in such case, will be exercisable upon such terms and subject to such conditions as may be determined by the Administrator, subject to the terms of the Plan.

(d) Exercise of SARs:

(i) Subject to the terms of the Plan (including but not limited to Section 3(c) herein), SARs shall be vested and exercisable in whole or in part upon such terms and conditions as may be established by the Administrator. The period during which an SAR may be exercisable shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant or, in the case of Related SARs, such shorter Option Period as may apply to the Related Option. Any SAR or portion thereof not exercised before expiration of the period established by the Administrator shall terminate.

(ii) SARs may be exercised by giving written notice to the Company in form acceptable to the Administrator at such place and subject to such terms and conditions as may be established by the Administrator or its designee. Unless the Administrator determines otherwise, the date of exercise of an SAR shall mean the date on which the Company shall have received proper notice from the Participant of the exercise of such SAR.

(iii) The Administrator shall determine the extent, if any, to which a Participant may have the right to exercise an SAR following termination of the Participant's employment or service with the Company. Such rights, if any, shall be determined in the sole discretion of the Administrator, shall be stated in the individual

Award Agreement, need not be uniform among all SARs issued pursuant to this Section 8, and may reflect distinctions based on the reasons for termination of employment or service.

(e) *Payment Upon Exercise*: Subject to the limitations of the Plan, upon the exercise of an SAR, a Participant shall be entitled to receive payment from the Company in an amount determined by multiplying (i) the excess, if any, of the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the date of exercise of the SAR over the Base Price of the SAR by (ii) the number of shares of Common Stock with respect to which the SAR is being exercised. The consideration payable upon exercise of an SAR shall be paid in cash, shares of Common Stock (valued at Fair Market Value on the date of exercise of the SAR) or a combination of cash and shares of Common Stock, as determined by the Administrator.

(f) *Nontransferability*: Unless the Administrator determines otherwise, SARs shall not be transferable (including by sale, assignment, pledge or hypothecation) other than by will or the laws of intestate succession, except for transfers if and to the extent permitted by the Administrator in a manner consistent with the registration provisions of the Securities Act. Except as may be permitted by the preceding sentence, SARs may be exercised during the Participant's lifetime only by him or by his guardian or legal representative. The designation of a beneficiary in accordance with the Plan does not constitute a transfer.

9. Restricted Awards

(a) *Grant of Restricted Awards*: Subject to the limitations of the Plan, the Administrator may in its discretion grant Restricted Awards to such Participants, for such numbers of shares of Common Stock, upon such terms and at such times as the Administrator shall determine. Such Restricted Awards may be in the form of Restricted Stock Awards and/or Restricted Stock Units that are subject to certain conditions, which conditions must be met in order for the Restricted Award to vest and be earned (in whole or in part) and no longer subject to forfeiture. Restricted Stock Awards shall be payable in shares of Common Stock. Restricted Stock Units shall be payable in cash or shares of Common Stock, or partly in cash and partly in shares of Common Stock, in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the discretion of the Administrator. Subject to the provisions of Section 3(c) herein, the Administrator shall determine the nature, length and starting date of the period, if any, during which a Restricted Award may be earned (in whole or in part), and shall determine the conditions which must be met in order for a Restricted Award to be granted or to vest or be earned (in whole or in part), which conditions may include, but are not limited to, payment of a stipulated purchase price, attainment of performance objectives, continued service or employment for a certain period of time, a combination of attainment of performance objectives and continued service, Retirement, Disability, death or any combination of such conditions. In the case of Restricted Awards based upon performance criteria, or a combination of performance criteria and continued service, the Administrator shall determine the Performance Measures applicable to such Restricted Awards (subject to Section 1(jj)).

(b) *Vesting of Restricted Awards*: Subject to the terms of the Plan (and taking into account any Code Section 409A considerations), the Administrator shall have sole authority to determine whether and to what degree Restricted Awards have vested and been earned and are payable and to establish and interpret the terms and conditions of Restricted Awards.

(c) *Termination of Employment or Service; Forfeiture*: Unless the Administrator determines otherwise, if the employment or service of a Participant shall be terminated for any reason (whether by the Company or the Participant and whether voluntary or involuntary) and all or any part of a Restricted Award has not vested or been earned pursuant to the terms of the Plan and related Award Agreement, such Award, to the extent not then vested or earned, shall be forfeited immediately upon such termination and the Participant shall have no further rights with respect thereto.

(d) *Share Certificates; Escrow*: Unless the Administrator determines otherwise, a certificate or certificates representing the shares of Common Stock subject to a Restricted Stock Award shall be issued in the name of the Participant (or, in the case of uncertificated shares, other written evidence of ownership in accordance with

Applicable Law shall be provided) after the Award has been granted. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Administrator may require that (i) a Participant deliver the certificate(s) (or other instruments) for such shares to the Administrator or its designee to be held in escrow until the Restricted Stock Award vests and is no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture (in which case the shares will be promptly released to the Participant) or is forfeited (in which case the shares shall be returned to the Company); and/or (ii) a Participant deliver to the Company a stock power, endorsed in blank (or similar instrument), relating to the shares subject to the Restricted Stock Award which are subject to forfeiture. Unless the Administrator determines otherwise, a certificate or certificate representing shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to a Restricted Stock Unit shall be issued in the name of the Participant (or, in the case of uncertificated shares, other written evidence of ownership in accordance with Applicable Law shall be provided) promptly after the Award (or portion thereof) has vested and is distributable.

(e) *Nontransferability*: Unless the Administrator determines otherwise, Restricted Awards that have not vested shall not be transferable (including by sale, assignment, pledge or hypothecation) other than transfers by will or the laws of intestate succession, and the recipient of a Restricted Award shall not sell, transfer, assign, pledge or otherwise encumber shares subject to the Award until the Restriction Period has expired and until all conditions to vesting have been met. The designation of a beneficiary in accordance with the Plan does not constitute a transfer.

10. Performance Awards

(a) *Grant of Performance Awards*: Subject to the terms of the Plan, the Administrator may in its discretion grant Performance Awards to such eligible Participants upon such terms and conditions and at such times as the Administrator shall determine. Performance Awards may be in the form of Performance Shares and/or Performance Units. An Award of a Performance Share is a grant of a right to receive shares of Common Stock, the cash value thereof, or a combination thereof (in the Administrator's discretion), which is contingent upon the achievement of performance or other objectives during a specified period and which has a value on the date of grant equal to the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock. An Award of a Performance Unit is a grant of a right to receive shares of Common Stock or a designated dollar value amount of Common Stock which is contingent upon the achievement of performance or other objectives during a specified period, and which has an initial value determined in a dollar amount established by the Administrator at the time of grant. Subject to the provisions of Section 3(c) herein, the Administrator shall determine the nature, length and starting date of the period during which a Performance Award to be granted or to vest or be earned (in whole or in part), which conditions may include but are not limited to payment of a stipulated purchase price, attainment of performance objectives, continued service or employment for a certain period of time, or a combination of any such conditions. Subject to Section 1(jj), the Administrator shall determine the Performance Awards.

(b) *Earning of Performance Awards*: Subject to the terms of the Plan (and taking into account any Code Section 409A considerations), the Administrator shall have sole authority to determine whether and to what degree Performance Awards have been earned and are payable and to interpret the terms and conditions of Performance Awards and the provisions of this Section 10.

(c) *Form of Payment*: Payment of the amount to which a Participant shall be entitled upon earning a Performance Award shall be made in cash, shares of Common Stock, or a combination of cash and shares of Common Stock, as determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion. Payment may be made in a lump sum or upon such terms as may be established by the Administrator (taking into account any Code Section 409A considerations).

(d) *Termination of Employment or Service; Forfeiture*: Unless the Administrator determines otherwise (taking into account any Code Section 409A considerations), if the employment or service of a Participant shall terminate for any reason (whether by the Company or the Participant and whether voluntary or involuntary) and the Participant has not earned all or part of a Performance Award pursuant to the terms of the Plan and related Award Agreement, such Award, to the extent not then earned, shall be forfeited immediately upon such termination and the Participant shall have no further rights with respect thereto.

(e) *Nontransferability*: Unless the Administrator determines otherwise, Performance Awards which have not been earned shall not be transferable (including by sale, assignment, pledge or hypothecation) other than transfers by will or the laws of intestate succession, and the recipient of a Performance Award shall not sell, transfer, assign, pledge or otherwise encumber any shares or any other benefit subject to the Award until the Performance Period has expired and the conditions to earning the Award have been met. The designation of a beneficiary in accordance with the Plan does not constitute a transfer.

11. Phantom Stock Awards

(a) *Grant of Phantom Stock Awards*: Subject to the terms of the Plan, the Administrator may in its discretion grant Phantom Stock Awards to such eligible Participants, in such numbers, upon such terms and at such times as the Administrator shall determine. A Phantom Stock Award is an Award to a Participant of a number of hypothetical share units with respect to shares of Common Stock, with a value based on the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock.

(b) *Vesting of Phantom Stock Awards*: Subject to the terms of the Plan (and taking into account any Code Section 409A considerations), the Administrator shall have sole authority to determine whether and to what degree Phantom Stock Awards have vested and are payable and to interpret the terms and conditions of Phantom Stock Awards.

(c) *Termination of Employment or Service; Forfeiture*: Unless the Administrator determines otherwise (taking into account any Code Section 409A considerations), if the employment or service of a Participant shall be terminated for any reason (whether by the Company or the Participant and whether voluntary or involuntary) and all or any part of a Phantom Stock Award has not vested and become payable pursuant to the terms of the Plan and related Award Agreement, such Award, to the extent not then vested or earned, shall be forfeited immediately upon such termination and the Participant shall have no further rights with respect thereto.

(d) *Payment of Phantom Stock Awards*: Upon vesting of all or a part of a Phantom Stock Award and satisfaction of such other terms and conditions as may be established by the Administrator, the Participant shall be entitled to a payment of an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of one share of Common Stock with respect to each such Phantom Stock unit which has vested and is payable. Payment may be made, in the discretion of the Administrator, in cash or in shares of Common Stock valued at their Fair Market Value on the applicable vesting date or dates (or other date or dates determined by the Administrator), or in a combination thereof. Payment may be made in a lump sum or upon such terms as may be established by the Administrator (taking into account any Code Section 409A considerations).

(e) *Nontransferability*: Unless the Administrator determines otherwise, (i) Phantom Stock Awards shall not be transferable (including by sale, assignment, pledge or hypothecation) other than transfers by will or the laws of intestate succession and (ii) shares of Common Stock (if any) subject to a Phantom Stock Award may not be sold, transferred, assigned, pledged or otherwise encumbered until the Phantom Stock Award has vested and all other conditions established by the Administrator have been met. The designation of a beneficiary in accordance with the Plan does not constitute a transfer.

12. Other Stock-Based Awards

The Administrator shall have the authority to grant Other Stock-Based Awards to one or more eligible Participants. Such Other Stock-Based Awards may be valued in whole or in part by reference to, or otherwise

based on or related to, shares of Common Stock or Awards for shares of Common Stock, including but not limited to Other Stock-Based Awards granted in lieu of bonus, salary or other compensation, Other Stock-Based Awards granted with vesting or performance conditions, and/or Other Stock-Based Awards granted without being subject to vesting or performance conditions. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Administrator shall determine the number of shares of Common Stock to be awarded to a Participant under (or otherwise related to) such Other Stock-Based Awards; whether such Other Stock-Based Awards shall be settled in cash, shares of Common Stock or a combination of cash and shares of Common Stock; and the other terms and conditions of such Awards. Unless the Administrator determines otherwise, (i) Other Stock-Based Awards shall not be transferable (including by sale, assignment, pledge or hypothecation) other than transfers by will or the laws of intestate succession, and (ii) shares of Common Stock (if any) subject to an Other Stock-Based Award may not be sold, transferred, assigned, pledged or otherwise encumbered until the Other Stock-Based Award has vested and all other conditions established by the Administrator have been met. The designation of a beneficiary in accordance with the Plan does not constitute a transfer.

13. Cash Bonus Awards

The Administrator may, in its discretion, grant Cash Bonus Awards under the Plan to one or more eligible Participants. Cash Bonus Awards shall be subject to performance conditions as described in Section 1(jj) above and, to the extent such Cash Bonus Awards are granted to Covered Employees and intended to qualify as "performance-based compensation" under Code Section 162(m), shall be subject to the requirements of Code Section 162(m), including without limitation, the establishment of Performance Measures and certification of performance by the Committee as provided in Section 1(jj) and Section 20(c). The Administrator also shall have authority to modify, reduce or eliminate any Cash Bonus Awards granted under the Plan and payable only in cash (and exclusive of Restricted Stock Unit Awards, Phantom Stock Awards, SARs or other equity- based Awards settled in cash, which are subject to the Award limitations stated in Section 5(b) herein) shall not exceed \$1,000,000.

14. Dividends and Dividend Equivalents

The Administrator may, in its sole discretion, provide that Awards other than Options and SARs earn dividends or dividend equivalents; provided, however, that dividends and dividend equivalents, if any, on unearned or unvested performance-based Awards shall not be paid (even if accrued) unless and until the underlying Award (or portion thereof) has vested and/or been earned. Such dividends or dividend equivalents may be paid currently or may be credited to a Participant's account. Any crediting of dividends or dividend equivalents may be subject to such additional restrictions and conditions as the Administrator may establish, including reinvestment in additional shares of Common Stock or share equivalents. Notwithstanding the other provisions herein, any dividends or dividend equivalents related to an Award shall be structured in a manner so as to avoid causing the Award and related dividends or dividend equivalents to be subject to Code Section 409A or shall otherwise be structured so that the Award and dividends or dividend equivalents are in compliance with Code Section 409A.

15. Change of Control

Notwithstanding any other provision in the Plan to the contrary (and unless an individual employment agreement in effect prior to the Effective Date provides otherwise), the following provisions shall apply in the event of a Change of Control:

(a) To the extent that the successor or surviving company in the Change of Control event does not assume or substitute for an Award (or in which the Company is the ultimate parent corporation and does not continue the Award) on substantially similar terms or with substantially equivalent economic benefits (as determined by the Administrator) as Awards outstanding under the Plan immediately prior to the Change of Control event, (i) all outstanding Options and SARs shall become fully vested and exercisable, whether or not then otherwise vested and exercisable; and (ii) any restrictions, including but not limited to the Restriction Period.

and/or performance criteria applicable to any outstanding Award other than Options or SARs shall be deemed to have been met, and such Awards shall become fully vested, earned and payable to the fullest extent of the original grant of the applicable Award (or, in the case of performance-based Awards the earning of which is based on attaining a target level of performance, such Awards shall be deemed earned at target).

(b) Further, in the event that an Award is substituted, assumed or continued as provided in Section 15(a) herein, the Award will nonetheless become vested (and, in the case of Options and SARs, exercisable) in full and any restrictions, including but not limited to the Restriction Period, Performance Period and/or performance criteria applicable to any outstanding Award other than Options or SARs shall be deemed to have been met, and such Awards shall become fully vested, earned and payable to the fullest extent of the original award (or, in the case of performance-based Awards the earning of which is based on attaining a target level of performance, such Awards shall be deemed earned at target), if the employment or service of the Participant is terminated within six months before (in which case vesting shall not occur until the effective date of the Change of Control) or one year (or such other period after a Change of Control as may be stated in a Participant's employment agreement, change in control agreement or similar agreement, if applicable) after the effective date of a Change of Control if such termination of employment or service (i) is by the Company not for Cause or (ii) if an Award Agreement so provides, is by the Participant for Good Reason. For clarification, for the purposes of this Section 15, the "Company" shall include any successor to the Company.

16. Withholding

The Company shall withhold all required local, state, federal, foreign and other taxes and any other amount required to be withheld by any governmental authority or law from any amount payable in cash with respect to an Award. Prior to the delivery or transfer of any certificate for shares or any other benefit conferred under the Plan, the Company shall require any Participant or other person to pay to the Company in cash the amount of any tax or other amount required by any governmental authority to be withheld and paid over by the Company to such authority for the account of such recipient. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Administrator may in its discretion establish procedures to permit a recipient to satisfy such obligation in whole or in part, and any local, state, federal, foreign or other income tax obligations relating to such an Award, by electing (the "election") to have the Company withhold shares of Common Stock from the shares to which the recipient is otherwise entitled. The number of shares to be withheld shall have a Fair Market Value as of the date that the amount of tax to be withheld is determined as nearly equal as possible to (but not exceeding) the amount of such obligations being satisfied. Each election must be made in writing to the Administrator in accordance with election procedures established by the Administrator.

17. Amendment and Termination of the Plan and Awards

(a) *Amendment and Termination of Plan*: The Plan may be amended, altered, suspended and/or terminated at any time by the Board; provided, that (i) approval of an amendment to the Plan by the stockholders of the Company shall be required to the extent, if any, that stockholder approval of such amendment is required by Applicable Law; and (ii) except for adjustments made pursuant to Section 5(d) the Company may not, without obtaining stockholder approval, (A) amend the terms of outstanding Options or SARs to reduce the Option Price or Base Price of such outstanding Options or SARs; (B) exchange outstanding Options or SARs for cash, for Options or SARs with an Option Price or Base Price that is less than the Option Price or Base Price of the original Option or SAR, or for other equity awards at a time when the original Option or SAR has an Option Price or Base Price, as the case may be, above the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock; or (C) take other action with respect to Options or SARs that would be treated as a repricing under the rules of the principal stock exchange on which shares of the Common Stock are listed.

(b) *Amendment and Termination of Awards*: The Administrator may amend, alter, suspend and/or terminate any Award granted under the Plan, prospectively or retroactively, but (except as otherwise provided in Section 17(c)) such amendment, alteration, suspension or termination of an Award shall not, without the written consent of the recipient of an outstanding Award, materially adversely affect the rights of the recipient with respect to the Award.

(c) Amendments to Comply with Applicable Law: Notwithstanding Section 17(a) and Section 17(b) herein, the following provisions shall apply:

(i) The Administrator shall have unilateral authority to amend the Plan and any Award (without Participant consent) to the extent necessary to comply with Applicable Law or changes to Applicable Law (including but in no way limited to Code Section 409A, Code Section 422 and federal securities laws).

(ii) The Administrator shall have unilateral authority to make adjustments to the terms and conditions of Awards in recognition of unusual or nonrecurring events affecting the Company or any Affiliate, or the financial statements of the Company or any Affiliate, or of changes in Applicable Law, or accounting principles, if the Administrator determines that such adjustments are appropriate in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under the Plan or necessary or appropriate to comply with applicable accounting principles or Applicable Law.

18. Restrictions on Awards and Shares; Compliance with Applicable Law

(a) *General*: As a condition to the issuance and delivery of Common Stock hereunder, or the grant of any benefit pursuant to the Plan, the Company may require a Participant or other person at any time and from time to time to become a party to an Award Agreement, other agreement(s) restricting the transfer, purchase, repurchase and/or voting of shares of Common Stock of the Company, and any employment agreements, consulting agreements, noncompetition agreements, confidentiality agreements, nonsolicitation agreements, nondisparagement agreements or other agreements imposing such restrictions as may be required by the Company. In addition, without in any way limiting the effect of the foregoing, each Participant or other holder of shares issued under the Plan shall be permitted to transfer such shares only if such transfer is in accordance with the Plan, the Award Agreement, and any other applicable agreements and Applicable Law. The acquisition of shares of Common Stock under the Plan by a Participant or any other holder of shares shall be subject to, and conditioned upon, the agreement of the Participant or other holder of such shares to the restrictions described in the Plan, the Award Agreement and any other applicable agreements and Applicable Law.

(b) *Compliance with Applicable Laws, Rules and Regulations*: The Company may impose such restrictions on Awards, shares of Common Stock and any other benefits underlying Awards hereunder as it may deem advisable, including without limitation restrictions under the federal securities laws, the requirements of any stock exchange or similar organization and any blue sky, state or foreign securities or other laws applicable to such securities. Notwithstanding any other Plan provision to the contrary, the Company shall not be obligated to issue, deliver or transfer shares of Common Stock under the Plan, make any other distribution of benefits under the Plan, or take any other action, unless such delivery, distribution or action is in compliance with Applicable Law (including but not limited to the requirements of the Securities Act). The Company will be under no obligation to register shares of Common Stock or other securities with the Securities and Exchange Commission or to effect compliance with the exemption, registration, qualification or listing requirements of any state securities laws, stock exchange or similar organization, and the Company will have no liability for any inability or failure to do so. The Company may cause a restrictive legend or legends to be placed on any certificate issued pursuant to an Award hereunder in such form as may be prescribed from time to time by Applicable Law or as may be advised by legal counsel.

19. No Right or Obligation of Continued Employment or Service or to Awards; Compliance with the Plan

Neither the Plan, an Award, an Award Agreement nor any other action related to the Plan shall confer upon a Participant any right to continue in the employ or service of the Company or an Affiliate as an Employee, Director or Independent Contractor, or to interfere in any way with the right of the Company or an Affiliate to terminate the Participant's employment or service at any time. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, an Award Agreement or as may be determined by the Administrator, all rights of a Participant with respect to an Award shall terminate upon the termination of the Participant's employment or service. In addition, no person shall have any right to be granted an Award, and the Company shall have no obligation to treat Participants or Awards uniformly. By participating in the Plan, each Participant shall be deemed to have accepted all of the

conditions of the Plan and the terms and conditions of any rules and regulations adopted by the Administrator and shall be fully bound thereby. Any Award granted hereunder is not intended to be compensation of a continuing or recurring nature, or part of a Participant's normal or expected compensation, and in no way represents any portion of a Participant's salary, compensation, or other remuneration for purposes of pension benefits, severance, redundancy, resignation or any other purpose.

20. General Provisions

(a) *Stockholder Rights*: Except as otherwise determined by the Administrator (and subject to the provisions of Section 9(d) regarding Restricted Awards), a Participant and his legal representative, legatees or distributees shall not be deemed to be the holder of any shares of Common Stock subject to an Award and shall not have any rights of a stockholder unless and until certificates for such shares have been issued and delivered to him or them under the Plan. A certificate or certificates for shares of Common Stock acquired upon exercise of an Option or SAR shall be issued in the name of the Participant or his beneficiary and distributed to the Participant or his beneficiary (or, in the case of uncertificated shares, other written notice of ownership in accordance with Applicable Law shall be provided) as soon as practicable following receipt of notice of exercise and, with respect to Options, payment of the Option Price (except as may otherwise be determined by the Company in the event of payment of the Option Price pursuant to Section 7(d)(ii)(C)). Except as otherwise provided in Section 9(d) regarding Restricted Stock Awards or otherwise determined by the Administrator, a certificate for any shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to a Restricted Award, Performance Award, Phantom Stock Award or Other Stock-Based Award shall be issued in the name of the Participant or his beneficiary and distributed to the Participant or his beneficiary (or, in the case of uncertificated shares, other written notice of ownership in accordance with Applicable Law shall be provided to the Participant or his beneficiary (or, in the case of uncertificated shares, other written notice of ownership in accordance with Applicable Law shall be provided to the Participant or his beneficiary (or, in the case of uncertificated shares, other written notice of ownership in accordance with Applicable Law shall be provided) after the Award (or portion thereof) has vested and been earned.

(b) *Section 16(b) Compliance*: To the extent that any Participants in the Plan are subject to Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act, it is the general intention of the Company that transactions under the Plan shall comply with Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act and that the Plan shall be construed in favor of such Plan transactions meeting the requirements of Rule 16b-3 or any successor rules thereto. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, the Administrator, in its sole and absolute discretion, may bifurcate the Plan so as to restrict, limit or condition the use of any provision of the Plan to Participants who are officers or directors subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act without so restricting, limiting or conditioning the Plan with respect to other Participants.

(c) *Code Section 162(m) Performance-Based Compensation*. To the extent to which Code Section 162(m) is applicable, the Company intends that compensation paid under the Plan to Covered Employees will, to the extent practicable, constitute "qualified performance-based compensation" within the meaning of Code Section 162(m), unless otherwise determined by the Administrator. Accordingly, Awards granted to Covered Employees which are intended to qualify for the performance-based exception under Code Section 162(m) shall be deemed to include any such additional terms, conditions, limitations and provisions as are necessary to comply with the performance-based compensation exemption of Code Section 162(m), unless the Administrator, in its discretion, determines otherwise.

(d) Unfunded Plan; No Effect on Other Plans:

(i) The Plan shall be unfunded, and the Company shall not be required to create a trust or segregate any assets that may at any time be represented by Awards under the Plan. The Plan shall not establish any fiduciary relationship between the Company and any Participant or other person. Neither a Participant nor any other person shall, by reason of the Plan, acquire any right in or title to any assets, funds or property of the Company or any Affiliate, including, without limitation, any specific funds, assets or other property which the Company or any Affiliate, in their discretion, may set aside in anticipation of a liability under the Plan. A Participant shall have only a contractual right to shares of Common Stock or other amounts, if any, payable under the Plan, unsecured by any assets of the Company or any Affiliate. Nothing contained in the Plan shall constitute a guarantee that the assets of such entities shall be sufficient to pay any benefits to any person.

(ii) The amount of any compensation deemed to be received by a Participant pursuant to an Award shall not constitute compensation with respect to which any other employee benefits of such Participant are determined, including, without limitation, benefits under any bonus, pension, profit sharing, life insurance or salary continuation plan, except as otherwise specifically provided by the terms of such plan or as may be determined by the Administrator.

(iii) The adoption of the Plan shall not affect any other stock incentive or other compensation plans in effect for the Company or any Affiliate, nor shall the Plan preclude the Company from establishing any other forms of stock incentive or other compensation for employees or service providers of the Company or any Affiliate.

(e) *Governing Law*: The Plan shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to the conflict of laws provisions of any state, and in accordance with applicable federal laws of the United States.

(f) *Beneficiary Designation*: The Administrator may, in its discretion, permit a Participant to designate in writing a person or persons as beneficiary, which beneficiary shall be entitled to receive settlement of Awards (if any) to which the Participant is otherwise entitled in the event of death. In the absence of such designation by a Participant, and in the event of the Participant's death, the estate of the Participant shall be treated as beneficiary for purposes of the Plan, unless the Administrator determines otherwise. The Administrator shall have discretion to approve and interpret the form or forms of such beneficiary designation. A beneficiary, legal guardian, legal representative or other person claiming any rights pursuant to the Plan is subject to all terms and conditions of the Plan and any Award Agreement applicable to the Participant, except to the extent that the Plan and/or Award Agreement provide otherwise, and to any additional restrictions deemed necessary or appropriate by the Administrator.

(g) *Gender and Number*: Except where otherwise indicated by the context, words in any gender shall include any other gender, words in the singular shall include the plural and words in the plural shall include the singular.

(h) *Severability*: If any provision of the Plan shall be held illegal or invalid for any reason, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect the remaining parts of the Plan, and the Plan shall be construed and enforced as if the illegal or invalid provision had not been included.

(i) *Rules of Construction*: Headings are given to the sections of the Plan solely as a convenience to facilitate reference. The reference to any statute, regulation or other provision of law shall (unless the Administrator determines otherwise) be construed to refer to any amendment to or successor of such provision of law.

(j) Successors and Assigns: The Plan shall be binding upon the Company, its successors and assigns, and Participants, their executors, administrators and permitted transferees and beneficiaries.

(k) *Award Agreement*: The grant of any Award under the Plan shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement between the Company and the Participant. Such Award Agreement may state terms, conditions and restrictions applicable to the Award and any may state such other terms, conditions and restrictions, including but not limited to terms, conditions and restrictions applicable to shares of Common Stock (or other benefits) subject to an Award, as may be established by the Administrator.

(1) *Right of Offset*: Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or an Award Agreement, the Company may at any time (subject to any Code Section 409A considerations) reduce the amount of any payment or benefit otherwise payable to or on behalf of a Participant by the amount of any obligation of the Participant to or on behalf of the Company or an Affiliate that is or becomes due and payable.

(m) *Uncertified Shares*: Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, to the extent the Plan provides for the issuance of stock certificates to reflect the issuance of shares of Common Stock, the issuance may, in the

Company's discretion, be effected on a non-certificated basis, to the extent not prohibited by the Company's certificate of incorporation or bylaws or by Applicable Law (including but not limited to applicable state corporate law and the applicable rules of any stock exchange on which the Common Stock may be traded).

(n) *Income and Other Taxes*: Participants are solely responsible and liable for the satisfaction of all taxes and penalties that may arise in connection with Awards (including but not limited to any taxes arising under Code Section 409A), and the Company shall not have any obligation to indemnify or otherwise hold any Participant harmless from any or all of such taxes. The Company shall have no responsibility to take or refrain from taking any actions in order to achieve a certain tax result for a Participant or any other person.

(o) *Effect of Certain Changes in Status*: Notwithstanding the other terms of the Plan or an Award Agreement, the Administrator has sole discretion to determine (taking into account any Code Section 409A considerations), at the time of grant of an Award or at any time thereafter, the effect, if any, on Awards (including but not limited to modifying the vesting, exercisability and/or earning of Awards) granted to a Participant if the Participant's status as an Employee, Director or Independent Contractor changes, including but not limited to a change from full-time to part-time, or vice versa, or if other similar changes in the nature or scope of the Participant's employment or service occur.

(p) *Stockholder Approval*: The Plan is subject to approval by the stockholders of the Company, which approval must occur, if at all, within 12 months of the Effective Date of the Plan. Awards granted prior to such stockholder approval shall be conditioned upon and shall be effective only upon approval of the Plan by such stockholders on or before such date.

(q) *Deferrals*: The Administrator may permit or require a Participant to defer such Participant's receipt of the payment of cash or the delivery of shares of Common Stock that would otherwise be payable with respect to an Award. Any such deferral shall be subject to such terms and conditions as may be established by the Administrator and to any applicable Code Section 409A requirements.

(r) *Fractional Shares*: Except as otherwise provided in an Award Agreement or determined by the Administrator, (i) the total number of shares issuable pursuant to the exercise, vesting or earning of an Award shall be rounded down to the nearest whole share, and (ii) no fractional shares shall be issued. The Administrator may, in its discretion, determine that a fractional share shall be settled in cash.

(s) *Compliance with Recoupment, Ownership and Other Policies or Agreements*: Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, the Administrator may, at any time, consistent with, but without limiting, the authority granted in Section 3(b) herein, in its discretion provide that an Award or benefits related to an Award shall be forfeited and/or recouped if the Participant, during employment or service or following termination of employment or service for any reason, engages in certain specified conduct, including but not limited to violation of policies of the Company or an Affiliate, breach of non-solicitation, noncompetition, confidentiality or other restrictive covenants, or other conduct by the Participant that is determined by the Administrator to be detrimental to the business or reputation of the Company or any Affiliate. In addition, without limiting the effect of the foregoing, as a condition to the grant of an Award or receipt or retention of shares of Common Stock, cash or any other benefit under the Plan, the Administrator may, at any time, require that a Participant agree to abide by any equity retention policy, stock ownership guidelines, compensation recovery policy and/or other policies adopted by the Company or an Affiliate, each as in effect from time to time and to the extent applicable to the Participant. Further, each Participant shall be subject to such compensation recovery, recoupment, forfeiture or other similar provisions as may apply under Applicable Law.

21. Compliance with Code Section 409A

Notwithstanding any other provision in the Plan or an Award Agreement to the contrary, if and to the extent that Code Section 409A is deemed to apply to the Plan or any Award, it is the general intention of the Company that the Plan and all such Awards shall, to the extent practicable, comply with, or be exempt from, Code

Section 409A, and the Plan and any such Award Agreement shall, to the extent practicable, be construed in accordance therewith. Deferrals of shares or any other benefit issuable pursuant to an Award otherwise exempt from Code Section 409A in a manner that would cause Code Section 409A to apply shall not be permitted unless such deferrals are in compliance with, or exempt from, Code Section 409A. In the event that the Company (or a successor thereto) has any stock which is publicly traded on an established securities market or otherwise, distributions that are subject to Code Section 409A to any Participant who is a "specified employee" (as defined under Code Section 409A) upon a separation from service may only be made following the expiration of the six-month period after the date of separation from service (with such distributions to be made during the seventh month following separation of service), or, if earlier than the end of the six-month period, the date of death of the specified employee, or as otherwise permitted under Code Section 409A. For purposes of Code Section 409A, each installment payment provided under the Plan or an Award Agreement shall be treated as a separate payment. Without in any way limiting the effect of any of the foregoing, (i) in the event that Code Section 409A requires that any special terms, provisions or conditions be included in the Plan or an Award Agreement, as applicable, and (ii) terms used in the Plan or an Award Agreement shall be construed in accordance with Code Section 409A if and to the extent required. Further, in the event that the Plan or any Award shall be deemed not to comply with Code Section 409A, then neither the Company, the Administrator nor its or their designees or agents shall be liable to any Participant or other person for actions, decisions or determinations made in good faith.

[Signature Page To Follow]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Catalyst Biosciences, Inc. 2015 Stock Incentive Plan (As Amended and Restated Effective June 15, 2017), is, by the authority of the Board of Directors of the Company, executed on behalf of the Company, the day of , 2017.

CATALYST BIOSCIENCES, INC.

By:

Name:Nassim UsmanTitle:President and Chief Executive Officer

ATTEST:

By: Name: Fletcher Payne Title: Chief Financial Officer

		VOTE BY INTERNET - www.proxyvote.com Use the Internet to transmit your voting instructions and for electronic delivery of information up until 11:59 P.M. Eastern Time the day before the cut-off date or meeting date. Have your proxy card in hand when you access the web site and follow the instructions to obtain your records and to create an electronic voting instruction form.	
CATALYST BIOSCIENCES, INC. 260 LITTLEFIELD AVENUE SOUTH SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94080 Investor Address Line 1 Investor Address Line 2 Investor Address Line 3 Investor Address Line 4 Investor Address Line 5 John Sample 1234 ANYWHERE STREET ANY CITY, ON A1A 1A1	1 OF 2 1	 ELECTRONIC DELIVERY OF FUTURE PROXY MATERIALS If you would like to reduce the costs incurred by our company in mailtaction roma electronically via e-mail or the Internet. To sign up for electronic delivery, please follow the instructions above to vote using the Internet and, when prompted, indicate that you agree to receive or access proxy materials electronically in future years. VOTE BY PHONE - 1-800-690-6903 Use any touch-tone telephone to transmit your voting instructions up until 11:59 P.M. Eastern Time the day before the cut-off date or meeting date. Have your proxy card in hand when you call and then follow the instructions. VOTE BY MAIL Mark, sign and date your proxy card and return it in the postage-paid envelope we have provided or return it to Vote Processing, c/o Broadridge, 51 Mercedes Way, Edgewood, NY 11717. 	

	CONTROL # → 0000000000000000000000000000000000			00000000000
NAME				
THE COMPANY NAME INC COMMON THE COMPANY NAME INC CLASS A THE COMPANY NAME INC CLASS B THE COMPANY NAME INC CLASS C THE COMPANY NAME INC CLASS D THE COMPANY NAME INC CLASS E THE COMPANY NAME INC CLASS F THE COMPANY NAME INC 401 K	SHARES			$123,456,789,012.12345\\123,456,789,012.12345\\123,456,789,012.12345\\123,456,789,012.12345\\123,456,789,012.12345\\123,456,789,012.12345\\123,456,789,012.12345\\123,456,789,012.12345\\123,456,789,012.12345$
	PAGE	1	OF	2

TO VOTE, MARK BLOCKS BELOW IN BLUE OR BLACK INK AS FOLLOWS:

KEEP THIS PORTION FOR YOUR RECORDS DETACH AND RETURN THIS PORTION ONLY

THIS PROXY	CARD IS	VALID ONLY	WHEN SIGNED AND DATED.	•

			For All	Withhold All	For All Except	To withhold authority to vote for any individual nominee(s), mark "For All Except" and write the number(s) of the nominee(s) on the line below.			
	Board of Directors recommends you vot R the following:	e							
1.	Election of Class II Directors								
	Nominees								
01	Jeff Himawan, Ph.D. 02 John P. R	Richard							
	Board of Directors recommends you FOR following proposals:		For	Against	Abstain	The Board of Directors recommends you vote FOR the following proposal:	For	Against	Abstain
2	To approve an amendment and restatement of the Company's 2015 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2015 Plan") to (i) increase the authorized shares available for issuance under the 2015 Plan by 950,000 shares, (ii) increase the 162(m) annual grant limits and (iii) change the non-employee director annual grant limit to apply to both cash fees and equity awards;					5 To ratify the appointment of EisnerAmper LLP as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017.			
						NOTE: Such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment thereof.			
3	To approve the compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers in a non-binding advisory vote;								
	Board of Directors recommends you 1 YEAR on the following proposal: 1	l year	2 years	3 years	Abstain				
4	To recommend whether a non-binding stockholder vote to approve the compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers should occur every one, two or three years in a non-binding advisory vote;								
exe sho	ise sign exactly as your name(s) appear(s) h rutor, administrator, or other fiduciary, pleas ild each sign personally. All holders must si se sign in full corporate or partnership nam	se give ign. If a	full title a corporati	s such. Joint o on or partner	owners	Investor A Investor A Investor A Investor A Investor A John Sampl 1234 ANYWH ANY CITY,	ddress L ddress L ddress L ddress L e ERE STRE	ine 2 ine 3 ine 4 ine 5 ET	

Please sign exactly as your name(s) appear(s) hereon. When signing as attorney, executor, administrator, or other fiduciary, please give full title as such. Joint owners should each sign personally. All holders must sign. If a corporation or partnership, please sign in full corporate or partnership name, by authorized officer.

		7			SHARES
Signature [PLEASE SIGN WITHIN BOX]	Date	JOB #	Signature (Joint Owners)	Date	CUSIP # SEQUENCE #

Tab	le	of	Con	tents

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Annual Meeting: The Form 10-K, and Notice & Proxy Statement is/are available at <u>www.proxyvote.com</u>

CATALYST BIOSCIENCES, INC. Annual Meeting of Stockholders June 15, 2017 1:00 PM This proxy is solicited by the Board of Directors

The stockholder(s) hereby appoint(s) Nassim Usman and Fletcher Payne, or either of them, as proxies, each with the power to appoint his substitute, and hereby authorizes them to represent and to vote, as designated on the reverse side of this ballot, all of the shares of common stock of Catalyst Biosciences, Inc. that the stockholder(s) is/are entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held at 1:00 p.m., Pacific Time on June 15, 2017, at 260 Littlefield Ave., South San Francisco, CA 94080 and any adjournment or postponement thereof.

This proxy, when properly executed, will be voted in the manner directed herein. If no such direction is made, this proxy will be voted in accordance with the Board of Directors' recommendations.

Continued and to be signed on reverse side